


EXCEL TOGETHER
Fostering a culture that encourages us to become the best
version of Mosaic

• Maintain an unwavering commitment to safety and
environmental performance

• Instill a digital mindset to drive efficiency and continuously
improve the customer and employee experience

• Collaborate globally to make decisions that drive enterprise
value and progress toward our strategic priorities

ELEVATEOUR CORE BUSINESS
Investing where we have the greatest capacity to thrive

• Shape our portfolio to maximize returns

• Focus investments on resilient opportunitieswhere we
have a competitive advantage

• Increase efficiency and operational reliability to improve
production volumes and reduce costs

PURSUE VALUE-CREATINGGROWTH
Maximizing our competitive advantages to drive targeted growth

• Build on our strong brand and industry-leadingmarket access to:

• Grow performance product and co-product sales

• ScaleMosaic Biosciences

• Develop business options that provide a competitive advantage
or reduce risk

Strategic
Priorities
S
P

Over the last 20 years, Mosaic’s journey has been filled with growth
opportunities — improving safetff y, affirming our sustainable business
practices, andmaking bold moves in themarket. As we enter 2025,
we are redefining what growthmeans to us through three strategic
priorities. Our decision-making and actions will continue to be guided
by the principles that enable us to deliver on our mission—we are
responsible, reliable and future-focused.
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Managea ment’s Discii ussion and Analysis oii f Fo inFF ancial Conditdd iott n and Results of Operatiott ns

Introduction

The Mosaic Company (beforff e or after the Cargill Transaction, as defined below, “Mo“ saic,c ” and with its consolidated
subsu idiaries, “we,e ” “us,” “our” or the “Company”) is the parent company of the business that was formed through the
business combination (“Combinationtt ”) of IMC Global Inc. and the Cargill Crop Nutrition fertilizer businesses of Cargill,
Incorporated and its subsu idiaries (collectively, “Cargill”)ll on October 22, 2004. In May 2011, Cargill divested its
approximately 64% equity interest in us in a split-off tff o its stockholders and a debt exchange with certain Cargill debt
holders.

We produce and market concentrated phosphate and potash crop nutrients. We conduct our business through wholly- and
majority-owned subsu idiaries as well as businesses in which we own less than a majority or a non-controlling interest,
including consolidated variable interest entities and investments accounted for by the equity method.

We are organized into the folff lowing business segments:

• Our Phosphates business segment owns and operates mines and production facilities in Florida, which produce
concentrated phosphate crop nutrients and phosphate-based animal feedff ingredients, and processing plants in
Louisiana, which produce concentrated phosphate crop nutrients for sale domestically and internationally. We have
a 75% economic interest in the Miski Mayo Phosphate Mine (“Mi“ skii i MayMM o MineMM ”) in Peru. These results are
consolidated in the Phosphates segment. Through December 24, 2024, the Phosphates segment included our 25%
interest in the Ma’aden Wa’ad Al Shamal Phosphate Company (“MW“ SPCWW ”)CC , a joint venture to develop, own and
operate integrated phosphate production faciff lities in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. On December 24, 2024, we
exchanged our ownership of MWSPC for shares of Saudi Arabian Mining Company (“Ma“ ’aden”). Our equity in the
net earnings or losses relating to MWSPC were recognized on a one-quarter lag in our Consolidated Statements of
Earnings.

• Our Potash business segment owns and operates potash mines and production facilities in Canada and the U.S.
which produce potash-based crop nutrients, animal feedff ingredients and industrial products. Potash sales include
domestic and international sales. We are a member of Canpotex, Limited (“Canpotextt ”), an export association of
Canadian potash producers through which we sell our Canadian potash outside the U.S. and Canada.

• OurMosaic Fertilizantes business segment includes fivff e phosphate rock mines, four phosphate chemical plants and
a potash mine in Brazil. The segment also includes our distribution business in South America, which consists of
sales officff es, crop nutrient blending and bagging facilities, port terminals and warehouses in Brazil and Paraguay.
We also have a majority interest in Fospar S.A., which owns and operates a single superphosphate granulation plant
and a deep-water port and throughput warehouse terminal faciff lity in Brazil.

Intersegment eliminations, unrealized mark-to-market gains/losses on derivatives, the investment in equity securities of
Ma'aden, debt expenses, corporate funcff tional costs and the results of the China and India distribution businesses are included
within Corporate, Eliminations and Other. See Note 25 of the Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K forff
segment results.

Key Factors That Can Affect Results of Operations and Financial Conditiony p

Our primary products, phosphate and potash crop nutrients, are, to a large extent, global commodities that are also availablea
from a number of domestic and international competitors, and are sold by negotiated contracts or by reference to published
market prices. The markets forff our products are highly competitive, and the most important competitive factff or for our
products is delivered price. Business and economic conditions and governmental policies affecting the agricultural industry
and customer sentiment are the most significant facff tors affeff cting worldwide demand for crop nutrients with the impact of
demand for biofuels and batteries also playing an increasing role. The profitaff bia lity of our businesses is heavily influenced by
worldwide supply and demand for our products, which affeff cts our sales prices and volumes. Our costs per tonne to produce
our products are also heavily influenced by fixed costs associated with owning and operating our major faciff lities, significant
raw material costs in our Phosphates and Mosaic Fertilizantes businesses, water treatment costs in our Phosphates business
and fluff ctuat tions in currency exchange rates.
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Our products are generally sold based on the market prices prevailing at the time the sales contract is signed or through
contracts which are priced at the time of shipment. Additionally, in certain circumstances the finff al price of our products is
determined afteff r shipment based on the current market at the time the price is agreed to with the customer. Forward sales
programs at fixff ed prices increase the lag between prevailing market prices and our average realized selling prices. The mix
and parameters of these sales programs vary orr ver time based on our marketing strategy, which considers factff ors that include,
among others, optimizing our production and operating effiff ciency within warehouse limitations, as well as customer
requirements. The use of forward sales programs and the level of customer prepayments may vary from period to period dued
to changing supplu y and demand environments, seasonality and market sentiments.

World prices forff the key raw material inputs forff concentrated phosphate products, including ammonia, sulfurff and phosphate
rock, have an effecff t on industry-rr wide phosphate prices and production costs. The primary feedstock for producff ing ammonia
is natural gas. The product price for ammonia is generally highly dependent on the supply and demand balance forff ammonia.
In North America, two-thirds of our ammonia is sourced either through ammonia supply agreements or produced internally at
our Faustina, Louisiana, location with the remaining one-third purchased from various supplu iers in the spot market. We have
agreements with various supplu iers to ensure we have reliabla e sources of supplu y forff ammonia to support competitive pricing in
various market conditions. In Brazil, we purchase all our ammonia froff m a single supplier.

Sulfurff is a global commodity that is primarily produced as a by-product of oil refining. The market price is based primarily
on the supply and demand balance forff sulfurff . We believe our current and future investments in sulfur transformation and
transportation assets will enhance our competitive advantage.

We produce and procure most of our phosphate rock requirements through either wholly or partly owned mines. In addition
to producing phosphate rock, Mosaic Fertilizantes purchases phosphate, potash and nitrogen products which are either used to
produce blended crop nutrients (“Blenll ds”) or for resale.

Our per tonne selling prices for potash are affeff cted by shiftsff in the product mix, geography and customer mix. Our Potash
business is significantly affeff cted by Canadian resource taxes that we pay to the Province of Saskatchewan and royalties we
pay to mineral holders in order for us to mine and sell our potash products. In addition, cost of goods sold is affeff cted by a
number of factff ors, including: fluctuations in the Canadian dollar; the level of periodic inflatioff nary pressures on resources in
western Canada, where we produce most of our potash; and naturt al gas costs for operating our potash solution mine at Belle
Plaine, Saskatchewan. In the past, we have also incurred operating costs to manage salt saturt ated brine infloff ws at our
Esterhazy, Saskatchewan K1 and K2 mine shafts, which we closed in June 2021, due to an acceleration of brine inflows. We
have now transitioned mining to the K3 mine shaft, which has replaced production froff m the K1 and K2 shafts.

Our results of operations are also affected by changes in currency exchange rates dued to our international footprff int. The most
significant currency impacts are generally from the Canadian dollar and the Brazilian real.

A discussion of these and other factff ors that affected our results of operations and finff ancial condition forff the periods covered
by this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is set forff th in further detail
below. This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should also be read in
conjunction with the narrative description of our business in Item 1, and the risk factff ors described in Item 1A, of Part I of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”KK ), and our Consolidated Financial Statements, accompanying notes and other
information listed in the accompanying Financial Table of Contents.

This section of this Form 10-K discusses 2024 and 2023 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2024 and 2023.
Discussions of 2022 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2023 and 2022 that are not included in this Form 10-K can
be found in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of
the Company’s Form 10-K forff the year ended December 31, 2023 and are incorporated by reference herein.

Throughout the discussion below, we measure units of production, sales and raw materials in metric tonnes which are the
equivalent of 2,205 pounds, unless we specifically state that we mean short or long ton(s), which are the equivalent of 2,000
pounds and 2,240 pounds, respectively. In addition, we measure naturt al gas, a raw material used in the production of our
products, in MM BTU, which stands for one million British Thermal Units (“BTU”)UU . One BTU is equivalent to 1.06 Joules.
Management uses the folff lowing metrics to monitor segment performance: production volume, sales volume, average finisff hed
product selling price and average cost per unit consumed.

In the folff lowing tabla e, there are certain percentages that are not considered to be meaningful and are represented by “NM”.
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Results of Operationsp

The folff lowing tabla e shows the results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022:

ars Ended December 31, 2024-2023 2023-2022

(in millions, excepee t per share data)dd 2024 2023 2022 Change Percent Change Percent

Net sales $11,122.8 $13,696.1 $19,125.2 $ (2,573.3) (19)% $ (5,429.1) (28)%
Cost of goods sold 11,485.5 13,369.49,610.9 (1,874.6) (16)% (1,883.9) (14)%
Gross margin 2,210.6 5,755.81,511.9 (698.7) (32)% (3,545.2) (62)%
Gross margin percentage 13.6 1% 6.1 % 30.1 % (2.5)% (14.0)%
Selling, general and administrative
expenses 500.5 498.0496.9 (3.6) (1)% 2.5 1 %
Other operating expenses 372.0 472.5 21.5393.5 6 % (100.5) (21)%
Operating earnings 1,338.1 4,785.3621.5 (716.6) (54)% (3,447.2) (72)
Interest expense, net (182.8) (129.4) (137.8) (53.4) 41 % 8.4 (6)%
Foreign currency transaction (loss)
gain (6 97.585.8) 194.0 (879.8) NM 96.5 99 %
Gain on sale of equity investment 522.2 —— 522.2 NM — NM
Other income (expense) 40.3 (76.8) (102.5) 117.1 (152)% 25.7 (25)%
Earnings from consolidated
companies beforff e income taxes 4,642.5315.4 1,325.9 (1,010.5) (76)% (3,316.6) (71)

Provision for income taxes
1,224.3 9.7186.7 177.0 5 % (1,047.3) (86)

Earnings from consolidated
companies 3,418.2128.7 1,148.9 (1,020.2) (89)% (2,269.3) (66)%
Equity in net earnings of
nonconsolidated companies 196.0 13.0 2273.3 60.3 % (135.7) (69)%
Net earnings including
noncontrolling interests 3,614.2202.0 1,209.2 (1,007.2) (83)% (2,405.0) (67)%
Less: Net earnings attributable to
noncontrolling interests 31.427.1 44.3 (17.2) (39)% 12.9 41 %

Net earnings attributable to Mosaic $ 174.9 $ 1,164.9 $ 3,582.8 $ (990.0) (85)% $ (2,417.9) (67)%
Diluted net earnings per share
attributable to Mosaic $ 0.55 $ 3.50 $ 10.06 $ (2.95) (84)% $ (6.56) (65)%
Diluted weighted average number of
shares outstanding 356.0320.7 333.2
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Overview of the YeaYY rs ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Net earnings attributable to Mosaic for the year ended December 31, 2024 were $174.9 million, or $0.55 per diluted share,
compared to $1.2 billion, or $3.50 per diluted share for 2023, driven by lower finisff hed good sales pricing in our Potash and
Mosaic Fertilizantes segments and lower sales volumes across our segments, as discussed furff ther below. Net income forff the
year ended December 31, 2024 was unfavff orably impacted by a forff eign currency transaction loss of $686 million, compared
to a forff eign currency transaction gain of $194 million in the prior year period. Current year net income benefiteff d fromff a gain
of $522 million on the sale of our equity investment in MWSPC, as discussed furff ther below.

Significant factors that affected our results of operations and finff ancial condition in 2024 and 2023 are listed below. These
factors are discussed in more detail in the following sections of this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

Year ended December 31, 2024,

In our Phosphates segment, operating results for 2024 were unfavff orable compared to the prior year due to lower finff ished
goods sales volumes partially offsff et by higher average selling prices. Sales volumes in the current year were unfavff orably
impacted by planned maintenance and turnat round activity at our sites as well as impacts froff m hurricanes Florida in the
second half of the year. Phosphate operating results were also unfavff orably impacted by increased product costs due to our
sales volumes including a larger proportion of purchased tonnes than the prior year. We increased our purchases in 2024 to
offsff et lost production in the first quarter from a fire at our Riverview, Florida faciff lity. Average selling prices for the current
year were favorable versus the prior year as prices have continued trending upwards since the third quarter of 2023, driven by
strong demand in North America. Operating results also benefited froff m lower raw material costs, primarily sulfurff , compared
to the prior year period.

In our Potash segment, operating results for 2024 were unfavff orably impacted by lower global average selling prices, resulting
from improved global supply. Operating results were also unfavff orably impacted by lower sales volumes in the second half of
the year resulting froff m production challenges in the third quarter due to electrical issues at two of our mines and supply chain
delays caused by the port strike in Vancouver, Canada.

In our Mosaic Fertilizantes segment, operating results for 2024 were unfavff orably impacted by a decrease in average selling
prices compared to the prior year period. Sales prices of potash and nitrogen in Brazil decreased as global supply improved.
Sales volumes were down compared to the prior year period as a result of our decision to prioritize sales to lower credit-risk
customers, and to focus on obtff aining improved gross margin over sales volumes.

In addition to the items mentioned abovea :

• In April 2024, we entered into an agreement with Ma’aden to exchange our 25% ownership of the Ma'aden Wa’ad al
Shamal Phosphate Company for 111,012,433ff shares of Ma’aden. The transaction closed on December 24, 2024 at a
value of approxia mately $1.5 billion, resulting in a pre-tax gain of approximately $0.5 billion. The shares are
reflected in Equity Securities and Investments in Nonconsolidated Companies in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at
December 31, 2024.

• In 2024, we repurchased 7,944,507 shares of Common Stock in the open market forff approximately $235.4 million at
an average purchase price of $29.63.

In February 2025, the U.S. imposed tariff increases on imports from several countries, including a 25% tariff on most imports
from Canada, including potash. Subsu equently, the implementation of these tariffs has been paused for 30 days folff lowing an
agreement between the U.S. and Canada. At this time, we do not expect these tariffsff to have a significant impact on our
Potash business and operating results.

Year ended December 31,, 2023:

For the year ended December 31, 2023, operating results in all of our segments were impacted by lower average sales prices
compared to the prior year. Global markets softened compared to the prior year, with a rebound in supplu y combined with
buyers delaying purchases in the firff st half of the year, in anticipation of lower prices. Buyer deferral reversed in the later part
of 2023, and we saw seasonal price strength in many markets.
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In the Phosphates segment, operating results for 2023 were driven by lower average selling prices, partially offsff et by lower
raw material costs and higher sales volumes compared to the prior year. Selling prices decreased due to the factff ors described
above and were partially offsff et by lower raw material costs, primarily sulfurff and ammonia, due to global supply and demand.
Finished product sales volumes were favorable versus the prior year, driven by buyers deferring purchases in the prior year
period in anticipation of lower sales prices.

In the Potash segment, 2023 operating results were unfavff orably impacted by lower average selling prices of potash compared
to the prior year period, driven by the factff ors discussed abovea . This was partially offsff et by higher sales volumes, driven by
the factff or discussed abovea . Operating results for 2023 were also unfavff orably impacted by higher idle plant and maintenance
turnaround costs, due to the temporary irr dling of our Colonsay, Saskatchewan mine in the first half of the year, dued to market
conditions and the length of turt narounds, compared to the prior year.

In the Mosaic Fertilizantes segment, 2023 results were unfavff orably impacted by a decrease in average selling prices
compared to the prior year period, driven by the factff ors discussed abovea . Sales volumes of finished goods, including
performance products, were higher in 2023, compared to the same period in the prior year, dued to an increased customer base
as a result of our growth strategy to expand our presence in Brazil. Results were also favorably impacted by a decrease in
product costs for our distribution business, and lower sulfurff and ammonia costs in our production business.
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Phosphatestt Net SalSS esll and GroGG ss Margin

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the Phosphates segment’s net sales, gross margin, sales volume, selling prices and raw
material prices:

Years Ended December 31, 2024-2023 2023-2022
(in millions, except price per tonne or unit) 2024 2023 2022 Change Percent Change Percent
Net sales:
North America $3,772.9 $3,749.8 $4,211.2 $ 23.1 1 % $ (461.4) (11)%
International 745.9 974.5 1,973.0 (228.6) (23)% (998.5) (51)%
Total 4,518.8 4,724.3 6,184.2 (205.5) (4)% (1,459.9) (24)%

Cost of goods sold 3,924.8 4,022.2 4,425.2 (97.4) (2)% (403.0) (9)%
Gross margin $ 594.0 $ 702.1 $ 1,759 $ (108.1) (15)% $ (1,056.9) (60)
Gross margin as a percentage of net sales 13.1 % 14.9 % 28.4 %
Sales volumes(a) (in thousands of metric
tonnes)
DAP/MAP 3,133 3,625 3,399 (492) (14)% 226 7 %
Performance and Other(b) 3,304 3,366 3,159 (62) (2)% 207 7 %
Total finisff hed product tonnes 6,437 6,991 6,558 (554) (8)% 433 7 %
Rock(c) 1,795 1,622 1,719 173 11 % (97) (6)%

Total Phosphates Segment Tonnes(a) 8,232 8,613 8,277 (381) (4)% 336 4 %
Realized prices ($/tonne)
Average finisff hed product selling price
(destination)(d) $ 672 $ 646 $ 913 $ 26 4 % $ (267) (29)%
DAP selling price (fob mine) $ 585 $ 573 $ 804 $ 12 2 % $ (231) (29)%

Average cost per unit consumed in cost of
goods sold:
Ammonia (metric tonne) $ 435 $ 426 $ 603 $ 9 2 % $ (177) (29)%
Sulfurff (long ton) $ 132 $ 181 $ 368 $ (49) (27)% $ (187) (51)%
Blended rock (metric tonne) $ 85 $ 75 $ 70 $ 10 13 % $ 5 7 %

Production volume (in thousands of
metric tonnes) - North America 6,290 6,568 6,647 (278) (4)% (79) (1)%

(a) Includes intersegment sales volumes.
(b) Includes sales volumes of MicroEssentials® and animal feedff ingredients.
(c) Sales volumes of rock are presented on a wet tonne basis based on average moisturt e levels of 3.5% to 4.5% as it exits the drying

process and is prepared for shipping.
(d) Excludes sales revenue and tonnes associated with rock sales.

Year Ended December 31,, 2024 compared to Year Ended December 31,p , 2023

The Phosphates segment’s net sales were $4.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $4.7 billion for the
same period a year ago. The decrease in net sales was primarily due to lower finisff hed goods sales volumes, which
unfavff orably impacted net sales by approximately $310 million. In addition, Miski Mayo operations had an unfavff orable
impact of approximately $40 million compared to the prior year period due to lower selling prices. These impacts were
partially offsff et by approximately $150 million dued to higher finff ished product selling prices in the year current period.

Our average finished product selling price increased 4%, to $672 per tonne for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared
to $646 per tonne forff the same period a year ago, due to the factff or discussed in the Overview.

The Phosphates segment’s sales volumes of finished products decreased to 6.4 million tonnes forff the year ended
December 31, 2024, compared to 7.0 million tonnes in 2023, due to the production challenges discussed in the Overview.

Gross margin forff the Phosphates segment decreased to $594.0 million in the current year compared with $702.1 million forff
the prior year. Gross margin was unfavff orably impacted by lower finished goods sales volumes, which unfavff orably impacted
gross margin by approxia mately $130 million, higher conversion of approxia mately $80 million and higher blended rock costs
of approximately $70 million. The current year gross margin was also unfavff orably impacted by approximately $40 million
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related to selling a higher proportion of purchased tonnes compared to the prior year period, higher idle costs of
approximately $40 million, primarily due to impacts froff m Hurricane Milton, and higher freff ight costs of approxia mately $10
million. In addition, Miski Mayo gross margin was approxia mately $30 million lower than the prior year primarily due to a
decrease in selling prices. These impacts were partially offsff et by favorable impacts froff m higher finisff hed goods selling prices
of approximately $150 million and lower raw material costs, primarily sulfurff as discussed below, of approxia mately $150
million.

Our average consumed price forff ammonia in our North American operations increased to $435 per tonne in 2024 from $426 a
year ago. The average consumed price forff sulfurff for our North American operations decreased to $132 per long ton forff the
year ended December 31, 2024, from $181 in the prior year period. The purchase price of these raw materials is driven by
global supply and demand. The consumed ammonia and sulfurff prices also include transportation, transforff mation and storage
costs.

The average consumed cost of purchased and produced rock increased to $85 per tonne in the current year, froff m $75 a year
ago. For the year ended December 31, 2024, our North American phosphate rock production decreased slightly to 9.0 million
tonnes froff m 9.1 million tonnes in the prior year.

The Phosphates segment’s production of crop nutrient dry concentrates and animal feedff ingredients decreased to 6.3 million
tonnes froff m 6.6 million in the prior year. For the year ended December 31, 2024, our operating rate for procff essed phosphate
production decreased slightly to 64%, compared to 65% in the same period of the prior year.
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Potash Net SalSS esll and Gross MargGG in

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the Potash segment’s net sales, gross margin, sales volume and selling price:
Years Ended December 31, 2024-2023 2023-2022

(in millions, except price per tonne or unit) 2024 2023 2022 Change Percent Change Percent
Net sales:
North America $1,452.3 $1,899.9 $2,122.3 $ (447.6) (24)% $ (222.4) (10)%
International 936.4 1,333.7 3,086.2 (397.3) (30)% (1,752.5) (57)%
Total 2,388.7 3,233.6 5,208.5 (844.9) (26)% (1,974.9) (38)%

Cost of goods sold 1,745.5 2,018.6 2,365.5 (273.1) (14)% (346.9) (15)%
Gross margin $ 643.2 $1,215.0 $2,843.0 $ (571.8) (47)% $(1,628.0) (57)%
Gross margin as a percentage of net sales 26.9 % 37.6 % 54.6 %
Sales volume(a) (in thousands of metric
tonnes)
MOP 7,879 7,969 7,236 (90) (1)% 733 10 %
Performance and Other(b) 865 901 865 (36) (4)% 36 4 %

Total Potash Segment Tonnes 8,744 8,870 8,101 (126) (1)% 769 9 %
Realized prices ($/tonne)
Average finisff hed product selling price
(destination) $ 273 $ 365 $ 643 $ (92) (25)% $ (278) (43)%
MOP selling price (fob mine) $ 222 $ 308 $ 632 $ (86) (28)% $ (324) (51)%

Production volume (in thousands of
metric tonnes) 8,798 8,246 9,053 552 7 % (807) (9)%

(a) Includes intersegment sales volumes.
(b) Includes sales volumes of K-Mag®, Aspire® and animal feedff ingredients.

Year Ended December 31,, 2024 compared to Year Ended December 31,p , 2023

The Potash segment’s net sales decreased to $2.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $3.2 billion in
the prior year. Lower average selling prices had an unfavff orable impact on net sales of approximately $760 million versus the
prior year period. Net sales were also unfavff orably impacted by approximately $70 million dued to lower finisff hed goods sales
volumes compared to the prior period.

Our average finished product selling price was $273 per tonne for the year ended December 31, 2024, a decrease of $92 per
tonne compared with the prior year period, due to the facff tor discussed in the Overview.

The Potash segment’s sales volumes decreased to 8.7 million tonnes forff the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 8.9
million tonnes in the same period a year ago, due to the facff tors discussed in the Overview.

Gross margin forff the Potash segment decreased to $643.2 million in the current year, froff m $1.2 billion in the prior year
period. Gross margin was unfavff orably impacted by approximately $760 million dued to the decrease in average selling prices,
and approxia mately $50 million due to lower sales volumes. This was partially offsff et by lower Canadian resource taxes of
approximately $170 million in the current year period, as discussed below. Gross margin was also favff orably impacted by
approximately $40 million, due to lower idle and maintenance turt naround costs in the current year period due to the timing of
turnarounds. In addition, gross margin was favorably impacted by lower conversion costs of approximately $30 million.

We had expense of $232.2 million froff m Canadian resource taxes forff the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to $403.4
million in the prior year. Royalty expense also decreased to $40.5 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024 from $53.6
million in the prior year. The fluff ctuat tions in Canadian resource taxes and royalties are due to lower sales volumes, average
selling prices and margins in the current year, compared to the prior year.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, potash production increased to 8.8 million tonnes, compared to 8.2 million tonnes in
the prior year period, resulting in an operating rate of 76% for 2024, compared to 73% for 2023. The increased operating rate
in the current year period reflects higher production across our Canadian mines, dued to less maintenance downtime at our
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Esterhazy and Belle Plaine locations and our Colonsay mine operating forff a portion of the current year period. Prior year
production was impacted by maintenance downtime durd ing the first half of the year.

Mosaic Fertilitt zaii ntestt Net SalSS esll and Gross MargGG in

The folff lowing tabla e summarizes the Mosaic Fertilizantes segment’s net sales, gross margin, sales volume and selling price.

Years Ended December 31, 2024-2023 2023-2022

(in millions, except price per tonne or unit) 2024 2023 2022 Change Percent Change Percent

Net Sales $4,422.3 $5,684.7 $8,287.2 $ (1,262.4) (22)% $ (2,602.5) (31)%
Cost of goods sold 4,015.7 5,473.1 7,241.6 (1,457.4) (27)% (1,768.5) (24)%
Gross margin $ 406.6 $ 211.6 $1,045.6 $ 195.0 92 % $ (834.0) (80)%
Gross margin as a percent of net sales 9.2 % 3.7 % 12.6 %
Sales volume (in thousands of metric tonnes)
Phosphate produced in Brazil 1,701 2,235 2,368 (534) (24)% (133) (6)%
Potash produced in Brazil 201 195 165 6 3 % 30 18 %
Purchased nutrients 7,128 7,253 6,905 (125) (2)% 348 5 %

Total Mosaic Fertilizantes Segment
Tonnes 9,030 9,683 9,438 (653) (7)% 245 3 %
Realized prices ($/tonne)
Average finisff hed product selling price
(destination) $ 490 $ 587 $ 878 $ (97) (17)% $ (291) (33)%
Brazil MAP price (delivered price to
third party) $ 605 $ 597 $ 868 $ 8 1 % $ (271) (31)%

Purchases (’000 tonnes)
DAP/MAP from Mosaic 195 341 272 (146) (43)% 69 25 %
MicroEssentials® from Mosaic 989 1,019 1,271 (30) (3)% (252) (20)%
Potash from Mosaic/Canpotex 2,195 2,067 2,276 128 6 % (209) (9)%

Average cost per unit consumed in cost of
goods sold:
Ammonia (metric tonne) $ 627 $ 807 $ 1,301 $ (180) (22)% $ (494) (38)%
Sulfurff (long ton) $ 173 $ 232 $ 391 $ (59) (25)% $ (159) (41)%
Blended rock (metric tonne) $ 109 $ 122 $ 105 $ (13) (11)% $ 17 16 %

Production volume (in thousands of
metric tonnes) 3,501 3,457 3,598 44 1 % (141) (4)%

Year Ended December 31,, 2024 compared to Year Ended December 31,p , 2023

The Mosaic Fertilizantes segment’s net sales were $4.4 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $5.7
billion for 2023.ff In the current period, net sales were unfavff orably impacted by approximately $870 million of lower finished
goods sales prices and by approximately $350 million of lower finished goods sales volumes. This was partially offsff et by a
$20 million favff orable impact from sales of other products, primarily sulfurff ic acid.

The overall average finff ished product selling price decreased $97 per tonne, to $490 per tonne for 2024, due to the decrease in
global prices referenced in the Overview.

The Mosaic Fertilizantes segment’s sales volume decreased to 9.0 million tonnes forff the year ended December 31, 2024,
compared to 9.7 million tonnes forff the prior year period, due to the change in strategic focus diff scussed in the Overview.

Gross margin forff the Mosaic Fertilizantes segment increased to $406.6 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, from
$211.6 million in the prior year. The increase in gross margin was primarily due to the focus on obtff aining margin over sales
volume as discussed in the Overview and lower costs, which had a favff orable impact of $1.13 billion, driven by a decrease in
product costs for our distribution business, and lower sulfurff and ammonia costs in our production business. This was partially
offsff et by approximately $870 million related to the decrease in average selling prices during the current year period, and
approximately $40 million due to lower sales volumes in the current year period.
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The average consumed price for ammonia for ourff Brazilian operations was $627 per tonne for the year ended December 31,
2024, compared to $807 per tonne in the prior year. The average consumed sulfur prff ice for ourff Brazilian operations was $173
per long tonne for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $232 in the prior year. The purchase prices of these raw
materials are driven by global supply and demand, and include transportation, transforff mation and storage costs.

The Mosaic Fertilizantes segment’s production of crop nutrient dry concentrates and animal feedff ingredients increased 1%
compared to the prior year. For the year ended December 31, 2024, our phosphate operating rate was 78%, compared to 77%
in the prior year.

Our Brazilian phosphate rock production increased to 3.9 million tonnes forff the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to
4.0 million for the prior year period.

Corporate,tt Eliminll atiott ns and Other

In addition to our three operating segments, we assign certain costs to Corporate, Eliminations and Other, which is presented
separately in Note 25 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The Corporate, Eliminations and Other category
includes intersegment eliminations, including profitff on intersegment sales, unrealized mark-to-market gains and losses on
derivatives and the investment in equity securities of Ma'aden, debt expenses, corporate funcff tional costs and the results of the
China and India distribution businesses.

Gross margin forff Corporate, Eliminations and Other was a loss of $131.9 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024,
compared to a gain of $81.9 million in the same period a year ago. Gross margin was unfavff orably impacted by higher
elimination of profit on intersegment sales in the current year period of approximately $139 million, compared to the prior
year. Gross margin was also unfavff orably impacted by a $101 million net unrealized loss on derivatives in the current year
period, primarily foreign currency derivatives, compared to a $29 million net unrealized gain in the prior year period.
Distribution operations in India and China had revenues and gross margin of $519.6 million and $39.7 million, respectively,
for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to revenues and gross margin of $898.9 million and $(16.8) million,
respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2023. China and India gross margin was favff orably impacted by lower product
costs in the current year period compared to the prior year. This was partially offsff et by the impact of lower selling prices
compared to the prior year period.

Othett r IncII ome StaSS tement Itemstt
Years Ended December 31, 2024-2023 2023-2022

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022 Change Percent Change Percent

Selling, general and administrative
expenses $ 496.9 $ 500.5 $ 498.0 $ (3.6) (1)% $ 2.5 1 %
Other operating expenses 393.5 372.0 472.5 21.5 6 % (100.5) (21)%
Interest (expense) (230.0) (189.0) (168.8) (41.0) 22 % (20.2) 12 %
Interest income 47.2 59.6 31.0 (12.4) (21)% 28.6 92 %

Interest expense, net (182.8) (129.4) (137.8) (53.4) 41 % 8.4 (6)%
Foreign currency transaction (loss)
gain (685.8) 194.0 97.5 (879.8) NM 96.5 99 %
Gain on sale of equity investment 522.2 — — 522.2 NM — NM
Other income (expense) 40.3 (76.8) (102.5) 117.1 NM 25.7 (25)%

Provision for income taxes 186.7 177.0 1,224.3 9.7 5 % (1,047.3) (86)
Equity in net earnings of
nonconsolidated companies 73.3 60.3 196.0 13.0 22 % (135.7) (69)%

Selling, General and Admidd niii straii tive ExpeEE nses

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $496.9 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $500.5
million forff the same period a year ago. The decrease was primarily dued to approximately $20 million of lower consulting and
profesff sional services and lower compensation and other employee-related costs of approximately $15 million in the current
year period. This was largely offsff et by approximately $30 million of bad debt reserve in our Mosaic Fertilizantes segment.
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Othett r OpeOO rating En xpeEE nses

Other operating expenses were $393.5 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $372.0 million forff the
prior year period. Other operating expenses typically relate to fivff e major categories: (1) AROs, (2) environmental and legal
reserves, (3) idle facility costs, (4) insurance reimbursements, and (5) gain/loss on sale or disposal of fixed assets. The change
from the prior year was primarily due to an arbir tration reserve of approximately $52 million in the current year. Other
operating expense was also impacted by lower estimated closure costs for our asset retirement obligations (“AROs“ ”) at our
closed facilities, which were appa roximately $53 million lower than the prior year. In addition, environmental reserves in our
Phosphates segment were lower compared to the prior year by approximately $13 million. The prior year included a gain on
the sale of the Streamsong Resort of approximately $57 million.

Interest Expexx nse, Net

Net interest expense increased to $182.8 million forff the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $129.4 million in 2023.
The increase was primarily dued to higher short term debt levels in the current year period and lower interest income. The
prior year included approxia mately $10 million on tax credit refunds from our Brazilian subsidiaries.

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Tc raTT nsaction (Loss) Gain

In 2024, we recorded a forff eign currency transaction loss of $685.8 million, compared to a gain of $194.0 million in 2023. The
loss was the result of the effect of the strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to the Brazilian real on intercompany loans and
U.S. dollar-denominated payables held by our Brazilian subsidiaries and the impact of the U.S. dollar relative to the Canadian
dollar on intercompany loans. Our reported forff eign currency gains and losses are ofteff n non-cash in naturt e because they are
related to intercompany transactions.

Gain on Sale of Equityii Investmett nt

On December 24, 2024 we exchanged our 25% ownership of MWSPC for 111,012,433 shares of Ma’aden at a value of
approximately $1.5 billion, resulting in a pre-tax gain, net of expenses, of $522.2 million. See furff ther discussion of this
transaction in Note 9 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Othett r IncII ome (Ex(( pexx nse)

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we had other income of $40.3 million compared to expense of $76.8 million in the
prior year. The change from the prior year is primarily dued to an unrealized gain of approximately $28 million related to our
investment in shares of Ma'aden being marked to market at period end. In the current year we had a gain of approximately $8
million on the finalization of amounts related to the 2023 termination of a pension plan compared to a settlement loss of
approximately $42 million in the prior year. We also had a realized gain on the marketabla e securities held in the RCRA
Trusrr ts of approximately $2 million compared to a loss of $19 million in the prior year.

Provision forff Income Taxesaa
Effeff ctive
Tax Rate

Provision for
Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31, 2024 59.2 % $ 186.7
Year Ended December 31, 2023 13.3 % 177.0
Year Ended December 31, 2022 26.4 % 1,224.3

For all years, our income tax is impacted by the mix of earnings across jurisdictions in which we operate, by a benefit
associated with depletion and by the impact of certain entities being taxed in both their foreign jurisdiction and the U.S.,
including foreign tax credits for vaff rious taxes incurred.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, tax expense specific to the period included a net expense of $125.9 million. The net
expense relates to the folff lowing: $99.9 million related to the impact of accruingrr withholding tax expense on expected foreign
distributions associated with changes in management’s indefinite reinvestment assertion on select foreign earnings under
ASC 740-30 (forff merly APB 23), $7.1 million related to truer -up ou f estimates froff m our U.S. and non-U.S. tax returnt
provisions, $24.2 million related to changes to valuation allowances in Brazil, the Netherlands, and the U.S., $4.0 million
related to share-based excess benefit, $2.5 million related to changes in tax rates and $6.2 million related to other
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miscellaneous expenses. The tax expenses are partially offsff et by a net tax benefitff related to changes in U.S. state tax law of
$18.1 million.

Equity inii Net Earnings ogg f No onNN consolidll atdd edtt Companies

For the year ended December 31, 2024, we had a gain from equity of nonconsolidated companies of $73.3 million, net of tax,
compared to a gain of $60.3 million, net of tax, forff the prior year. These results were primarily related to the operations of
MWSPC.

Critical Accounting Estimatesg

We prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America which requires us to make various judgments, estimates and assumptions that could have a significant
impact on our reported results and disclosures. We base these estimates on historical experience and other assumptions we
believe to be reasonable at the time we prepare our financial statements. Changes in these estimates could have a material
effeff ct on our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Our significant accounting policies can be found in Note 2 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe the
following accounting policies include a higher degree of judgment and complexity in their appla ication and are most critical to
aid in fulff ly understanding and evaluating our reported finff ancial condition and results of operations.

Recoverabilitii y ott f Go oodwGG ill

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price consideration over the estimated faiff r value of net assets of acquired businesses.
The carrying value of goodwill in our reporting units is tested annually as of October 31 for posff sible impairment. We
typically use an income approaa ch valuation model, representing present value of futurff e cash floff ws, to determine the fair value
of a reporting unit. Growth rates forff sales and profitsff are determined using inputs froff m our annual strategic and long range
planning process. The rates used to discount projected futurff e cash floff ws reflect a weighted average cost of capital based on
the Company’s industry,rr capia tal strucr ture and risk premiums, including those refleff cted in the current market capitalization.
When preparing these estimates, management considers each reporting unit’s historical results, current operating trends and
specific plans in place. These estimates are impacted by various factors, including inflation, the general health of the
economy and market competition. In addition, events and circumstances that might be indicators of possible impairment are
assessed durd ing other interim periods. As of October 31, 2024, the date of our annual impairment testing, the Company
concluded that the fair values of the reporting units which include goodwill, Potash, Mosaic Fertilizantes and Corporate,
Eliminations and Other, were in substantial excess of their respective carrying values and the goodwill for those units was not
impaired.

See Note 10 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information regarding the goodwill impairment
analysis, including the methodologies and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of our reporting units. As of
December 31, 2024, we had $1.1 billion of goodwill.

Enviroii nmental Liabilitii iett s and Asset Retirtt ement Obligll atiott ns

We record accruerr d liabia lities for various environmental and reclamation matters, including the demolition of forff mer operating
facilities, and AROs.

Contingent environmental liabia lities are described in Note 23 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Accruarr ls for
environmental matters are based primarily on third-party estimates forff the cost of remediation at previously operated sites and
estimates of legal costs for ongoing environmental litigation. We regularly assess the likelihood of material adverse
judgments or outcomes and the effects of potential indemnificff ation, as well as potential ranges or probability of losses. We
determine the amount of accruar ls required, if any, for contingencies after carefulff ly analyzing each individual matter.
Estimating the ultimate settlement of environmental matters requires us to develop complex and interrelated assumptions
based on experience with similar matters, our history, precedents, evidence and factff s specific to each matter. Actual costs
incurred in futurff e periods may vary frr roff m the estimates, given the inherent uncertainties in evaluating environmental
exposures. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had accrued $197.5 million and $203.2 million, respectively, for
environmental matters.
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As indicated in Note 14 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, we recognize AROs in the period in which we
have an existing legal obligation, and the amount of the liabia lity can be reasonably estimated. We utilize internal engineering
experts as well as third-party consultants to assist in determining the costs of retiring certain of our long-term operating
assets. Assumptions and estimates refleff ct our historical experience and our best judgments regarding futurff e expenditures. The
assumed costs are inflaff ted based on an estimated inflatioff n facff tor and discounted based on a credit-adjud sted risk-free rate. For
active facff ilities, fluff ctuat tions in the estimated costs (including those resulting froff m a change in environmental regulations),
inflation rates and discount rates can have a significant impact on the corresponding assets and liabia lities recorded in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. However, changes in the assumptions for our active faciff lities would not have a significant
impact on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings in the year they are identified. For closed faciff lities, fluctuations in the
estimated costs, inflatioff n and discount rates have an impact on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings in the year they are
identified as there is no asset related to these items. Phosphate land reclamation activities in North America generally occur
concurrently with mining operations; as such, we accrue and expense reclamation costs as we mine. In addition, we regularly
perform post-mining evaluations to ensure we have establa ished a sufficient liabia lity to meet permitting requirements. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, $2.6 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, was accruer d forff AROs (including both current and
noncurrent amounts) in North and South America. In August 2016, Mosaic deposited $630 million into two trusr t fundsff as
financial assurance to support certain estimated futurff e AROs. See Note 14 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional inforff mation regarding the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA“ ”) RCRA Initiative.

Income Taxesaa

We make estimates for income taxes in three major areas: valuation allowances, uncertain tax positions, and U.S. deferred
income taxes on our non-U.S. subsu idiaries’ undistributed earnings.

A valuation allowance is provided for deff ferred tax assets for which it is more likely than not that the related tax benefitff s will
not be realized. Significant judgment is required in evaluating the need for and magnitude of appropriate valuation
allowances. The realization of the Company’s deferff red tax assets, specifically the evaluation of net operating loss
carryforwards and forff eign tax credit carryforwards, is dependent on generating certain types of futurff e taxable income, using
both historical and projeo cted future operating results, the source of future income, the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, taxable income in prior carry-back years (if permitted) and the availabia lity of tax planning strategies. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had a valuation allowance of $1.5 billion and $1.4 billion, respectively. Changes in tax
laws, assumptions with respect to futurff e taxable income, tax planning strategies, resolution of matters under tax audit and
foreign currency exchange rates could result in adjustment to these allowances.

Due to Mosaic’s global operations, we assess uncertainties and judgments in the appla ication of complex tax regulations in a
multitude oft jurisdictions. Future changes in judgment related to the expected ultimate resolution of uncertain tax positions
will affeff ct earnings in the quarter of such change. While it is ofteff n diffiff cult to predict the final outcome or the timing of
resolution of any particular uncertain tax position, our liabia lities forff income taxes refleff ct what we believe to be the more
likely than not outcome. We adjust these liabia lities, as well as the related interest, in light of changing facts and
circumstances, including negotiations with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions, outcomes of tax litigation and resolution
of disputes arising froff m tax audits in the normal course of business. Settlement of any particular position may require the use
of cash. Based uponu an analysis of tax positions taken on prior year returns and expected positions to be taken on the current
year return, management has identified gross uncertain income tax positions of $14.2 million as of December 31, 2024.

Any dividends from controlled foreign corporations are tax-free froff m a U.S. income tax perspective. Additionally, there will
not be any forff eign tax credits associated with foreign, non-branch, dividends. Therefore, there are no material federalff U.S.
implications of future repatriations on non-U.S. subsu idiaries’ undistributed earnings. However, since there are no U.S. foreign
tax credits associated with foreign dividends, any foreign withholding tax associated with a futurff e repatriation will need to be
accrued if the earnings are not permanently reinvested.

We have included a further discussion of income taxes in Note 13 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resourcesq y p

We define liquidity as the abia lity to generate or access adequate amounts of cash to meet current cash needs. We remain
committed to a disciplined capia tal allocation strategy and assess our liquidity in terms of our ability to fund working capital
requirements, fund sustaining and opportunistic capital projeo cts, pursue strategic opportunities and make capital management
decisions, which include making payments on and issuing indebtedness and making distributions to our stockholders, either
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in the forff m of share repurchases or dividends. Our liquidity is subju ect to general economic, finff ancial, competitive and other
factors that are beyond our control.

We have a target liquidity buffeff r of up to $u 3.0 billion, including cash and availabla e credit faciff lities. We expect our liquidity to
fluctuate froff m time to time, especially in the firff st quarter of each year, to manage through the seasonality of our business. We
also target debt leverage ratios that are consistent with investment grade credit metrics. Our capital allocation priorities
include maintaining our target investment grade metrics and finff ancial strength, sustaining our assets, including ensuring the
safety and reliabia lity of our assets, investing to grow our business, either through organic growth or taking advantage of
strategic opportunities, and returningt excess cash to stockholders, including paying our dividend. During 2024 we returned
capital to our stockholders through share repurchases of $235.4 million and by paying dividends of $270.7 million.

As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of $272.8 million, marketable securities held in trusts to fundff
future obligations of $695.2 million, long-term debt including current maturt ities of $3.4 billion, short-term debt of $847.1
million and stockholders’ equity of $11.6 billion. In addition, we had $402.3 million of commercial arrangements forff certain
customer purchases in Brazil through structurt ed payable arrangements, as discussed in Note 11 of our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

All of our cash and cash equivalents are diversifieff d in highly rated investment vehicles. Our cash and cash equivalents are
held either in the U.S. or held by non-U.S. subsu idiaries and are not subju ect to significant forff eign currency exposures, as the
majority are held in investments denominated in U.S. dollars as of December 31, 2024. These fundsff may create forff eign
currency transaction gains or losses, however, depending on the funcff tional currency of the entity holding the cash. In
addition, there are no significant restrictions that would preclude us from bringing funds held by non-U.S. subsu idiaries back
to the U.S., aside froff m withholding taxes.

Sources and Uses of Cash

As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of $272.8 million. Funds generated by
operating activities, availabla e cash and cash equivalents and our revolving credit facility continue to be our most significant
sources of liquidity. We believe funds generated froff m the expected results of operations and availabla e cash, cash equivalents
and borrowings, either under our revolving credit facility or through long-term borrowings, will be sufficient to finff ance our
operations, including our expansion plans, existing strategic initiatives and expected dividend payments for the foreseeable
future. We expect our capia tal expenditures to be approxia mately $1.3 billion in 2025. There can be no assurance, however, that
we will continue to generate cash flows at or abovea current levels. At December 31, 2024, we had $2.5 billion available under
our $2.5 billion revolving credit facility. See Note 11 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional
information relating to our financing arrangements, which is hereby incorporated by reference.

We have certain contractuat l obligations that require us to make cash payments on a scheduled basis. These include, among
other things, long-term debt payments, interest payments, operating leases, unconditional purchase obligations and fundingff
requirements of pension and postretirement obligations. Our long-term debt has maturt ities ranging from one year to 19 years.
Unconditional purchase obligations are our largest contractuat l cash obligations. These include obligations for contracts to
purchase raw materials such as sulfur, ammonia, phosphate rock and naturt al gas, obligations to purchase raw materials forff
our international distribution activities and maintenance and services. Other large cash obligations are our AROs and other
environmental obligations, primarily related to our Phosphates and Mosaic Fertilizantes segments. We expect to fund our
AROs and other environmental obligations, purchase obligations, long-term debt and capital expenditures with a combination
of operating cash floff ws, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings.
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The folff lowing is a summary of our material contractuat l cash obligations as of December 31, 2024:
Paymena ts by Calendardd Year

(in millions) Total
Less than 1
year

1 - 3
years

3 - 5
years

More than 5
years

Long-term debt(a) $ 3,377.6 $ 45.3 $ 751.3 $ 618.2 $ 1,962.8
Estimated interest payments on long-term
debt(b) 1,612.4 178.2 343.5 240.6 850.1
Operating leases 225.1 58.3 74.3 49.4 43.1
Purchase commitments(c) 6,930.6 2,842.1 3,525.7 525.7 37.1
Pension and postretirement liabia lities(d) 124.0 4.4 20.0 23.8 75.8
Total contractuat l cash obligations $ 12,269.7 $ 3,128.3 $ 4,714.8 $ 1,457.7 $ 2,968.9

_______________________ ___________
(a) Long-term debt primarily consists of unsecured notes, finff ance leases, unsecured debentures and secured notes.
(b) Based on interest rates and debt balances as of December 31, 2024.
(c) Based on prevailing market prices as of December 31, 2024. For additional information related to our purchase commitments, see

Note 22 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(d) The 2025 pension plan payments are based on minimum funff ding requirements. For years thereafteff r, pension plan payments are based

on expected benefits paid. The postretirement plan payments are based on projeo cted benefit payments. The abovea amounts include our
North America and Brazil plans.

See Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Obligations below forff more information on other environmental obligations.

Summary of Cash Flowsll

The folff lowing tabla e represents a comparison of the net cash provided by operating activities, net cash used in investing
activities and net cash used in finff ancing activities forff calendar years 2024, 2023 and 2022:

Years Ended December 31,(in millions) 2024-2023 2023-2022

Cash Flow 2024 2023 2022 Change Percent Change Percent

Net cash provided by operating
activities $ 1,299.2 $ 2,407.2 $ 3,935.8 $(1,108.0) (46)% $(1,528.6) (39)%
Net cash used in investing
activities (1,261.0) (1,317.2) (1,259.6) 56.2 4 % (57.6) (5)%
Net cash used in finff ancing
activities (131.9) (1,480.5) (2,678.7) 1,348.6 91 % 1,198.2 45 %

Operatintt g Activitiestt

In 2024, net cash floff w froff m operating activities provided us with a significant source of liquidity. For the year ended
December 31, 2024, net cash provided by operating activities was $1.3 billion, compared to $2.4 billion in the prior year. Our
results of operations, after non-cash adjustments to net earnings, contributed $1.3 billion to cash floff ws from operating
activities during 2024, compared to $2.0 billion durd ing 2023. During 2024, we had a favorable change in assets and liabia lities
of $21.1 million, compared to $401.7 million in 2023.

The change in assets and liabia lities forff the year ended December 31, 2024, was primarily driven by unfavff orable changes in
inventories of $275.6 million and other current and long-term assets of $79.2 million. These changes were mostly offseff t by
favorable impacts froff m changes in accounts payable and accruer d liabia lities of $96.4 million and other noncurrent liabilities of
$220.3 million. The change in inventories was driven primarily by an increase in inventory vrr olumes in Brazil. The change in
other current and noncurrent assets was primarily due to an increase in supplu ier prepayments and cloud computing costs in
the current year. The increase in accounts payable and accruerr d liabia lities was primarily driven by the timing of payments. The
increase in other noncurrent liabilities was primarily due to an increase in environmental reserves in the current year.
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Investing An ctivititt es

Net cash used in investing activities forff the year ended December 31, 2024 was comparabla e to the same period a year ago at
$1.3 billion, primarily driven by capital expenditures of $1.25 billion in 2024.

Financii ing Activititt es

Net cash used in finff ancing activities was $131.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to $1.5 billion in
the prior year. In 2024, we made paid dividends of $302.6 million and made repurchases of our common stock for $235.4
million. We also made net payments on our long-term debt of $3.1 million and had net payments on structurt ed accounts
payable of $17.7 million. In 2024, we received net proceeds froff m short-term borrowings of $253.2 million.

Debt Instrutt ments,tt Guarantees and Relatll edtt Covenants

See Note 11 and Note 16 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information relating to our
financing arrangements and fair value measurements, which is hereby incorporated by reference.

Financii ial Assurance Requireii ments

In addition to various operational and environmental regulations primarily related to our Phosphates segment, we incur
liabia lities forff reclamation activities under which we are subject to financial assurance requirements. In various jurisdictions in
which we operate, particularly Florida and Louisiana, we are required to pass a financial strength test or provide credit
supporu t, typically in the forff m of cash deposits, surety bonds or letters of credit. See Other Commercial Commitments under
Off-Bff alance Sheet Arrangements and Obligations and Note 22 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff
additional information about these requirements, which is hereby incorporated by reference.

Off-ff Balance Sheet Arrangements and Obligationsg g

Off-Bff alance Sheet Arrangements

In accordance with the definff ition under rulr es of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)CC , the following qualify as
off-bff alance sheet arrangements:

• certain obligations under guarantee contracts that have “any of the characteristics identified in Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC“ ”)CC paragraph ASC 460-10-15-4 (Guarantees
Topic)”;

• a retained or contingent interest in assets transferff red to an unconsolidated entity or similar arrangement that serves as
credit, liquidity or market risk supporu t to that entity forff such assets;

• any obligation, including a contingent obligation, under a contract that would be accounted for as derivative
instruments except that it is both indexed to the registrant’s own stock and classified as equity; and

• any obligation, arising out of a variabla e interest in an unconsolidated entity that is held by, and material to, the
registrant, where such entity provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to the registrant, or
engages in leasing, hedging or research and development services with the registrant.

Information regarding guarantees that meet the abovea requirements is included in Note 17 of our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements and is hereby incorporated by reference. We do not have any contingent interest in assets transferff red,
derivative instrumrr ents or variable interest entities that qualify as off-bff alance sheet arrangements under SEC rules.
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Other Commercial Commitments

The folff lowing is a summary of our other commercial commitments as of December 31, 2024:
Commitment Expixx rai tion by Cb alCC enll dar Year

(in millions) Total
Less than 1
year

1 - 3
years

3 - 5
years

More than 5
years

Letters of credit $ 63.8 $ 63.8 $ — $ — $ —
Surety bonds 793.7 793.7 — — —
Total $ 857.5 $ 857.5 $ — $ — $ —

The surety bonds and letters of credit generally expire within one year or less but a substantial portion of these instruments
provide financial assurance forff continuing obligations and, thereforff e, in most cases, must be renewed on an annual basis. We
issue letters of credit through our revolving credit facility and bilateral agreements. As of December 31, 2024, we had no
outstanding letters of credit through our credit facility and $63.8 million outstanding through bilateral agreements. We
primarily incur liabia lities forff reclamation activities in our Florida operations and for phosphogypsumff management system
(“Gypsyy tack” or “Gypsyy tacks”) closure in our Florida and Louisiana operations where, for permitting purposes, we must either
pass a test of finff ancial strength or provide credit supporu t, typically in the forff m of cash deposits, surety bonds or letters of
credit. As of December 31, 2024, we had $411.8 million in surety bonds and a $50 million letter of credit included in the total
amount above. These bonds and letters of credit are outstanding for reclamation obligations, primarily related to mining in
Florida. We also have a surety bond of $327.1 million with the EPA which was delivered as a substitute for the financial
assurance provided through a trust (the “Pl“ anll t CitCC y Ttt rustTT ”)t . The surety bonds generally require us to obtain a discharge of the
bonds or to post additional collateral (typically in the forff m of cash or letters of credit) at the request of the issuer of the bonds.

We are subject to financial assurance requirements related to the closure and post-closure care of our Gypstacks in Florida
and Louisiana. These requirements include Florida and Louisiana state financial assurance regulations, and financial
assurance requirements under the terms of consent decrees that we have entered into with respect to our facilities in Florida
and Louisiana. These include a consent decree (the “Pl“ anll t CityCC Consent Decree”) with EPA and the Florida Department of
Environmental Protection (“FDEPDD ”)PP relating to the Plant City, Florida Phosphate Concentrates facility (the “Pl“ anll t CityCC
Facilityii ”) we acquired as part of an acquisition (the “CF Phosphate Att ssets Att cquisiii tionii ”) and two separate consent decrees
(collectively, the “2015 Consent Decrees”) with federal and state regulators that include financial assurance requirements forff
the closure and post-closure care of substantially all of our Gypstacks in Florida and Louisiana, other than those acquired as
part of the CF Phosphate Assets Acquisition, which are discussed separately below.

See Note 14 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements forff additional information relating to our financial assurance
obligations, including the Plant City Consent Decree and the 2015 Consent Decrees, which information is incorporr ated by
reference.

Currently, state financial assurance requirements in Florida and Louisiana forff the closure and post-closure care of Gypstacks
are, in general terms, based upon the same assumptions and associated estimated values as the AROs recognized for finff ancial
reporting purposes. For financial reporting purposes, we recognize the AROs based on the estimated futurff e closure and post-
closure costs of Gypstacks, the undiscounted value of our North America Gypstacks is approxia mately $3.0 billion. The value
of the AROs forff closure and post-closure care of our North America Gypstacks, discounted to the present value, based on a
credit-adjusted, risk-free rate, is reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets in the amount of approximately $1.5 billion as
of December 31, 2024. Compliance with the finff ancial assurance requirements in Florida and Louisiana is generally based on
the undiscounted Gypstack closure estimates.

We satisfy sff ubstantially all of our Florida, Louisiana and federal finff ancial assurance requirements through compliance with
the finff ancial assurance requirements under the 2015 Consent Decrees by providing third-party credit support in the form of
surety bonds (including under the Plant City Consent Decree), and a finff ancial test mechanism supported by a corporate
guarantee (“Bo“ nnie FinFF ancial Test”)t related to a closed Florida phosphate concentrates facility in Bartow, Florida (the
“Bonnie FacFF ility”) as discussed below. We comply with our remaining state financial assurance requirements because our
financial strength permits us to meet applicable financial strength tests. There have been times in the past that we have not
met the applicable financial strength tests and there can be no assurance that we will be able to meet the appla icable financial
strength tests in the futurff e. In the event we do not meet either financial strength test, we could be required to seek an alternate
financial strength test acceptabla e to state regulatory arr uthorities or provide credit supporu t, which may include surety bonds,
letters of credit and cash escrows or trusrr t fundsff . Cash escrows or trusr t fundsff would be classified as restricted cash on our
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Consolidated Balance Sheets. Assuming we maintain our current levels of liquidity and capital resources, we do not expect
that these Florida and Louisiana requirements will have a material effect on our results of operations, liquidity or capia tal
resources.

As part of the CF Phosphate Assets Acquisition, we assumed certain AROs related to the estimated costs (“Gypsyy tack Closll ure
Costs”) at both the Plant City Facility and the Bonnie Facility. Associated with these assets are two related finff ancial
assurance arrangements forff which we became responsible and that provided sources of funds for the estimated Gypstack
Closure Costs for these facilities, pursuant to fedff eral or state law, which the government can draw against in the event we
cannot perform such closure activities. One was initially the Plant City Trusr t established to meet the requirements under a
consent decree with EPA and the FDEP with respect to U.S. Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA“ ”)
compliance at Plant City that also satisfied Florida finff ancial assurance requirements at that site. Beginning in September
2016, as a substitute for the financial assurance provided through the Plant City Trusrr t, we have provided finff ancial assurance
for Plant City in the forff m of a surety bond delivered to EPA (the “Pl“ anll t CitCC y Btt ond”)dd . The amount of the Plant City Bond is
$327.1 million at December 31, 2024, which refleff cts our closure cost estimates at that date. The other was also a trusr t fundff
(the “Bonnie FacFF ility Trust”)t establa ished to meet the requirements under Florida financial assurance regulations that apply to
the Bonnie Facility. On July 27, 2018, we received $21.0 million from the Bonnie Facility Trusr t by substituting the trusrr t fundff
for the Bonnie Financial Test supporu ted by a corporate guarantee as allowed by state regulations. Both finff ancial assurance
funding obligations require estimates of futurff e expenditures that could be impacted by refinements in scope, technological
developments, new information, cost inflation, changes in regulations, discount rates and the timing of activities. Under our
current approach to satisfyingff applicable requirements, additional finff ancial assurance would be required in the future if
increases in cost estimates exceed the face amount of the Plant City Bond or the amount supporu ted by the Bonnie Financial
Test.

Other Long-Term Obligations

The folff lowing is a summary of our other long-term obligations, including Gypstacks and land reclamation, as of
December 31, 2024:

Paymena ts by Calendardd Year

(in millions) Total
Less than 1
year

1 - 3
years

3 - 5
years

More than 5
years

ARO(a) $ 4,484.5 $ 295.7 $ 398.4 $ 320.9 $ 3,469.5

______________________________
(a) Represents the undiscounted estimated cash outflows required to settle the AROs. For the Potash segment, this excludes the

subsu equent years of tailings area management for activities such as dissolution and reclamation of land, which are estimated to require
an additional 161 to 391 years until completion. The corresponding present value of all futurff e expenditures is $2.6 billion as of
December 31, 2024 and is refleff cted in our accruerr d liabia lities and other noncurrent liabia lities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Most of our export sales of potash crop nutrients are marketed through a North American export association, Canpotex,
which fundsff its operations in part through third-party finff ancing facilities. As a member, Mosaic and our subsu idiaries are
subju ect to certain conditions and exceptions and contractuat lly obligated to reimburse Canpotex for their pro rata share of any
operating expenses or other liabia lities incurred. The reimbursements are made through reductions to members’ cash receipts
from Canpotex.

Commitments are set forff th in Note 22 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and are hereby incorporated by
reference.

Income Tax Obligations

Gross uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2024 of $14.2 million are not included in the other long-term obligations
tabla e presented above because the timing of the settlement of unrecognized tax benefitsff cannot be reasonably determined. For
further discussion, refer to Note 13 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Market Risk

We are exposed to the impact of fluctuations in the relative value of currencies, fluctuations in interest rates, fluctuations in
the purchase prices of naturt al gas, nitrogen, ammonia and sulfurff consumed in operations, and changes in freff ight costs, as well
as changes in the market value of our financial instrumrr ents. We periodically enter into derivatives in order to mitigate our
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interest rate risks, foreign currency risks and the effeff cts of changing commodity prices and freff ight prices, but not for
speculative purposes. Unrealized mark-to-market gains and losses on derivatives are recorded in Corporate, Eliminations and
Other. Once realized, they are recorded in the related business segment.

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Ec xcEE hange Ratestt

Due to the global naturt e of our operations, we are exposed to currency exchange rate changes, which may cause fluctuations
in our earnings and cash floff ws. Our primary foreign currency exposures are the Canadian dollar and Brazilian real. To reduced
economic risk and volatility on expected cash floff ws that are denominated in the Canadian dollar and Brazilian real, we use
financial instrumr ents that may include forward contracts, zero-cost collars and/or futures.

The funcff tional currency of several of our Canadian entities is the Canadian dollar. For those entities, sales are primarily
denominated in U.S. dollars, but the costs are paid principally in Canadian dollars. We generally enter into derivative
instruments forff a portion of the currency risk exposure on anticipated cash infloff ws and outflows, including outflows forff
capital expenditures denominated in Canadian dollars. Mosaic hedges cash floff ws on a declining basis, up to 18 months for
the Canadian dollar. A stronger Canadian dollar generally reduces these entities’ operating earnings. A weaker Canadian
dollar has the opposite effect. Depending on the underlying exposure, such derivatives can create additional earnings
volatility because we do not apply hedge accounting. Gains or losses on these derivative contracts, both for opeff n contracts at
quarter-end (unrealized) and settled contracts (realized), are recorded in either cost of goods sold or foreign currency
transaction gain (loss).

The funcff tional currency for ourff Brazilian subsidiaries is the Brazilian real. We finff ance our Brazilian inventory prr urchases with
U.S. dollar-denominated liabilities. We hedge a portion of cash floff ws on a declining basis, up to 12 months for the Brazilian
real. A stronger Brazilian real relative to the U.S. dollar has the impact of reducing these liabia lities on a functional currency
basis. When this occurs, an associated foreign currency transaction gain is recorded as non-operating income. A weaker
Brazilian real generally has the opposite effeff ct. We also enter into derivative instrumr ents for a portion of our currency risk
exposure on anticipated Brazilian real cash floff ws and record an associated gain or loss in either cost of goods sold or foreign
currency transaction gain (loss) line in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. A stronger Brazilian real generally reducd es
our Brazilian subsidiaries operating earnings. A weaker Brazilian real has the opposite effeff ct.

As discussed abovea , we have Canadian dollar, Brazilian real and other foreign currency exchange contracts. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the faiff r value of our majoa r forff eign currency exchange contracts was an asset of $82.6 million
and a liabia lity of $28.4 million, respectively. We recorded an unrealized loss of $108.0 million in cost of goods sold and
recorded an unrealized loss of $2.1 million in forff eign currency transaction gain (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of
Earnings for 2024.

20



The table below provides information abouta Mosaic’s significant foreign exchange derivatives.
As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023

Expected
Maturity Date
Years ending
December 31, Fair

Value

Expected
Maturity Date
Years ending
December 31, Fair

Value(in millions) 2025 2026 2027 2024 2025 2026

Foreign Currency Exchange Forwards

Canadian Dollar $ (32.6) $ 15.5
Notional (million US$) - short
Canadian dollars $ 51.6 $ — $ — $ 297.3 $ — $ —
Weighted Average Rate - Canadian
dollar to U.S. dollar 1.3771 — — 1.3387 — —
Notional (million US$) - long
Canadian dollars $ 638.3 $ — $ — $1,068.5 $ 120.5 $ —
Weighted Average Rate - Canadian
dollar to U.S. dollar 1.3504 — — 1.3430 1.3445 —

Indian Rupee
$ — $ —

Notional (million US$) - short Indian
rupeeu $ 2.0 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ —
Weighted Average Rate - Indian
rupeu e to U.S. dollar 84.0382 — — — — —

Foreign Currency Exchange Non-
Deliverable Forwards

Brazilian Real $ (51.2) $ 14.6
Notional (million US$) - long
Brazilian real $ 563.4 $ — $ — $ 741.7 $ — $ —
Weighted Average Rate - Brazilian
real to U.S. dollar 5.8279 — — 5.0023 — —

Indian Rupee $ 1.1 $ (0.3)
Notional (million US$) - short Indian
rupeeu $ 89.1 $ — $ — $ 80.0 $ — $ —
Weighted Average Rate - Indian
rupeu e to U.S. dollar 84.7720 — — 83.7458 — —

China Renminbi $ 0.1 $ (1.4)
Notional (million US$) - short China
renminbi $ 33.0 $ — $ — $ 110.7 $ — $ —
Weighted Average Rate - China
renminbi to U.S. dollar 7.1923 — — 7.1336 — —

Total Fair Value $ (82.6) $ 28.4

Commoditiesii

We use forff ward purchase contracts, swaps and occasionally three-way collars to reduce the risk related to significant price
changes in our inputs and product prices.

All gains and losses on commodities contracts are recorded in cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the faiff r value of our major commodities contracts was ($1.8) million and ($10.3) million,
respectively. We recorded an unrealized gain of $7.2 million in cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings
for 2024.

Our primary commodities exposure relates to price changes in naturt al gas.
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The table below provides information abouta Mosaic’s natural gas derivatives which are used to manage the risk related to
significant price changes in naturt al gas.

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023

Expected Maturity Date
Years ending
December 31, Fair

Value

Expected Maturity Date
Years ending
December 31, Fair

Value(in millions) 2025 2026 2027 2024 2025 2026

Natural Gas Swaps $ (1.8) $ (10.3)

Notional (million MMBTU) - long 2.5 — — 15.1 2.0 —

Weighted Average Rate (US$/MM BTU) $ 2.73 $ — $ — $ 2.75 $ 3.30 $ —
Total Fair Value $ (1.8) $ (10.3)

Interest Rates

From time to time, we enter into interest rate swap agreements to hedge our exposure to changes in futurff e interest rates
related to anticipated debt issuances. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no interest rate swap aa greements in effeff ct.

Summary

Overall, there have been no material changes in our primary market risk exposures since the prior year. In 2025, we do not
expect any material changes in our primary risk exposures. Additional information abouta market risk associated with our
investments held in the RCRA TRR rusts is provided in Note 12 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. For
additional information related to derivatives, see Notes 15 and 16 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Environmental, Health, Safetff y and Security Matters, , y y

We are subject to complex and evolving international, federal, state, provincial and local environmental, health, safetff y and
security (“EHS“ ”) policies that govern the production, distribution and use of crop nutrients and animal feedff ingredients.
These EHS standards regulate or propose to regulate: (i) conduct of mining, production and supplu y chain operations,
including employee safety and facility security procedurd es; (ii) management or remediation of potential impacts to air, soil
and water quality froff m our operations; (iii) disposal of waste materials; (iv) beneficiaff l use of co-products and residuad ls;
(v) reclamation of lands afteff r mining; (vi) management and handling of raw materials; (vii) product content; and (viii) use of
products by both us and our customers.

We have a comprehensive EHS management program that seeks to achieve sustainable, predictabla e and verifiable EHS
performance. Key elements of our EHS program include: (i) identifyingff and managing EHS risk; (ii) complying with legal
requirements; (iii) improving our EHS procedurd es and protocols; (iv) educating employees regarding EHS obligations;
(v) retaining and developing profesff sional qualified EHS staff; (vff i) evaluating faciff lity conditions; (vii) evaluating and
enhancing safe wff orkplace behaviors; (viii) performing audits; (ix) forff mulating EHS action plans; and (x) assuring
accountability of all managers and other employees for EHS perforff mance. Our business units are responsible for
implementing day-to-day elements of our EHS program, assisted by integrated EHS professionals. We conduct audits to
verify that each facility has identified risks, achieved regulatory crr ompliance, improved EHS performance and incorporated
EHS management systems into day-to-day business funff ctions.

New or proposed regulatory prr rograms or policies can present significant challenges in ascertaining futurff e compliance
obligations, implementing compliance plans, and estimating futff urt e costs until implementing regulations are finff alized and
definitive regulatory irr nterprr etations are adopted. New or proposed regulatory srr tandards may require modifications to our
facilities or to operating procedurd es and these modifications may involve significant capital costs or increases in operating
costs. For example the Company is monitoring recently enacted standards in the European Union and Californiff a on climate
change disclosure and is taking steps to address those new requirements.

We have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, subsu tantial finff ancial and managerial resources to comply
with EHS standards and to continue to improve our environmental stewardship. In 2025, excluding capital expenditures
arising out of the consent decrees referred to under “EPA RCRA Initiative” in Note 14 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, we expect environmental capital expenditures to total approximately $480 million, primarily related to:
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(i) modification or construcrr tion of waste management infrastructurt e and water treatment systems; (ii) construcrr tion and
modification projeo cts associated with Gypstacks and clay settling ponds at our Phosphates faciff lities and tailings management
areas for our Potash mining and processing facilities; (iii) upgrading or new construcr tion of air pollution control equipment at
some of the concentrates plants; and (iv) capital projeo cts associated with remediation of contamination at current or former
operations. Additional expenditures forff land reclamation, Gypstack closure and water treatment activities are expected to
total approxia mately $275 million in 2025. In 2026, we estimate environmental capital expenditures will be approximately
$465 million and expenditures forff land reclamation activities, Gypstack closure and water treatment activities are expected to
be approximately $215 million. We spent approxia mately $545 million and $470 million forff the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively, forff environmental capital expenditures, land reclamation activities, Gypstack closure and water
treatment activities. No assurance can be given that greater-than-anticipated EHS capital expenditures or land reclamation,
Gypstack closure or water treatment expenditures will not be required in 2025 or in the futurff e.

Operatintt g Requireii ments att nd Impacm ts

Permitting.We hold numerous environmental, mining and other permits and approvaa ls authorizing operations at our
facilities. Our ability to continue operations at a facff ility could be materially affeff cted by a government agency decision to
deny or delay issuing a new or renewed permit or approval, to revoke or subsu tantially modify an existing permit or approval
or to subsu tantially change conditions applicable to a permit modification, or by legal actions that successfulff ly challenge our
permits.

Expanding our operations or extending operations into new areas is also predicated upon securing the necessary
environmental or other permits or approvals. We have been engaged in, and over the next several years will be continuing,
effortff s to obtain permits in supporu t of our planned Florida operations at certain of our properties. For years, we have
successfulff ly permitted properties and anticipate that we will be abla e to permit these properties as well.

A denial of our permits, the issuance of permits with cost-prohibitive conditions, substantial delays in issuing key permits,
legal actions that prevent us froff m relying on permits or revocation of permits can prevent or delay our mining or operations at
the affected properties and thereby materially affeff ct our business, results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.

In addition, in the U.S., local stakeholder involvement has become an increasingly important factor in the permitting process
for companies like ours, and various counties and other parties, particularly in Florida, have in the past fileff d and continue to
file lawsuits or administrative appea als challenging the issuance of some of the permits we require. These actions can
significantly delay permit issuance. Additional inforff mation regarding certain potential or pending permit challenges is
provided in Note 23 to our Consolidated Financial Statements and is incorporated herein by reference.

Federal IniII tiatives to Definee “Waters of the UniUU ted StateS s.” The Clean Water Act (“CWA”) authorizes federal jurisdiction
over “navigable waters,” definff ed in the Act as “waters of the United States” and often abbreviated as “WOTUS.” As it relates
to Mosaic’s operations and facff ilities, the scope of the term WOTUS dictates legal requirements for our naff tional pollutant
discharge elimination system wastewater discharge permits and forff impacts to surface waters and wetlands associated with
our phosphate mining and some production operations. A broad definitioff n of WOTUS, and thus the scope of federal
jurisdiction, increases the time required to identify wff etlands and waterways subju ect to federal regulatory arr nd permitting
requirements, and the amount and type of mitigation required to compensate forff impacts to jurisdictional WOTUS caused by
our mining operations.

On May 25, 2023, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its opinion in Sackett v EPAEE , which significantly limits water featurt es that
can be considered WOTUS and therefore subju ect to CWA Section 404 jurisdiction. The Sackett decision is binding
nationwide as to the determination of which wetlands and waters are subju ect to the CWA.

The Sackett decision invalidated the January 18, 2023 definition of WOTUS promulgated by EPA which had expanded
federal jurisdiction. In response to Sackett, EPA issued a finff al rule that became effeff ctive September 8, 2023 intended to
conform its definition of WOTUS to the Sackett decision.

As a result of ongoing litigation, the January 2023 WOTUS rulr e, as “conformed” by the September 2023 rule, is being
implemented in 23 states, including New Mexico. In the other 27 states, including Florida, WOTUS is being interpreted
consistent with the pre-2015 regulatory rrr egime and the Supru eme Court's Sackett decision.
Water Quality Regulate ions for NutNN rit ent Discharger s. New nutrient regulatory irr nitiatives could have a material effect on either
us or our customers. For example, the Mississippi River/Gulf of America Hypoxia Task Force was established by The
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Environmental Protection Agency in 1997 to coordinate activities with twelve states within the Mississippi River Basin to
reduce nutrient loading in streams and tributaries through regulatory arr nd voluntary arr ctions. The strategy calls for, among
other matters, reducd tion of the floff w of excess nutrients into the Gulf of America through state nutrient reducd tion fraff meworks,
new nutrient reducd tion approaches and reducd tion of agricultural and urban sources of excess nutrients. Implementation of the
strategy will require legislative or regulatory arr ction at the state level. Through these heightened actions by the states, some
are also leveraging groundwater protection initiatives to mandate nutrient use restrictions for falff l appla ications in specificff
agriculturt al regions to limit nutrient losses. While some of the legislative actions have changed appla ication timing of nutrient
use, we cannot overall predict what the requirements of any such legislative or regulatory arr ction could be or whether or how
it would affect us or our customers.

Reclamation Obligations. During phosphate mining we remove overburden to retrieve phosphate rock reserves. Once we
have finished mining in an area, we use the overburden and sand tailings produced by the beneficiatioff n process to reclaim the
area in accordance with approved reclamation plans and appla icable laws. We have incurred and will continue to incur
significant costs to fulfilff l our reclamation obligations.

Management of Residual Materials all nd Closure of Mo anageMM ment Areas.Mining and processing of potash and phosphate
generate residual materials that must be managed both durd ing the operation of the facility and after facility closure. Potash
tailings, consisting primarily of salt and clay, are stored in surface disposal sites. Phosphate clay residuals from mining are
deposited in clay storage areas (“CSAs”). Processing of phosphate rock with sulfurff ic acid generates phosphogypsum that
currently is stored in Gypstacks.

During the life off f the tailings management areas, CSAs and Gypstacks, we have incurred and will continue to incur
significant costs to manage residual materials in accordance with environmental laws and regulations and with permit
requirements. Additional legal and permit requirements will take effect when these faciff lities are closed. Our AROs are furff ther
discussed in Note 14 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

New WalWW es Water Loss IncII idendd t. In August 2016, a sinkhole developed under one of the two cells of the Phase II Gypstack at
our New Wales facility in Polk County, Florida, resulting in process water froff m the stack draining into the sinkhole. The
incident was reported to the FDEP and EPA. In connection with the incident, our subsu idiary, Mosaic Fertilizer, LLC
(“Mosa“ ic Fertilitt zerii ”), entered into a consent order (“Order”) with the FDEP in October 2016. Pursuant to the Order, Mosaic
Fertilizer agreed to, among other things, implement an approved repair plan to close the sinkhole; perform additional water
monitoring and if necessary, assessment and rehabilitation activities in the event of identified offsite impacts; provide
financial assurance; and evaluate the risk of potential future sinkhole forff mation at our active Florida Gypstack operations.

Financial Assurance. Separate from our accounting treatment for reclamation and closure liabia lities, some jurisdictions in
which we operate require us either to pass a test of finff ancial strength or provide credit supporu t, typically cash deposits, surety
bonds, finff ancial guarantees or letters of credit, to address phosphate mining reclamation liabia lities and closure liabia lities forff
clay settling areas and Gypstacks. See “Other Commercial Commitments” under “Off-Bff alance Sheet Arrangements and
Obligations” abovea for additional information abouta these requirements. We also have obligations under certain consent
decrees and a separate financial assurance arrangement relating to our facilities in Florida and Louisiana. Two consent
decrees that became effective in 2016 resolved claims under RCRA and state hazardous waste laws relating to our
management of certain waste materials onsite at certain fertilizer manufactff urt ing faciff lities in Florida and Louisiana. Under
these consent decrees, in 2016, we deposited $630 million in cash into two trusr t fundsff to provide additional finff ancial
assurance forff the estimated costs of closure and post-closure care of our phosphogypsum management systems. In addition,
in 2017 we issued a letter of credit in the amount of $50 million to further support our financial assurance obligation under
the Florida 2015 Consent Decree. While our actuat l Gypstack Closure Costs are generally expected to be paid by us in the
normal course of our Phosphates business over a period that may not end until three decades or more afteff r a Gypstack has
been closed, the funds on deposit in the RCRA Trusr ts can be drawn by the appla icable governmental authority in the event we
cannot perform our closure and long-term care obligations. If and when our estimated Gypstack Closure Costs with respect to
the faciff lities associated with a RCRA Trusr t are sufficieff ntly lower than the amount on deposit in that RCRA Trusr t, we have
the right to request that the excess funds beff released to us. The same is truer for the RCRA Trusr t balance remaining after the
completion of our obligations, which will be perforff med over a period that may not end until three decades or more afteff r a
Gypstack has been closed. See the discussion under “EPA RCRA IRR nitiative” in Note 14 of our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements for additional information abouta these matters.
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We have fully funded a trusr t valued at $25 million (Canadian dollars) in satisfaction of finff ancial assurance requirements forff
closure of our Saskatchewan Potash facilities. Trusrr t performance is subju ect to review by the Province of Saskatchewan every
five years durd ing its existence.

In 2020, we executed and thereafteff r have maintained a surety bond in the amount of approximately $82 million to establish
financial assurance forff closure of our Carlsbad, New Mexico potash faciff lity with the U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau
of Land Management and the New Mexico Environment Department.

Climatell Change

We are committed to meeting the challenges of crop nutrient and animal feedff ingredient production while working to mitigate
greenhouse gas emissions. We have implemented innovative energy recovery technologies that result in our generation of
much of the energy we need, particularly in our U.S. Phosphates operations, froff m high efficiency heat recovery systems. In
2021, we announced our goal to achieve net-zero greenhouse gas emissions companywide by 2040.

Climate ChangeCC Regulate ion. Various governmental initiatives to limit greenhouse gas emissions are under way or under
consideration around the world. These initiatives could restrict our operating activities, require us to make changes in our
operating activities that would increase our operating costs, reduce our effiff ciency or limit our output, require us to make
capital improvements to our facilities, increase our energy, raw material and transportation costs or limit their availabia lity, or
otherwise adversely affect our results of operations, liquidity or capital resources, and these effects could be material to us.

The direct greenhouse gas emissions from our operations result primarily from:

• Combustion of naturt al gas to produce steam and dry potash products at our Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan potash
solution mine. To a lesser extent, at our potash shaft mines, natural gas is used as a fueff l to heat fresh air supplied to
the shaft mines and for drying potff ash products.

• The use of naturt al gas as a feedstock in the production of ammonia at our Faustina, Louisiana faciff lity.
• Process reactions from naturt ally occurring carbonar tes in phosphate rock.
• Operation of transport trucks, mining and construcrr tion equipment and other machinery prr owered by internal

combustion engines utilizing fosff sil fueff ls.

In addition, the production of energy and raw materials that we purchase froff m unrelated parties for usff e in our business and
energy used in the transportation of our products and raw materials are sources of greenhouse gas emissions.

Governmental greenhouse gas emission initiatives include, among others, the December 2015 agreement (the “Pa“ ris
Agreement”)t which was the outcome of the 21st session of the Conferenff ce of the Parties under the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change. The Paris Agreement, which was signed by nearly 200 nations, including the
U.S. and Canada, entered into forff ce in 2016 and sets out a goal of limiting the average rise in temperatures forff this century torr
below 2 degrees Celsius. Each signatory is expected to develop its own plan (referred to as a Nationally Determined
Contribution, or “NDC“ ”)CC for reaching that goal. The U.S. forff mally withdrew from the Paris Agreement in January 2025.

Various legislative or regulatory irr nitiatives relating to greenhouse gases have been adopted or considered by the U.S.
Congress, EPA or various states and those initiatives already adopted may be used to implement a U.S. NDC in the futurff e.
We will continue to monitor climate-related policy in the U.S.

Brazil ratified the Paris Agreement in September 2016, committing to a NDC that includes economy-wide greenhouse gas
reduction targets by 2030. Since 2020, the Brazilian Congress has been active in proposing climate-related legislation and
could approve nea w instrumrr ents to combat climate change in this current legislaturt e.

Canada’s intended NDC aims to achieve significant greenhouse gas emission reductions. In 2016, the Canadian fedff eral
government announced plans forff a comprehensive tax on carbonr emissions, under which provinces opting out of the tax
would have the option of adopting a cap-and-trade system. In the plans, the federal government also committed to
implementing a federal carbon prr icing backstop system that will apply in any province or territory that does not have a carbonr
pricing system in place by 2018. As of April 1, 2024 a carbonr tax of $80 per tonne now applies in Canada forff any emitter not
covered under the federal backstop program or approved provincial program. A revised plan was submu itted by Saskatchewan
to the federalff government in 2022, which was subsu equently approved in its entirety in November 2022. Our Saskatchewan
Potash facilities are subju ect to the Saskatchewan climate change plan regarding emissions at our facilities; however, indirect
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costs froff m the carbonr tax associated with electricity, naturt al gas consumption and transportation are currently passed through
to Mosaic. More stringent laws and regulations may be enacted to accomplish the goals set out in Canada’s NDC.

It is possible that futurff e legislation or regulation addressing climate change, including in response to the Paris Agreement or
any new international agreements, could adversely affect our operating activities, energy, raw material and transportation
costs, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources, and these effects could be material or adversely impact our
competitive advantage. In addition, to the extent climate change restrictions imposed in countries where our competitors
operate, such as China, India, former Soviet Union countries or Morocco, are less stringent than in our production regions,
our competitors could gain cost or other competitive advantages over us.

Operating ImpII acts Due to Climate ChangeCC . The prospective impact of climate change on our operations and those of our
customers and farmers remains uncertain. The impacts of climate change could include changes in rainfalff l patterns, water
shortages, changing sea levels, changing storm patterns and intensities and changing temperaturt e levels. These changes could
be severe. These impacts could vary by grr eographic location. Severe climate change could impact our costs and operating
activities, the location and cost of global grain and oilseed production, and the supplu y and demand for grains and oilseeds. At
the present time, we cannot predict the prospective impact of climate change on our results of operations, liquidity or capia tal
resources, or whether any such effects could be material to us.

Remedial Activities

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liabia lity Act (“CERCLACC ”) (aka Supeu rfund) and state analogues
impose liabia lity, without regard to fault or to the legality of a party’s conduct, on certain categories of persons, including
those who have disposed of “hazardous subsu tances” at a location. Under Superfund, or its various state analogues, one party
may be responsible forff the entire site, regardless of fauff lt or the locality of its disposal activity. We have contingent
environmental remedial liabia lities that arise principally froff m three sources which are further discussed below: (i) facilities
currently or formerly owned by our subsu idiaries or their predecessors; (ii) facilities adjacent to currently or formerly owned
facilities; and (iii) third-party Superfund or state equivalent sites where we are alleged to have disposed of hazardous
materials. Taking into consideration established accruarr ls for environmental remedial matters of approximately $197.5 million
as of December 31, 2024, expenditures forff these known conditions currently are not expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to have a material effect on our business or finff ancial condition. However, material expenditures could be required
in the futurff e to remediate the contamination at known sites or at other current or former sites.

Remediation at Our Facilities.Many of our formerly owned or current facilities have been in operation for deff cades. The
historical use and handling of regulated chemical subsu tances, crop and animal nutrients and additives as well as by-product or
process tailings at these facff ilities by us and predecessor operators have resulted in soil, surface water and groundwater
impacts.

At many of these facff ilities, spills or other releases of regulated subsu tances have occurred previously and potentially could
occur in the future, possibly requiring us to undertake or fundff cleanup effortff s under Superfund or otherwise. In some
instances we have agreed, pursuant to consent orders or agreements with the appropra iate governmental agencies, to undertake
certain investigations, which currently are in progress, to determine whether remedial action may be required to address site
impacts. At other locations, we have entered into consent orders or agreements with appropriate governmental agencies to
perform required remedial activities that will address identified site conditions. Taking into account establa ished accruals,
future expenditures forff these known conditions currently are not expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material
adverse effect on our business or finff ancial condition. However, material expenditures by us could be required in the future to
remediate the environmental impacts at these or at other current or former sites.

Remediation at ThiTT rd-Pdd arty Facilities. Various third parties have alleged that our historical operations have impacted
neighboring offsite areas or nearbyr third-party faciff lities. In some instances we have agreed, pursuant to orders froff m or
agreements with appropriate governmental agencies or agreements with private parties, to undertake or fundff investigations,
some of which currently are in progress, to determine whether remedial action, under Superfund or otherwise, may be
required to address offsite impacts. Our remedial liabia lity at these sites, either alone or in the aggregate, taking into account
establa ished accruar ls, currently is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our business or finff ancial condition. As
more information is obtained regarding these sites, this expectation could change.

Liability ftt orff Offsitff e Disposals Locations. Currently, we are involved or concluding involvement for offsiff te disposal at several
Supeu rfund orff equivalent state sites. Moreover, we previously have entered into settlements to resolve liabia lity with regard to
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Supeu rfund or equivalent state sites. In some cases, such settlements have included “reopeners,” which could result in
additional liabia lity at such sites in the event of newly discovered contamination or other circumstances. Our remedial liability
at such disposal sites, either alone or in the aggregate, currently is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our
business or finff ancial condition. As more information is obtained regarding these sites and the potentially responsible parties
involved, this expectation could change.

Product Requirements and ImpII acts

International, federal, state and provincial standards require us to register many of our products before these products can be
sold. The standards also impose labeling requirements on these products and require us to manufactff urt e the products to
formulations set forff th on the labels. We believe that, when handled and used as intended, based on the availabla e data, crop
nutrient materials do not pose harm to human health or the environment and that any additional standards or regulatory
requirements relating to product requirements and impacts will not have a material adverse effect on our business or finff ancial
condition.

Enviroii nmental JusJJ tice

Some state governments have adopted or are adopting standards or policies requiring environmental justice reviews in some
permitting actions. In general, they require governmental agencies to evaluate projects for diff sproportionate impacts to
disadvantaged or already burdened communities. If such conditions are found,ff they might result in a permit denial, or
restrictive or cost prohibitive conditions imposed on our operations and may impair our business and operations and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Sustainabilityii

We are committed to making informed choices that improve our corporate governance, financial strength, operational
effiff ciency, environmental stewardship, community engagement and resource management. Through these efforts, we intend
to sustain our business and experience lasting success.

We have included, or incorporate by reference, throughout this Form 10-K discussions of various matters relating to our
sustainability, in its broadest sense, that we believe may be material to our investors. These matters include, but are not
limited to, discussions about: corporate governance, including the leadership and respective roles of our Board of Directors
and its committees, and management; recent and prospective developments in our business; product development; risk,
enterprise risk management and risk oversight; the regulatory arr nd permitting environment for our busff iness and ongoing
regulatory arr nd permitting initiatives; executive compensation practices; employee and contractor safety; human capia tal
matters and other EHS matters, including climate change, water management, energy and other operational efficiency
initiatives: reclamation and AROs. Other matters relating to sustainability are included in our sustainability reports that are
availabla e on our website at www.mosaicco.com/ourresponsibility. Our sustainability reports are not incorporated by reference
in this Form 10-K.

Addidd tioii nal InfII orff mationrr

For additional information about phosphaa te mine permitting in Florida, our environmental liabia lities, the environmental
proceedings in which we are involved, our AROs related to environmental matters and our related accounting policies, see
Environmental Liabia lities and AROs under Critical Accounting Estimates abovea and Notes 2, 14, and 23 of our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contingenciesg

Information regarding contingencies in Note 23 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements is incorporated herein by
reference.

Related Parties

Information regarding related party transactions is set forff th in Note 24 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and
is incorporated herein by reference.
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Recently Issued Accounting Guidancey g

Recently issued accounting guidance is set forth in Note 3 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward Looking Inforff mationy g g g

All statements, other than statements of historical facff t, appearing in this report constitute “forff ward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reforff m Act of 1995. These forff ward looking statements include,
among other things, statements about oura expectations, beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future, including statements
about proposed or pending future transactions or strategic plans, statements concerning our future operations, finff ancial
condition and prospects, statements regarding our expectations for capital expenditures, statements concerning our level of
indebtedness and other information, and any statements of assumptions regarding any of the forff egoing. In particular, forff ward-
looking statements may include words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,”
“potential,” “predict,” “project” or “should”. These statements involve certain risks and uncertainties that may cause actualt
results to differ materially from expectations as of the date of this filinff g.

Factors that could cause reported results to differ materially froff m those expressed or implied by the forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, the folff lowing:

• business and economic conditions and governmental policies affecting the agricultural industry wrr here we or our
customers operate, including price and demand volatility resulting from periodic imbalances of supplu y and demand;

• because of political and economic instability, civil unrest or changes in government policies in Brazil, Peru or other
countries in which we do business, our operations could be disruptu ed as higher costs of doing business could result,
including those associated with implementation of new freight tabla es and new mining legislation;

• potential U.S. imposed tariffs on Canadian potash imports and retaliatory tariffs by Canada or other countries on
U.S. phosphates exports;

• changes in farff mers’ appla ication rates for crop nutrients;

• changes in the operation of world phosphate or potash markets, including consolidation in the crop nutrient industry,rr
particularly if we do not participate in the consolidation;

• the expansion or contraction of production capaa city or selling effortff s by competitors or new entrants in the industries
in which we operate, including the effects of actions by members of Canpotex to prove the production capacity of
potash expansion projeo cts, through proving runs or otherwise;

• the effeff ct of future product innovations or development of new technologies on demand for our products;

• seasonality in our business that results in the need to carry significant amounts of inventory arr nd seasonal peaks in
working capital requirements, which may result in excess inventory orr r product shortages;

• changes in the costs, or constraints on supplies, of raw materials or energy used in manufactff urt ing our products, or in
the costs or availabia lity of transportation for our producff ts;

• economic and market conditions including supplu y chain challenges and increased costs and delays caused by
transportation and labora shortages;

• declines in our selling prices or significant increases in costs that can require us to write down our inventories to the
lower of cost or market, or require us to impair goodwill or other long-lived assets, or establish a valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets;

• the lag in realizing the benefitff of falling market prices for the raw materials we use to produce our products that can
occur while we consume raw materials that we purchased or committed to purchase in the past at higher prices;

• disruptu ions of our operations at any of our key production, distribution, transportation or terminaling faciff lities,
including those of Canpotex or any joint venture in which we participate;

• shortages or other unavailabia lity of trucksr , railcars, tugs, barges and ships forff carrying our products and raw
materials;

• the effeff cts of and change in trade, monetary, environmental, tax and fiscal policies, laws and regulations;
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• forff eign exchange rates and fluctuations in those rates;

• tax regulations, currency exchange controls and other restrictions that may affect our ability to optimize the use of
our liquidity;

• adverse weather and climate conditions affeff cting our operations, including the impact of potential hurricanes,
excessive heat, cold, snow, rainfalff l or drought;

• diffiff culties or delays in receiving, challenges to, increased costs of obtaining or satisfying conditions of, orff
revocation or withdrawal of required governmental and regulatory arr pprovaa ls, including permitting activities;

• changes in the environmental and other governmental regulation that appla ies to our operations, including federal
legislation or regulatory arr ction expanding the types and extent of water resources regulated under federalff law and
the possibility of further fedff eral or state legislation or regulatory arr ction affecting or related to greenhouse gas
emissions, including carbon taxes or other measures that may be implemented in Canada or other jurisdictions in
which we operate, or of restrictions or liabilities related to elevated levels of naturt ally-occurring radiation that arise
from disturbing the ground in the course of mining activities or possible efforts to reducd e the flow of nutrients into
the Gulf of America, the Mississippi River basin or elsewhere;

• the potential costs and effects of implementation of federalff or state water quality standards forff the discharge of
nitrogen and/or phosphorus into Florida waterways;

• the financial resources of our competitors, including state-owned and government-subsidized entities in other
countries;

• the possibility of defaults by our customers on trade credit that we extend to them or on indebtedness that they incur
to purchase our products and that we guarantee;

• any significant reduction in customers’ liquidity or access to credit that they need to purchase our products;

• the effeff ctiveness of the processes we put in place to manage our significant strategic priorities and to successfulff ly
integrate and grow acquired businesses;

• actuat l costs of various items differiff ng from management’s current estimates, including, among others, asset
retirement, environmental remediation, reclamation or other environmental obligations;

• the costs and effeff cts of legal and administrative proceedings and regulatory mrr atters affeff cting us, including
environmental, tax or administrative proceedings, complaints that our operations are adversely impacting nearby
farms, businesses, other property uses or properties, settlements thereof and actions taken by courts with respect to
approvals of settlements, costs related to defending and resolving global audit, appeal or court activity and other
further developments in legal proceedings and regulatory mrr atters;

• the success of our effortff s to attract and retain highly qualified and motivated employees;

• strikes, labor stoppages or slowdowns by our work force or increased costs resulting froff m unsuccessfulff labora
contract negotiations, and the potential costs and effects of compliance with new regulations affeff cting our
workforce, which increasingly focff us on wages and hours, healthcare, retirement and other employee benefitff s;

• brine inflows at our potash mines;

• accidents or other incidents involving our properties or operations, including potential firff es, explosions, seismic
events, sinkholes, unsuccessfulff tailings management, ineffective mine safety procedurd es or releases of hazardous or
volatile chemicals;

• terrorism, armed confliff ct or other malicious intentional acts, including cybersecurity risks such as attempts to gain
unauthorized access to, or disabla e, our information technology systems, or our costs of addressing malicious
intentional acts;

• actions by the holders of controlling equity interests in businesses in which we hold a noncontrolling interest;

• changes in our relationship with the other member of Canpotex or any joint venture in which we participate or their
or our exit from participation in Canpotex or any such export association or joint venture, and other changes in our
commercial arrangements with unrelated third parties; and

• other risk factors reported froff m time to time in our SEC reports.
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Material uncertainties and other factors known to us are discussed in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of our Form 10-K forff the year
ended December 31, 2024 and incorporated by reference herein as if fulff ly stated herein.

We base our forward-looking statements on information currently availabla e to us, and we undertake no obligation to updau te
or revise any of these statements, whether as a result of changes in underlying factors, new information, future events or other
developments.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
The Mosaic Company:

Opinion on thett Consolidatdd ed Financial StateSS ments

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Mosaic Company and subsu idiaries (the Company) as
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss), equity, and
cash floff ws for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the finff ancial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash floff ws
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in
Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission, and our report dated March 3, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over finff ancial reporting.

Basis fii orff Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federalff securities laws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether dued to error or fraff ud. Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether dued to error or fraff ud, and performing procedurd es that respond
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit MatMM ter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising froff m the current period audit of the consolidated financial
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subju ective,
or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Evaluation of ao sset retirement obligations for water treatment costs

As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has recorded asset retirement obligations
(AROs) of $2,572.2 million as of December 31, 2024. The ARO includes the planned treatment of contaminated water
(“water treatment costs”) and other asset retirement activities at the Company’s Florida and Louisiana faciff lities.

We identifieff d the evaluation of asset retirement obligations for water treatment costs as a critical audit matter. Specialized
skills and knowledge were required to evaluate the Company’s selection of planned water treatment activities to satisfy their
legal obligation. In addition, there was a high degree of subjective auditor judgment dued to the sensitivity of the AROs to
minor changes to significant assumptions, such as the volume of contaminated water and the forff ecasted level of
contamination used to estimate the water treatment costs per thousand gallons (“unit costs”).

The folff lowing are the primary prr rocedurd es performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested
the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s ARO process. This included controls related
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to the knowledge, skill, and ability of third-party specialists and their relationship to the Company, determination of
necessary activities required to treat contaminated water, and the development of the significant assumptions utilized in the
process. We compared water treatment unit cost estimates to actuat l spending and water quality measurements. We evaluated
the Company’s ability to accurately estimate water treatment costs by comparing the Company’s prior year estimates to the
actuat l water treatment costs incurred. We performed sensitivity analyses over the volume of contaminated water and the unit
costs assumptions to assess their impact on the water treatment costs estimate. Due to the specialized skills and knowledge
used by the Company to select water treatment activities, we involved an environmental engineering professional with
specialized skills and knowledge. This professional assisted in assessing the professional qualifications of the Company’s
environmental engineers and engineering firm, inff cluding the knowledge, skill, and abia lity of the engineers, and the
relationship of the engineers and engineering firff m to the Company. In addition, the environmental engineering professional
evaluated the Company’s planned asset retirement activities by analyzing the Company’s specialist’s reports. This
profesff sional evaluated significant engineering assumptions listed above and compared the planned activities per the
specialist’s reports to other information obtained durd ing the audit, such as:

- permits obtained which specify tff he Company’s legal obligations
- reports to state regulators on the level of contamination in water balances.

We evaluated the Company’s changes in assumptions for the volume of contaminated water and the forff ecasted level of
contamination by comparing them to actuat l results from the prior year, as well as assessing operational changes that could
impact estimated water volumes, contamination levels, or necessary treatment activities.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2004.

Tampa, Florida
March 3, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
The Mosaic Company:

Opinion on IntII ernal Controt l Over FinFF ancial Reporting

We have audited The Mosaic Company and subsu idiaries' (the Company) internal control over finff ancial reporting as of
December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects,
effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control –
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated
statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss), equity, and cash floff ws for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated
March 3, 2025 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Basis fii orff Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial reporting and for its
assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over finff ancial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over finff ancial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firff m registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federalff securities laws and the appla icable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over finff ancial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit of internal control over finff ancial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over finff ancial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedurd es as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

Defie nition and Limitations of Internal Controt l Over FinFF ancial Reporting

A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of finff ancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of finff ancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonabla e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the finff ancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futurff e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Tampa, Florida
March 3, 2025
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Consolidll atdd edtt Stattt emtt ents of Earnings
In millions, except per share amounts

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net sales $ 11,122.8 $ 13,696.1 $ 19,125.2
Cost of goods sold 9,610.9 11,485.5 13,369.4
Gross margin 1,511.9 2,210.6 5,755.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses 496.9 500.5 498.0
Other operating expenses 393.5 372.0 472.5
Operating earnings 621.5 1,338.1 4,785.3
Interest expense, net (182.8) (129.4) (137.8)
Foreign currency transaction (loss) gain (685.8) 194.0 97.5
Gain on sale of equity investment 522.2 — —
Other income (expense) 40.3 (76.8) (102.5)
Earnings from consolidated companies beforff e income taxes 315.4 1,325.9 4,642.5
Provision for income taxes 186.7 177.0 1,224.3
Earnings from consolidated companies 128.7 1,148.9 3,418.2
Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies 73.3 60.3 196.0
Net earnings including noncontrolling interests 202.0 1,209.2 3,614.2
Less: Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests 27.1 44.3 31.4
Net earnings attributable to Mosaic $ 174.9 $ 1,164.9 $ 3,582.8

Basic net earnings per share attributable to Mosaic $ 0.55 $ 3.52 $ 10.17
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding 319.8 331.3 352.4
Diluted net earnings per share attributable to Mosaic $ 0.55 $ 3.50 $ 10.06
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 320.7 333.2 356.0

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidll atdd edtt Stattt emtt ents of Comprehensive IncII ome (Lo(( ss)
In millions

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Net earnings including noncontrolling interest $ 202.0 $ 1,209.2 $ 3,614.2
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax

Foreign currency translation gain (loss) (495.6) 154.1 (255.0)
Net actuat rial gain and prior service cost 10.9 20.1 19.7
Realized gain (loss) on interest rate swap (0.1) 1.4 1.5
Net gain (loss) on marketable securities held in trust fund (14.8) 23.7 (24.8)

Other comprehensive income (loss) (499.6) 199.3 (258.6)
Comprehensive income (loss) (297.6) 1,408.5 3,355.6
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest 21.6 46.3 33.2
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Mosaic $ (319.2) $ 1,362.2 $ 3,322.4

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidll atdd edtt Balance SheSS ets
In millions, except per share amounts

December 31,
2024 2023

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 272.8 $ 348.8
Receivables, net 1,113.3 1,269.2
Inventories 2,548.4 2,523.2
Other current assets 563.8 603.8
Total current assets 4,498.3 4,745.0

Property, plant and equipment, net 13,352.6 13,585.4
Equity securities and investments in nonconsolidated companies 1,533.4 909.0
Goodwill 1,061.1 1,138.6
Deferred income taxes 958.3 1,079.2
Other assets 1,520.3 1,575.6
Total assets $ 22,924.0 $ 23,032.8

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabia lities:
Short-term debt $ 847.1 $ 399.7
Current maturt ities of long-term debt 45.3 130.1
Structurt ed accounts payable arrangements 402.3 399.9
Accounts payablea 1,156.5 1,166.9
Accruer d liabia lities 1,720.1 1,777.1
Total current liabilities 4,171.3 3,873.7

Long-term debt, less current maturities 3,332.3 3,231.6
Deferred income taxes 942.8 1,065.5
Other noncurrent liabia lities 2,862.9 2,429.2
Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 15,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized, 394,648,654 shares
issued and 316,932,047 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2024, 393,875,241 shares
issued and 324,103,141 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 3.2 3.2
Capia tal in excess of par value 2.1 —
Retained earnings 13,926.1 14,241.9
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (2,449.0) (1,954.9)
Total Mosaic stockholders’ equity 11,482.4 12,290.2

Non-controlling interests 132.3 142.6
Total equity 11,614.7 12,432.8
Total liabia lities and equity $ 22,924.0 $ 23,032.8

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidll atdd edtt Stattt emtt ents of Cash Flowsll
In millions, except per share amounts

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Cash Flows froff m Operating Activities
Net earningsrr including noncontrolling interests $ 202.0 $ 1,209.2 $ 3,614.2
Adjud stments to reconcile net earningsrr including noncontrolling interests to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,025.5 960.6 933.9
Deferred and other income taxes (142.9) (261.2) 344.4
Equity in net (earnings) of nonconsolidated companies, net of dividends (55.7) (31.8) (191.5)
Accretion expense forff asset retirement obligations 111.2 96.1 81.6
Amortization of debt finff ancing fees 36.5 21.4 7.2
Share-based compensation expense 31.8 33.0 27.9
Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives 104.1 (29.0) 4.3
Foreign currency adjustments 462.7 (94.0) (67.9)
(Gain) loss on sale of securities (2.4) 19.4 46.6
Pension settlement loss — 42.4 41.9
Gain on sale of business — (56.5) —
Gain on sale of equity investment (538.2) — —
Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities (28.3) — —
Other 71.8 95.9 85.7

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables, net 59.2 526.3 (215.2)
Inventories, net (275.6) 1,061.4 (749.6)
Other current assets and noncurrent assets (79.2) (239.2) (247.4)
Accounts payable and accruerr d liabia lities 96.4 (1,055.1) 219.8
Other noncurrent liabilities 220.3 108.3 (0.1)
Net cash provided by operating activities 1,299.2 2,407.2 3,935.8

Cash Flows froff m Investing Activities
Capia tal expenditures (1,251.8) (1,402.4) (1,247.3)
Purchases of availabla e-for-sale securities - restricted (1,529.7) (1,240.8) (762.5)
Proceeds froff m sale of availabla e-for-sale securities - restricted 1,501.1 1,209.1 743.0
Proceeds froff m sale of business — 158.4 —
Acquisition of business — (41.0) —
Other 19.4 (0.5) 7.2
Net cash used in investing activities (1,261.0) (1,317.2) (1,259.6)

Cash Flows froff m Financing Activities
Payments of short-term debt (16,779.6) (9,832.0) (1,761.2)
Proceeds froff m issuance of short-term debt 17,032.8 10,007.1 1,980.5
Payments from inventory frr inff ancing arrangement (1,805.0) (601.4) (1,651.5)
Proceeds froff m inventory frr inff ancing arrangement 2,004.5 601.4 1,348.8
Payments of structurt ed accounts payable arrangements (755.0) (1,432.9) (1,476.6)
Proceeds froff m strucrr tured accounts payable arrangements 737.3 1,048.2 1,460.5
Collections of transferff red receivables 425.5 1,468.6 2,352.1
Payments of transferff red receivables (425.5) (1,468.6) (2,433.2)
Payments of long-term debt (67.2) (995.3) (610.3)
Proceeds froff m issuance of long-term debt 70.3 900.0 —
Repurchases of stock (235.4) (756.0) (1,665.2)
Cash dividends paid (270.7) (351.6) (197.7)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (31.9) (41.5) (38.0)
Other (32.0) (26.5) 13.1
Net cash used in finff ancing activities (131.9) (1,480.5) (2,678.7)

Effeff ct of exchange rate changes on cash 37.9 (2.8) (29.7)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (55.8) (393.3) (32.2)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—beginning of yehh ar 360.8 754.1 786.3
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash—end of yehh ar $ 305.0 $ 360.8 $ 754.1

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidll atdd edtt Stattt emtt ents of Cash Flowll s (Co(( ntintt ued)
In millions, except per share amounts

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated
balance sheets to the consolidated statements of cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 272.8 $ 348.8 $ 735.4

Restricted cash in other current assets 14.9 8.6 8.2

Restricted cash in other assets 17.3 3.4 10.5

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash floff ws $ 305.0 $ 360.8 $ 754.1

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidll atdd edtt Stattt emtt ents of Equityii
In millions, except per share data

Dollars
Shares Mosaic Stockholders

Common
Stock

Common
Stock

Capital in
Excess

of Par Value
Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Non-
Controlling
Interests

Total
Equity

Balance as of December 31, 2021 368.7 $ 3.7 $ 478.0 $ 12,014.2 $ (1,891.8) $ 144.4 $ 10,748.5
Total comprehensive income (loss) — — — 3,582.8 (260.4) 33.2 3,355.6
Vesting of restricted stock units 1.2 — (19.2) — — — (19.2)
Stock based compensation — — 31.5 — — — 31.5
Stock option exercises — — 16.0 — — — 16.0
Repurchases of stock (30.8) (0.3) (506.3) (1,166.6) — — (1,673.2)
Dividends ($0.60 per share) — — — (227.0) — — (227.0)
Dividends for noncontrolling interests — — — — — (38.0) (38.0)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 339.1 3.4 — 14,203.4 (2,152.2) 139.6 12,194.2
Total comprehensive income — — — 1,164.9 197.3 46.3 1,408.5
Vesting of restricted stock units 1.9 — (0.8) (53.4) — — (54.2)
Stock based compensation — — 33.0 — — — 33.0
Share repurchases, including tax of $6.4 million (16.9) (0.2) (32.2) (722.0) — — (754.4)
Dividends ($0.85 per share) — — — (351.0) — — (351.0)
Equity to noncontrolling interests — — — — — (43.3) (43.3)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 324.1 3.2 — 14,241.9 (1,954.9) 142.6 12,432.8
Total comprehensive income — — — 174.9 (494.1) 21.6 (297.6)
Vesting of restricted stock units 0.7 — — (10.5) — — (10.5)
Stock based compensation — — 31.8 — — — 31.8
Share repurchases, including tax of $2.1 million (7.9) — (29.7) (207.8) — — (237.5)
Dividends ($0.85 per share) — — — (272.4) — — (272.4)
Dividends for noncontrolling interests — — — — — (31.9) (31.9)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 316.9 $ 3.2 $ 2.1 $ 13,926.1 $ (2,449.0) $ 132.3 $ 11,614.7

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Ctt onCC solidatedtt Financii ial StatemeSS nts
Tables in millions, except per share amounts

1. ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Mosaic Company (“Mosa“ ic,” and, with its consolidated subsu idiaries, “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company”) produces
and markets concentrated phosphate and potash crop nutrients. We conduct our business through wholly- and majoa rity-owned
subsu idiaries and businesses in which we own less than a majority or a noncontrolling interest, including consolidated variable
interest entities and investments accounted for by the equity method.

We are organized into the folff lowing business segments:

• Our Phosphates business segment owns and operates mines and production facilities in Florida which produce
concentrated phosphate crop nutrients and phosphate-based animal feedff ingredients, and processing plants in
Louisiana which produce concentrated phosphate crop nutrients. We have a 75% economic interest in the Miski
Mayo Phosphate Mine in Peru. These results are consolidated in the Phosphates segment. Through December 24,
2024, the Phosphates segment included our prior 25% interest in the Ma’aden Wa’ad Al Shamal Phosphate
Company (“MWS“ PCSS ”)CC , a joint venture to develop, own and operate integrated phosphate production faciff lities in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. On December 24, 2024, we exchanged our ownership of MWSPC for shares of Ma’aden.
Our equity in the net earnings or losses relating to MWSPC were recognized on a one-quarter lag in our
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

• Our Potash business segment owns and operates potash mines and production facilities in Canada and the U.S.
which produce potash-based crop nutrients, animal feedff ingredients and industrial products. Potash sales include
domestic and international sales. We are a member of Canpotex, Limited (“Canpotextt ”), an export association of
Canadian potash producers through which we sell our Canadian potash outside the U.S. and Canada.

• OurMosaic Fertilizantes business segment includes fivff e Brazilian phosphate rock mines, four phosphaff te chemical
plants and a potash mine in Brazil. The segment also includes our distribution business in South America, which
consists of sales offices, crop nutrient blending and bagging facilities, port terminals and warehouses in Brazil and
Paraguay. We also have a majority interest in Fospar S.A., which owns and operates a single superphosphate
granulation plant and a deep-water port and throughput warehouse terminal facility in Brazil.

Intersegment eliminations, unrealized mark-to-market gains/losses on derivatives and investment in equity securities of
Ma'aden, debt expenses and the results of the China and India distribution businesses are included within Corporate,
Eliminations and Other.

2. SUMMARY OR F SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Stattt emtt ent PresePP ntattt iott n and Basis oii f Co onCC solidatdd iontt

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”)P . Throughout the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
amounts in tables are in millions of dollars except forff per share data and as otherwise designated.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Mosaic and its majority-owned subsu idiaries.
Certain investments in companies in which we do not have control but have the abia lity to exercise significant influff ence are
accounted for by the equity method.

Accountintt g EstEE imatestt

Preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affeff ct the reported amounts of assets and liabia lities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabia lities at the
date of the finff ancial statements and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses during the reporting periods. The most
significant estimates made by management relate to the recoverabia lity of non-current assets including goodwill, the useful
lives and net realizable values of long-lived assets, environmental and reclamation liabia lities, including asset retirement
obligations (“ARO“ ”), and income tax-related accounts, including the valuation allowance against deferred income tax assets.
Actual results could diffeff r froff m these estimates.
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Revenue Recogno itiontt

We generate revenues primarily by producing and marketing phosphate and potash crop nutrients. Revenue is recognized
when control of the product is transferred to the customer, which is generally upon transferff of title to the customer based on
the contractuat l terms of each arrangement. Title is typically transferred to the customer upon shipment of the product. In
certain circumstances, which are referred to as finff al price deferff red arrangements, we ship product prior to the establishment
of a valid sales contract. In such cases, we retain control of the product and do not recognize revenue until a sales contract has
been agreed to with the customer.

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for the transferff of our goods. Our
products are generally sold based on market prices prevailing at the time the sales contract is signed or through contracts
which are priced at the time of shipment, except forff the finff al priced deferred arrangements discussed abovea . Sales incentives
are volumetric based annual programs and recorded as a reducd tion of revenue at the time of sale. We estimate the variablea
consideration related to our sales incentive programs based on the sales terms with customers and historical experience.
Historically, sales incentives have represented 1% or less of total revenue and there have not been significant adjustments to
such estimates in the finff ancial statements.

We sell Canadian-sourced potash outside Canada and the U.S. exclusively through Canpotex distribution. Canpotex sells
potash to buyers in export markets pursuant to term and spot contracts at agreed upon prices. For sales through this channel,
our revenue is recognized at the amount received froff m Canpotex representing proceeds froff m their sale of potash, less net
costs of Canpotex. Sales are recognized when control is transferred to Canpotex, typically upon shipment of the product to
Canpotex, and adjud sted at the end of each reporting period based upon the updau ted estimated pricing or final pricing from
Canpotex. Prior to final pricing, revenue is recognized only to the extent that it is probable a significant reversal of revenue
will not occur. The constraint is estimated each period based on historical experience, market trends and industry drr ata. The
estimated constraint is not material to the Company’s finff ancial statements.

Due to our membership in Canpotex, we eliminate the intra-entity profit with Canpotex at the end of each reporting period
and present that profitff elimination by reversing revenue and cost of goods sold for the inventory rrr emaining at Canpotex. For
more information regarding our relationship with Canpotex and accounting considerations, see Note 9 of our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements. For information regarding sales by product type and by geographic area, see Note 25 of
our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The timing of recognition of revenue related to our performance obligations may be differeff nt than the timing of collection of
cash related to those performance obligations. Specifically, we collect prepayments froff m certain customers in Brazil. In
addition, cash collection from Canpotex may occur prior to delivery of product to the end customer. We generally satisfy off ur
contractuat l liabia lities within one quarter of incurring the liabia lity.

Other key revenue recognition accounting policies include:

• Shipping and handling costs are included as a component of cost of goods sold.

• We generally expense sales commissions when incurred because the amortization period would have been one year
or less. These costs are recorded within sales and marketing expenses.

• We have elected to recognize the cost forff freight and shipping as an expense in cost of sales, when control over the
product has passed to the customer.

Non-In- come Taxesaa

We pay Canadian resource taxes consisting of the Potash Producd tion Tax and resource surcharge. The Potash Production Tax
is a Saskatchewan provincial tax on potash production and consists of a base payment and a profits taff x. In addition to the
Canadian resource taxes, royalties are payable to the mineral owners with respect to potash reserves or production of potash.
These resource taxes and royalties are recorded in our cost of goods sold. Our Canadian resource tax and royalty expenses
were $272.7 million, $457.0 million and $1.0 billion durd ing 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

We have approximately $96.2 million of assets recorded as of December 31, 2024 related to PIS and Cofinff s, which is a
Brazilian federal value-added tax. This amount was mostly earned in 2008 through 2022; we believe that it will be realized
through offsff etting income tax payments or other federal taxes or receiving cash refundsff . As of December 31, 2023 we had
approximately $136.5 million of assets recorded for these matters. Should the Brazilian government determine that these are
not valid credits upon audit, this could impact our results in such period. We have recorded the PIS and Cofinff s credits at
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amounts which we believe are probable of collection. Information regarding PIS and Cofins taxes already audited is included
in Note 23 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Tc raTT nslation

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. dollar; however, for opeff rations located in Canada and Brazil, the funcff tional
currency is the local currency. Assets and liabia lities of these forff eign operations are translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates
in effeff ct at the balance sheet date, while income statement accounts and cash floff ws are translated to U.S. dollars at the
average exchange rates forff the period. For these operations, translation gains and losses are recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income in equity until the forff eign entity is sold or liquidated. Transaction gains and losses
result from transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the funcff tional currency of the operation, primarily
accounts receivable and intercompany loans in our Canadian entities denominated in U.S. dollars, intercompany loans
receivable in our U.S. entities denominated in Brazilian real, and accounts payable in Brazil denominated in U.S. dollars.
These forff eign currency transaction gains and losses are presented separately in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Cash and CasCC h Equivalenll ts

Cash and cash equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less and other
highly liquid investments that are payable on demand such as money market accounts, certain certificates of deposit and
repurchase agreements. The carrying amount of such cash equivalents approxia mates their fair value dued to the short-term and
highly liquid naturt e of these instruments.

Concentratiott n of Co reCC dit Rii isk

In the U.S., we sell our products to manufactff urt ers, distributors and retailers primarily in the Midwest and Southeast.
Internationally, our potash products are sold primarily through Canpotex, an export association. A concentration of credit risk
arises from our sales and accounts receivable associated with the international sales of potash product through Canpotex. We
consider our concentration risk related to the Canpotex receivable to be mitigated by their credit policy, which requires the
underlying receivables to be subsu tantially insured or secured by letters of credit. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there
were $65.1 million and $193.1 million, respectively, of trade accounts receivable dued from Canpotex. During 2024, 2023 and
2022, sales to Canpotex were $884.3 million, $1.3 billion and $3.0 billion, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories of raw materials, work-in-process products, finisff hed goods and operating materials and supplies are stated at the
lower of cost or net realizable value. Costs forff subsu tantially all inventories are determined using the weighted average cost
basis. To determine the cost of inventory, we allocate fixff ed expense to the costs of production based on the normal capacity,
which refers to a range of production levels and is considered the production expected to be achieved over a number of
periods or seasons under normal circumstances, taking into account the loss of capacity resulting froff m planned maintenance.
Fixed overhead costs allocated to each unit of production should not increase dued to abnormally low production. Those
excess costs are recognized as a current period expense. When a production faciff lity is completely shut down temporarily, it is
considered “idle”, and all related expenses are charged to cost of goods sold.

Net realizable value of our inventory irr s definff ed as forecasted selling prices less reasonably predictable selling costs.
Significant management judgment is involved in estimating forff ecasted selling prices including various demand and supply
variables. Examples of demand variables include grain and oilseed prices, stock-to-use ratios and changes in inventories in
the crop nutrients distribution channels. Examples of supply variabla es include forecasted prices of raw materials, such as
phosphate rock, sulfur, ammonia and natural gas, estimated operating rates and industry crr rop nutrient inventory lrr evels.
Results could diffeff r materially if actuat l selling prices differ materially from forff ecasted selling prices. Charges for lower of
cost or market are recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Earnings in the period when there is evidence of a decline of
market value below cost.

Property,tt Planll t and Equipmii ent and Recoverabilitii y ott f Lo ong-Li- ved Assets

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Costs of significant assets include capitalized interest incurred durd ing the
construcrr tion and development period. Repairs and maintenance, including planned major maintenance and plant turt naround
costs, are expensed when incurred.
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Currently, we do not have any material exploration or development stage mining projeo cts. When we transition to new mining
areas within our current properties, we incur minimal pre-mining costs related to the permitting process and land preparation
activities, such as water management control and construcrr tion of roads and access points. These costs are capitalized as part
of our mineral properties and rights. Mineral properties and rights at our operations include mineral reserves and mineral
resources. Mineral resources have not yet been scheduled in formal mine plans and therefore are not subju ect to depletion.
Depletion expenses for mining operations, including mineral reserves, are generally determined using the units-of-producd tion
method based on estimates of proven and probable reserves. Depreciation is computed principally using the straight-line
method and units-of-production method over the following useful lives: machinery arr nd equipment: three to 25 years; and
buildings and leasehold improvements: three to 40 years.

We estimate initial useful lives based on experience and current technology. These estimates may be extended through
sustaining capia tal programs. Factors affecting the fair value of our assets or periods of expected use may also affeff ct the
estimated usefulff lives of our assets and these factors can change. Therefore, we periodically review the estimated remaining
lives of our facilities and other significant assets and adjust our depreciation rates prospectively where appropriate.

Long-lived assets, including fixed assets and right-of-use assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverabla e. An impairment assessment involves management
judgment and estimates of facff tors such as industry arr nd market conditions, the economic life off f the asset, sales volume and
prices, inflatioff n, raw materials costs, cost of capital, tax rates and capital spending. The carrying amount of a long-lived asset
group is not recoverabla e if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash floff ws expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset group. If it is determined that an impairment loss has occurred, the loss is measured as the amount by
which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset group exceeds its fair value.

Leases

Right of use (“ROU“ ”)UU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset forff the lease term. Lease liabia lities represent our
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabia lities are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease, based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do
not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information availabla e at the commencement
date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company’s incremental borrowing rate for a lease is the rate of
interest it would have to pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms.
For both operating and finance leases, the initial ROU asset equals the lease liabia lity, plus initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Our lease agreements may include options to extend or terminate the lease, which are included in the
lease term at the commencement date when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. In general, we do not
consider optional periods included in our lease agreements as reasonably certain of exercise at inception.

At inception, we determine whether an arrangement is a lease and the appropra iate lease classification. Operating leases with
terms greater than twelve months are included as operating lease ROU assets within other assets and the associated lease
liabia lities within accrued liabia lities and other noncurrent liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases with
terms greater than twelve months are included as finff ance ROU assets within property and equipment and the associated
finance lease liabia lities within current maturities of long-term debt and long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheets.

Leases with terms of less than twelve months, referff red to as short-term leases, do not create a ROU asset or lease liabia lity on
the balance sheet.

We have lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for separately. For fulff l-
service railcar leases, we account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. Additionally, for
certain equipment leases, we apply assumptions using a portfolff io approach, given the generally consistent terms of the
agreements. Lease payments based on usage (for example, per-mile or per-hour charges), referred to as variabla e lease costs,
are recorded separately from the determination of the ROU asset and lease liabia lity.

Contintt gencies

Accruar ls for environmental remediation efforts are recorded when costs are probable and can be reasonably estimated. In
determining these accruals, we use the most current information availabla e, including similar past experiences, available
technology, consultant evaluations, regulations in effeff ct, the timing of remediation and cost-sharing arrangements.
Adjud stments to accruarr ls, recorded as needed in our Consolidated Statement of Earnings each quarter, are made to reflect
changes in and current status oft these factff ors.
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We are involved froff m time to time in claims and legal actions incidental to our operations, both as plaintiff aff nd defendant.
We have establa ished what we currently believe to be adequate accruarr ls for pending legal matters. These accruarr ls are
establa ished as part of an ongoing worldwide assessment of claims and legal actions that takes into consideration such items as
advice of legal counsel, individual developments in court proceedings, changes in the law, changes in business focff us, changes
in the litigation environment, changes in opponent strategy and tactics, new developments as a result of ongoing discovery
and our experience in defending and settling similar claims. The litigation accruarr ls at any time reflect updated assessments of
the then-existing claims and legal actions. The final outcome or potential settlement of litigation matters could differff
materially from the accruarr ls which we have established. Legal costs are expensed as incurred.

Pension and Othett r PosPP tretirtt ement Benefitsff

Mosaic offersff a number of benefitff plans that provide pension and other benefits toff qualified employees. These plans include
defined benefitff pension plans, supplu emental pension plans, defined contribution plans and other postretirement benefitff plans.

We accruerr the fundeff d status of our plans, which is representative of our obligations under employee benefitff plans and the
related costs, net of plan assets measured at fair value. The cost of pensions and other retirement benefitsff earned by
employees is generally determined with the assistance of an actuary urr sing the projeo cted benefit method prorated on service
and management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation, retirement ages of employees
and expected healthcare costs.

Addidd tiii onal Accountintt g PolPP icll ies

To facilitate a better understanding of our consolidated financial statements we have disclosed the folff lowing significant
accounting policies (with the exception of those identified abovea ) throughout the folff lowing notes, with the related financial
disclosures by major capta ion:
Note Topic Page

9 Equity Securities and Investments in Non-Consolidated Companies 51
10 Goodwill 52
11 Structured Accounts Payable Arrangements 52
12 Marketable Securities Held in Trusts 55
13 Income Taxes 57
14 Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations 62
15 Accounting for Derivative and Hedging Activities 63
16 Fair Value Measurements 64

3. RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE

In September 2022, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued guidance which requires that a buyer in a
supplu ier finff ancing program make annual disclosures about the program’s key terms, the balance sheet presentation of related
amounts, the confirff med amount outstanding at the end of the period and associated rollforff ward information. We have
historically presented supplier finff ancing programs separately on the face of the balance sheet as structurt ed accounts payable
arrangements and disclosed key terms of such programs. Payments and proceeds rollforff ward information on strucr tured
accounts payable arrangements has historically been provided on the face of the statement of cash floff ws. As such, adoption of
this standard did not impact our balance sheet presentation or footnote disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued guidance to improve reportabla e segment disclosure requirements, primarily through
additional disclosures abouta significant segment expenses. The standard is effeff ctive forff fiscal years beginning afteff r December
15, 2023 (our fiscal 2024), and interim periods within fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2024 (our fiscal 2025), with
early adoption permitted. The amendments are to be appla ied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements. We adopted this standard as of December 31, 2024. While this standard required enhanced segment disclosures,
adoption of this guidance did not have a material effecff t on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to provide more disaggregation of income tax disclosures mainly related to the
reconciliations of the income tax rate and income taxes paid by jurisdiction. We expect the adoption of the standard to result
in additional disaggregation of our income tax footnotff e disclosure. We will begin providing the enhanced disclosure related
to income taxes effective with our quarterly report of Form 10-Q forff the quarter ending March 31, 2025.
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In November 2024, the FASB issued guidance which requires more detailed disclosure abouta specified categories of expenses
(purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, intangible asset amortization and depletion) included in
certain expense captions on the faceff of the income statement. Additionally, the amendments require disclosure of the total
amount of selling expenses and an annual disclosure of the definition of selling expenses. These amendments are effective forff
fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15, 2026, and forff interim periods within fiscal years beginning afteff r December 15,
2027, with early adoption permitted. The disclosures may be appla ied either prospectively or retrospectively to any or all prior
periods presented in the financial statements. We are currently evaluating the impact this new guidance will have on our
disclosures.
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4. LEASES

Leasing Activitytt

We have operating and finance leases for heavy mobile equipment, railcars, fleet vehicles, fieldff and plant equipment, river and
cross-gulf vessels, corporate offices, land and computer equipment. Our leases have remaining lease terms of one year to 38
years, some of which include options to extend the lease forff up to 20 years and some of which include options to terminate the
lease within one year.

Supplu emental balance sheet information related to leases as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 is as follows:

December 31,

Type of Lease Asset or Liability 2024 2023 Balance Sheet Classification

(in millions)

Operating Leases
Right-of-use assets $ 220.0 $ 229.8 Other assets
Lease liabia lities:
Short-term 43.9 65.3 Accruer d liabia lities
Long-term 181.2 168.1 Other noncurrent liabia lities
Total $ 225.1 $ 233.4

Finance Leases
Right-of-use assets:
Gross assets $ 452.0 $ 459.7
Less: accumulated depreciation 205.3 171.3
Net asset $s 246.7 $ 288.4 Property, plant and equipment, net
Lease liabia lities:
Short-term $ 30.6 $ 112.7 Current maturities of long-term debt
Long-term 114.2 67.3 Long-term debt, less current maturities
Total $ 144.8 $ 180.0

Lease expense is generally included within cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative expenses, except forff
interest on lease liabia lities, which is recorded within net interest. The components of lease expense were as folff lows:

December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Operating lease cost $ 87.2 $ 86.9 $ 86.6
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of right-of-use assets 45.5 45.8 45.9
Interest on lease liabia lities 6.1 7.1 5.3
Short-term lease cost 0.2 0.1 0.8
Variable lease cost 19.5 19.8 19.3
Total lease cost $ 158.5 $ 159.7 $ 157.9

Rental expense for 2024, 2023ff and 2022 was $269.4 million, $252.1 million and $237.2 million, respectively.
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Supplu emental cash floff w information related to leases was as folff lows:
December 31,

(In millions) 2024 2023 2022

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash floff ws from operating leases $ 90.4 $ 89.2 $ 88.1
Operating cash floff ws from finff ance leases 6.1 7.1 5.3
Financing cash floff ws from finff ance leases 42.9 78.8 46.5

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases $ 70.4 $ 54.5 $ 56.7
Finance leases 9.0 35.8 27.2

Other information related to leases was as folff lows:
December 31, 2024

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term
Operating leases 6.4 years
Finance leases 4.3 years

Weighted Average Discount Rate
Operating leases 6.3 %
Finance leases 5.7 %

Future lease payments under non-cancellabla e leases recorded as of December 31, 2024, were as follows:

Operating Leases Finance Leases

(in millions)

2025 $ 70.3 $ 38.8
2026 51.1 26.5
2027 38.1 22.1
2028 30.2 16.9
2029 26.6 58.1
Thereafteff r 58.3 9.6
Total futurff e lease payments $ 274.6 $ 172.0
Less imputed interest (49.5) (27.2)
Total $ 225.1 $ 144.8
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5. OTHER FINANCIAL STATEMENT DATA

The folff lowing provides additional information concerning selected balance sheet accounts:
December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023
Receivables

Trade - External $ 969.1 $ 940.9
Trade - Affiff liate 67.1 194.6
Non-trade 78.1 134.4

1,114.3 1,269.9
Less allowance for doubtff ful accounts 1.0 0.7

$ 1,113.3 $ 1,269.2
Inventories

Raw materials $ 148.6 $ 135.8
Work in process 941.1 964.8
Finished goods 1,239.8 1,178.0
Final price deferred (a) 53.5 61.5
Operating materials and supplies 165.4 183.1

$ 2,548.4 $ 2,523.2
Other current assets

Income and other taxes receivable $ 234.9 $ 269.3
Prepaid expenses 299.8 284.3
Other 29.1 50.2

$ 563.8 $ 603.8
Other assets

Restricted cash $ 17.3 $ 3.4
MRO inventory 169.0 166.3
Marketable securities held in trust - restricted 708.7 708.6
Operating lease right-of-use assets 220.0 229.8
Indemnification asset 18.4 20.9
Long-term receivable 12.9 21.8
Cloud computing cost (b) 166.3 138.9
Other 207.7 285.9

$ 1,520.3 $ 1,575.6
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December 31,
(in millions) 2024 2023

Accrued liabilities
Accruer d dividends $ 74.1 $ 72.3
Payroll and employee benefitsff 161.8 182.6
Asset retirement obligations 352.8 377.4
Customer prepayments 270.7 261.8
Accruer d income and other taxes 204.7 190.0
Operating lease obligation 43.9 65.3
Other 612.1 627.7

$ 1,720.1 $ 1,777.1
Other noncurrent liabilities

Asset retirement obligations $ 2,219.4 $ 1,836.0
Operating lease obligation 181.2 168.1
Accruer d pension and postretirement benefitsff 91.6 119.7
Unrecognized tax benefits 17.7 30.5
Other 353.0 274.9

$ 2,862.9 $ 2,429.2

______________________________
(a) Final price deferred is product that has shipped to customers, but we retain control and do not recognize revenue until a sales contract

has been agreed to with the customer.
(b) Implementation costs eligible for capitalization related to cloud computing arrangements that are a service contract are recorded within

Prepaid expenses and Other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized over the reasonably certain term of the
associated hosting arrangement.

Interest expense, net was comprised of the following in 2024, 2023 and 2022:
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022
Interest income $ 47.2 $ 59.6 $ 31.0
Less interest expense 230.0 189.0 168.8
Interest expense, net $ (182.8) $ (129.4) $ (137.8)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consist of the following:
December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023

Land $ 352.5 $ 373.0
Mineral properties and rights 6,831.3 6,477.5
Buildings and leasehold improvements 3,836.4 3,881.6
Machinery arr nd equipment 11,684.0 11,407.6
Construcrr tion in-progress 1,148.1 1,359.8

23,852.3 23,499.5
Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion 10,499.7 9,914.1

$ 13,352.6 $ 13,585.4

Depreciation and depletion expense was $1,012.5 million, $958.9 million, and $932.1 million for 2024, 2023ff and 2022,
respectively. Interest capia talized on major construcr tion projeo cts was $42.3 million, $35.2 million, and $26.8 million for 2024,ff
2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Subsu equent to December 31, 2024, we entered into an agreement to sell the closed Patos de Minas mine in Brazil which has
minimal assets remaining.

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS“ ”) is net earnings attributable to Mosaic. The denominator for
basic EPS is the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The denominator for diluted EPS also
includes the weighted average number of additional common shares that would have been outstanding if the dilutive potential
common shares had been issued, unless the shares are anti-dilutive.

The folff lowing is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator for the basic and diluted EPS computations:
ars Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Net earnings attributable to Mosaic $ 174.9 $ 1,164.9 $ 3,582.8
Basic weighted average number of shares outstanding
attributable to common stockholders 319.8 331.3 352.4
Dilutive impact of share-based awards 0.9 1.9 3.6
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 320.7 333.2 356.0
Basic net earnings per share $ 0.55 $ 3.52 $ 10.17
Diluted net earnings per share $ 0.55 $ 3.50 $ 10.06

A total of 1.0 million shares for 2024, 0.5ff million shares forff 2023 and 0.1 million shares for 2022 offf common stock subju ect to
issuance related to share-based awards have been excluded froff m the calculation of diluted EPS because the effect would have
been anti-dilutive.

8. CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Supplu emental disclosures of cash paid for interest and income taxes and non-cash investing and financing information is as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 228.7 $ 204.7 $ 196.4
Less amount capia talized 42.3 35.2 26.8
Cash interest, net $ 186.4 $ 169.5 $ 169.6
Income taxes $ 337.0 $ 385.6 $ 1,114.5

Acquiring or construcrr ting property, plant and equipment by incurring a liabia lity does not result in a cash outflow for us until
the liabia lity is paid. In the period the liabia lity is incurred, the change in operating accounts payable on the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows is adjusted by such amount. In the period the liabia lity is paid, the amount is reflected as a cash
outflow from investing activities. The appla icable net change in operating accounts payable that was classified to investing
activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows was $(20.3) million, $(19.5) million, and $(65.2) million for 2024,ff
2023 and 2022, respectively.

We accruerr d $74.1 million related to the dividends declared in 2024 that will be paid in 2025. At December 31, 2023 and
2022, we had accruerr d dividends of $72.3 million and $72.9 million which were paid in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Included in proceeds froff m issuance of short-term debt and payments of short-term debt were $16.8 billion and ($16.6) billion
and $9.6 billion and ($9.5) billion for 2024 and 2023, respectively, related to our commercial paper arrangement.

We had non-cash investing and financing transactions related to right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
assets under finff ance leases in 2024 of $9.0 million. Non-cash investing and financing transactions related to assets acquired
under capital leases were $35.8 million and $27.2 million for 2023ff and 2022, respectively.
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We had non-cash transactions related to the exchange of our 25% ownership MWSPC for 111,012,433 shares of Ma’aden at
a value of approximately $1.5 billion, resulting in a gain before transaction expenses of $538.2 million.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization includes $1,012.5 million, $958.9 million and $932.1 million related to depreciation
and depletion of property, plant and equipment and $13.0 million, $1.7 million and $1.8 million related to the amortization of
intangible assets and cloud computing costs for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

9. EQUITY SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS IN NON-CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES

We have investments in various international and domestic entities and ventures. The equity method of accounting is appla ied
to such investments when the ownership strucr ture prevents us from exercising a controlling influff ence over operating and
financial policies of the businesses but still allow us to have significant influff ence. Under this method, our equity in the net
earnings or losses of the investments is refleff cted as equity in net earnings of non-consolidated companies on our Consolidated
Statements of Earnings. The effeff cts of material intercompany transactions with these equity method investments are
eliminated, including the gross profitff on sales to and purchases from our equity-method investments which is deferred until
the time of sale to the finff al third-party customer. The cash floff w presentation of dividends received froff m equity method
investees is determined by evaluation of the facts, circumstances and naturt e of the distribution.

A summary of our equity-method investments, which were in operation as of December 31, 2024, is as follows:
Entity Economic Interest

River Bend Ag, LLC 50.0 %
IFC S.A 4. 5.0 %
Canpotex 36.2 %

The summarized financial information shown below includes all non-consolidated companies carried on the equity method.
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Net sales $ 3,601.9 $ 7,055.1 $ 11,852.8
Net earnings 6.2 317.9 956.9
Mosaic’s share of equity in net earnings 3.1 60.3 196.0
Total assets 1,883.8 9,900.6 11,707.8
Total liabia lities 1,865.1 7,014.1 8,973.7
Mosaic’s share of equity in net assets 9.4 725.9 693.2

MWSPC owns and operates a mine and two chemical complexes that produce phosphate fertilizers and other downstream
phosphate products in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. As of December 31, 2023, our cash investment was $770.0 million and
we marketed approximately 25% of the phosphate production of this joint venture. As of December 31, 2023, MWSPC
represented 77% of the total assets and 68% of the total liabia lities in the tabla e abovea . In 2024, 2023 and 2022 our share of
equity in net earnings of MWSPC was $70.8 million, $57.6 million, and $194.5 million, respectively. On April 29, 2024,
Saudi Arabian Mining Company (“Ma“ ’aden”) and Mosaic entered into a Share Purchase and Subscription Agreement to
exchange our 25% ownership of the Ma’aden Wa’ad al Shamal Phosphate Company for 111,012,433ff shares of Ma’aden.
This transaction closed on December 24, 2024, at a value of approximately $1.5 billion, resulting in a gain of $522.2 million,
net of transaction costs. The shares received by Mosaic are subju ect to transfer anff d sale restrictions, which will be released
over a five-year period. The shares are included in equity securities and investments in nonconsolidated companies on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. They are carried at fair value based on the unadjusted quoted price on the Saudi Exchange
(Tadawul), with the changes in faiff r value reported in non-operating income (expense). At December 31, 2024, the unrealized
gain on the Ma’aden shares was $28.3 million.

Canpotex is a Saskatchewan export association used by two Canadian potash producers to market, sell and distribute
Canadian potash products outside of Canada and the U.S. It operates as a break-even entity and therefore has insignificant
equity earnings or loss. We have concluded that the sales to Canpotex are not at arm’s-length, due to the unique pricing and
payment strucr ture and finff ancial obligations of the stockholders. Therefore, the full profitff on sales to Canpotex is eliminated
until Canpotex no longer has control of the related inventory arr nd has sold it to an unrelated third-party customer. We
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eliminate the intra-entity profitff with Canpotex at the end of each reporting period and present that profit elimination by
reversing revenue and cost of goods sold for the inventory rrr emaining at Canpotex.

10. GOODWILL

Goodwill is carried at cost, not amortized, and represents the excess of the purchase price and related costs over the fair value
assigned to the net identifiaff bla e assets of a business acquired. We test goodwill for impairment on a quantitative basis at the
reporting unit level on an annual basis or upon the occurrence of events that may indicate possible impairment. Impairment is
measured as the excess carrying value over the fair value of goodwill.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by reporting unit, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, are as folff lows:

(in millions) Potash
Mosaic

Fertilizantes

Corporate,
Eliminations
and Other Total

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 1,006.6 $ 97.6 $ 12.1 $ 1,116.3
Foreign currency translation 20.3 2.0 — 22.3
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,026.9 $ 99.6 $ 12.1 $ 1,138.6
Foreign currency translation (71.5) (6.0) — (77.5)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 955.4 $ 93.6 $ 12.1 $ 1,061.1

As of October 31, 2024, we performed our annual quantitative assessment. In performing our assessment, we estimated the
fair value of each of our reporting units using the income approach, also known as the discounted cash floff w (“DCF“ ”)FF method.
The income approaa ch utilized the present value of cash floff ws to estimate fair value. The futurff e cash floff ws for our reporting
units were projected based on our estimates, at that time, for revenue, operating income and other factff ors (such as working
capital and capital expenditures forff each reporting unit). To determine if the fair value of each of our reporting units with
goodwill exceeded its carrying value, we assumed sales volume growth rates based on our long-term expectations, our
internal selling prices and projeo cted raw material prices for years one through five, which were anchored in projections from
CRU International Limited (“CRU”)UU , an independent third party data source. Selling prices and raw material prices for years
six and beyond were based on anticipated market growth and long-term CRU outlooks. The discount rates used in our DCF
method were based on a weighted-average cost of capia tal (“WACC”)CC , determined froff m relevant market comparisons. A
terminal value growth rate of 2% was applied to all years thereafteff r forff the projeo cted period and refleff cted our estimate of
stable growth. We then calculated a present value of the respective cash floff ws for each reporting unit to arrive at an estimate
of fair value under the income approach. Finally, we compared our estimates of faiff r values for ourff reporting units, to our
October 31, 2024 total public market capitalization, based on our common stock price at that date.

In making this assessment, we considered, among other things, expectations of projected net sales and cash floff ws,
assumptions impacting the WACC, changes in our stock price and changes in the carrying values of our reporting units with
goodwill. We also considered overall business conditions.

The Potash, Mosaic Fertilizantes and Corporate, Eliminations and Other reporting units were evaluated and not considered at
risk of goodwill impairment at October 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, $18.6 million of our goodwill was tax deducd tible.

11. FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Mosaic Creditdd Faciliii tyii

On August 19, 2021, we entered into a committed, unsecured, five-year revolving credit facility of up to $2.5 billion (the
“Mosa“ ic Creditdd Facilityii ”), with a maturt ity date of August 19, 2026, which is intended to serve as our primary senior
unsecured bank credit facility. The Mosaic Credit Facility has cross-default provisions that, in general, provide that a faiff lure
to pay principal or interest under, or any other amount payable under, any indebtedness with an outstanding principal amount
of $100 million or more, or breach or default under such indebtedness that permits the holders thereof to accelerate the
maturity thereof, will result in a cross-default.

52



The Mosaic Credit Facility requires Mosaic to maintain certain financial ratios, including a ratio of Consolidated
Indebtedness, which has been redefined to exclude unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, to Consolidated Capia talization
Ratio (as definff ed) of no greater than 0.65 to 1.0, as well as a minimum Interest Coverage Ratio (as definff ed) of not less than
3.0 to 1.0. We were in compliance with these ratios as of December 31, 2024.

The Mosaic Credit Facility also contains other events of defauff lt and covenants that limit various matters. These provisions
include limitations on indebtedness, liens, investments and acquisitions (other than capital expenditures), certain mergers,
certain sales of assets and other matters customary frr orff credit facilities of this naturt e.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had outstanding letters of credit that utilized a portion of the amount availabla e forff
revolving loans under the Mosaic Credit Facility of $0.0 million and $10.5 million, respectively. The net availablea
borrowings for revolving loans under the Mosaic Credit Facility were approximately $2.50 billion and $2.49 billion as of
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 unused commitment
fees accruerr d at an average rate of 0.15%, generating expenses of $3.8 million in each period.

Short-Ttt erTT m Drr ebt

Short-term debt consists of the revolving credit facility under the Mosaic Credit Facility, under which there were no
borrowings as of December 31, 2024, working capital financing arrangements and various other short-term borrowings
related to our international operations in India, China and Brazil. These other short-term borrowings outstanding were $847.1
million and $399.7 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

We have an inventory frr inff ancing arrangement whereby we can sell up to $625 million of certain inventory frr orff cash and
subsu equently repurchase the inventory arr t an agreed upon price and time in the futurff e, not to exceed 180 days. Under the terms
of the agreement, we may borrow up to 9u 0% of the value of the inventory. It is later repurchased by Mosaic at the original
sale price plus interest and any transaction costs. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had finff anced inventory orr f $199.5
million and $0.0 million, respectively, under this arrangement, which is included in short-term debt on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.

We have Receivable Purchasing Agreements (“RP“ AsPP ”), with banks whereby, from time-to-time, we sell certain receivables.
The net face value of the purchased receivables may not exceed $600 million at any point in time. The purchase price of the
receivable sold under the RPA is the face value of the receivable less an agreed upon discount. The receivables sold under the
RPAs are accounted for as true sales. Upon sale, these receivables are removed froff m the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Cash
received is presented as cash provided by operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

The Company sold approximately $430.7 million and $1.3 billion during December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, of
accounts receivable under these arrangements. Discounts on sold receivables were not material for any period presented.
Following the sale to the banks, we continue to service the collection of the receivables on behalf of the banks without further
consideration. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was no amount outstanding to be remitted to the bank. Any
outstanding amount would be classified in accruerr d liabia lities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Cash collected and
remitted is presented as cash used in financing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

We have a commercial paper program which allows us to issue unsecured commercial paper notes with maturities that vary,
but do not exceed 397 days from the date of issue, up to a maximum aggregate faceff or principal amount outstanding at any
time of $2.5 billion. We plan to use the revolving credit facility as a liquidity backstop for borrowings under the commercial
paper program. As of December 31, 2024, we had $609.2 million outstanding under this program, with a weighted average
interest rate of 4.74% and a remaining average term of 10 days. As of December 31, 2023, we had $399.5 million outstanding
under this program, with a weighted average interest rate of 5.62% and a remaining average term of nine days.

We had additional outstanding bilateral letters of credit of $63.8 million as of December 31, 2024, which includes $50.0
million as required by the 2015 Consent Decrees as described furff ther in Note 14 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Long-Tgg erTT m Drr ebt, includindd g CurCC rent Maturitiesii

In May 2023, we entered into a ten year senior unsecured term loan facility pursuant to which we can draw up to
$700 million. The term loan matures on May 18, 2033. We may voluntarily prepay the outstanding principal without
premium or penalty. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, $570 million and $500 million, respectively, has been drawn under
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this facility. Interest rates for the term loan are variabla e and are based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”)
plus credit spread adjud stments.

In 2023, we paid the outstanding balance of $900 million on our 4.25% senior notes due November 15, 2023.

On, December 4, 2023, we issued new senior notes consisting of $400 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% due
2028 (the “Senior Notes of 2o 023”). We have the following additional senior notes outstanding: $700 million aggregate
principal amount of 4.050% senior notes due 2027 (the “Senior Notes of 2o 017”)77 $500 million aggregate principal amount of
5.45% senior notes due 2033 and $600 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due 2043 (collectively, the
“Senior Notes of 2o 013”); and $300 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% senior notes due 2041 (the “Senior Notes
of 2011”).

The Senior Notes of 2011, the Senior Notes of 2013, the Senior Notes of 2017 and the Senior Notes of 2023 are Mosaic’s
senior unsecured obligations and rank equally in right of payment with Mosaic’s existing and future senior unsecured
indebtedness. The indenture governing these notes contains restrictive covenants limiting debt secured by liens, sale and
leaseback transactions and mergers, consolidations and sales of subsu tantially all assets, as well as other events of default.

A debenture issued by Mosaic Global Holdings, Inc., one of our consolidated subsu idiaries, dued in 2028 (the “2028
Debenture”), is outstanding as of December 31, 2024, with a balance of $147.1 million. The indenture governing the 2028
Debenture also contains restrictive covenants limiting debt secured by liens, sale and leaseback transactions and mergers,
consolidations and sales of subsu tantially all assets, as well as events of default. The obligations under the 2028 Debenture are
guaranteed by the Company and several of its subsu idiaries.

Long-term debt primarily consists of unsecured notes, finff ance leases, unsecured debentures and secured notes. Long-term
debt as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, consisted of the following:

2024 2023

(in
millions)

Stated Interest
Rate

Effeff ctive
Interest Rate

Maturity
Date Stated Value

Combination
Fair
Market
Value

Adjud stment

Discount
on Notes
Issuance

Carrying
Value Stated Value

Combination
Fair
Market
Value

Adjud stment

Discount
on Notes
Issuance

Carrying
Value

Unsecured
notes

4.05% -
5.63% 5.49%

2027-
2043 $ 2,500.0 $ — $ (5.1) $ 2,494.9 $ 2,500.0 $ — $ (5.8) $ 2,494.2

Unsecured
debentures 7.30% 7.19% 2028 147.1 0.3 — 147.4 147.1 0.4 — 147.5

Term Loan 30 Day SOFR 7.08% 2033 570.0 — — 570.0 500.0 — — 500.0
Finance
leases

0.77% -
13.02% 5.75%

2025-
2034 144.8 — — 144.8 180.0 — — 180.0

Other(a)
6.53% -
8.00% 5.59%

2025-
2026 17.1 3.4 — 20.5 35.0 5.0 — 40.0

Total long-term debt 3,379.0 3.7 (5.1) 3,377.6 3,362.1 5.4 (5.8) 3,361.7
Less current portion 45.4 0.4 (0.5) 45.3 129.2 1.3 (0.4) 130.1
Total long-term debt, less current maturities $ 3,333.6 $ 3.3 $ (4.6) $ 3,332.3 $ 3,232.9 $ 4.1 $ (5.4) $ 3,231.6

______________________________
(a) Includes deferred finff ancing fees related to our long-term debt.

Scheduled maturities of long-term debt are as folff lows for the periods ending December 31:
(in millions)

2025 $ 45.3
2026 33.8
2027 717.5
2028 561.0
2029 57.2
Thereafteff r 1,962.8
Tota $l 3,377.6
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Strutt ctured Accounts Payaa ble All rrangements

In Brazil, we finance some of our potash-based ferff tilizer, sulfur, ammonia and other raw material product purchases through
third-party contractuat l arrangements. These arrangements provide that the third-party intermediary advance the amount of the
scheduled payment to the vendor, less an appropra iate discount, at a scheduled payment date and Mosaic makes payment to
the third-party intermediary at dates ranging from 105 to 164 days from date of shipment. At December 31, 2024 and 2023,
these strucrr tured accounts payable arrangements were $402.3 million and $399.9 million, respectively. Payments and proceeds
rollforff ward information on strucr tured payable arrangements are provided on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
During 2024, the interest expense component of such programs was $22.9 million.

12. MARKETABLE SECURITIES HELD IN TRUSTS

In August 2016, Mosaic deposited $630 million into two trusrr t fundsff (together, the “RCRA“ Trusts”) created to provide
additional finff ancial assurance in the form of cash forff the estimated costs (“Gypsyy tack Closll ure CosCC ts”) of closure and long-
term care of our Florida and Louisiana phosphogypsum management systems (“Gypsyy tacks”), as described further in Note 14
of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Our actuat l Gypstack Closure Costs are generally expected to be paid by
us in the normal course of our Phosphates business; however, funds heff ld in each of the RCRA Trusr ts can be drawn by the
applicable governmental authority in the event we cannot perform our closure and long-term care obligations. When our
estimated Gypstack Closure Costs with respect to the faciff lities associated with a RCRA Trusrr t are sufficiently lower than the
amount on deposit in that RCRA TRR rust, we have the right to request that the excess funds beff released to us. The same is truerr
for the RCRA Trusrr t balance remaining after the completion of our obligations, which will be performed over a period that
may not end until three decades or more after a Gypstack has been closed. The investments held by the RCRA Trusr ts are
managed by independent investment managers with discretion to buy, sell and invest pursuant to the objectives and standards
set forff th in the related trust agreements. Amounts reserved to be held or held in the RCRA Trusrr ts (including losses or
reinvested earnings) are included in other assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The RCRA TRR rusts hold investments, which are restricted from our general use, in marketabla e debt securities classified as
availabla e-for-sale and are carried at fair value. As a result, unrealized gains and losses are included in other comprehensive
income until realized, unless it is determined that the entire unamortized cost basis of the investment is not expected to be
recovered. A credit loss would then be recognized in operations for the amount of the expected credit loss. As of
December 31, 2024, we expect to recover our amortized cost on all availabla e-for-sale securities and have not establa ished an
allowance forff credit loss.

We review the faiff r value hierarchy classification on a quarterly basis. Changes in the ability to observe valuation inputs may
result in a reclassification of levels forff certain securities within the faiff r value hierarchy. We determine the fair market values
of our availabla e-for-sale securities and certain other assets based on the fair value hierarchy described below:

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date forff
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active, or model-based valuation techniques forff which all significant assumptions are
observable in the market.

Level 3: Values generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market.
These unobservable assumptions reflect our own estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing
the asset or liability. Valuation techniques include use of option pricing models, discounted cash floff w models and similar
techniques.
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hThe estiimated fd f iaifff r v lalue of hth ie investment is in thhe RCRA Trusr ts as of Dece bmber 31, 2024 dand Dece bmber 31, 2023 are as
follllows:

December 31, 2024

(in millions)
Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Level 1
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3.1 $ — $ — $ 3.1

Level 2
Corporate debt securities 203.3 0.8 (6.8) 197.3
Municipal bonds 210.8 0.7 (4.0) 207.5
U.S. government bonds 295.1 — (7.8) 287.3

Total $ 712.3 $ 1.5 $ (18.6) $ 695.2

December 31, 2023

(in millions)
Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Level 1
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1.0 $ — $ — $ 1.0

Level 2
Corporate debt securities 204.6 1.9 (8.4) 198.1
Municipal bonds 206.9 1.9 (4.1) 204.7
U.S. government bonds 268.6 11.5 (0.3) 279.8

Total $ 681.1 $ 15.3 $ (12.8) $ 683.6

hThe f lolff llo iwi gng tablbla es hsh gow gross unrealiliz ded llosses a dnd faiir vallues of hthe RCRA Trusr ts’ availilablbla e-for-s lale secu iri ities hthat hhave
bebeen iin a contiinuous unrealilized ld loss posi iition forff hwhiichh an allllowance for credidi lt losse hs has bnot been reco drd ded as fof
Decembber 31, 2024 dand Dece bmber 31, 2023.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Securities that have been in a continuous loss position forff
less than 12 months (in mii illions): Fair

Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Corporate debt securities $ 53.4 $ (0.7) $ 5.4 $ (0.1)
Municipal bonds 102.4 (1.7) 42.3 (0.2)
U.S. government bonds 280.9 (7.8) 26.4 (0.3)
Total $ 436.7 $ (10.2) $ 74.1 $ (0.6)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Securities that have been in a continuous loss position forff
more than 12 months (in mii illions): Fair

Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Corporate debt securities $ 81.3 $ (6.1) $ 121.5 $ (8.3)
Municipal bonds 55.6 (2.3) 84.1 (3.9)
U.S. government bonds — — — —
Total $ 136.9 $ (8.4) $ 205.6 $ (12.2)
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hThe f lolff llo iwi gng tablbla e summa irizes hth be b lalance byby contractuat ll maturt ityity of hthe availilablbla e-for-s lal de d bebt secu iri itie is invest ded byby hthe
RCRA Trusrr ts as of Dece bmber 31, 2024. Actuat ll maturt i iities may dy dififfeff r froff m contractuat ll maturt i iitie bs because hth ie issuers of thhe
secu iri ities may hy have thhe irightght to pr yepay blobligigatiio bns before hthe u dnde lrlyingying contracts maturt e.

(in millions) December 31, 2024

Due in one year or less $ 21.3
Due after one year through five years 218.9
Due after five years through ten years 402.1
Due after ten years 49.8
Total debt securities $ 692.1

For thhe yyear endedded Dece bmber 31, 2024, realilized gd g iains and (d (llo )sses) were $17.5 million dand $( )$(15.1) ilmillilion, respectiiv lelyy. For
hthe yyear endedded Dece bmber 31, 2023, realilized gd g iains and (d (llo )sses) were $$9.5 illimillion dand $( )$(28.9) ilmillilion, respectiivelyely and fd forff hthe
yyear endedded Decembber 31, 2022, realilized gd g iains and (d (lol sses) were $0.3 million and $(46.9) million, respectivelyy.

13. INCOME TAXES

In preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements, we utilize the asset and liabia lity approach in accounting forff income
taxes. We recognize income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we have a presence. For each jurisdiction, we estimate
the actuat l amount of income taxes currently payable or receivabla e, as well as deferred income tax assets and liabia lities
attributable to temporary drr iffereff nces between the finff ancial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabia lities and
their respective tax bases. Deferred income tax assets and liabia lities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which these temporary drr iffereff nces are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabia lities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment
date.

The provision for income taxes for 2024, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Current:
Federal $ (11.7) $ 86.4 $ 62.7
State 10.7 1.5 51.9
Non-U.S. 339.2 357.4 770.4
Total current 338.2 445.3 885.0
Noncurrent:
Federal $ (0.1) $ 0.3 $ 0.2
State — — —
Non-U.S. (10.8) (3.0) (0.7)
Total noncurrent (10.9) (2.7) (0.5)
Defee rred:
Federal $ (41.7) $ (35.4) $ 215.4
State (29.0) (4.2) 31.0
Non-U.S. (69.9) (226.0) 93.4
Total deferred (140.6) (265.6) 339.8
Provision for income taxes $ 186.7 $ 177.0 $ 1,224.3
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The components of earnings from consolidated companies beforff e income taxes, and the effects of significant adjustments to
tax computed at the fedff eral statutt ory rrr ate, were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

U.S. earnings (loss) $ (557.8) $ 121.6 $ 1,587.8
Non-U.S. earnings 873.2 1,204.3 3,054.7
Earnings (loss) from consolidated companies beforff e income taxes $ 315.4 $ 1,325.9 $ 4,642.5
Computed tax at the U.S. federal statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit (5.7)% 0.4 % 1.1 %
Percentage depletion in excess of basis (13.8)% (4.9)% (1.8)%
Impact of non-U.S. earnings 23.8 % 8.7 % 5.8 %
Change in valuation allowance 13.0 % (1.7)% — %
Non-U.S. incentives (42.6)% (11.5)% (2.6)%
Withholding tax 13.6 % 6.3 % 1.6 %
U.S. general basket forff eign tax credits (12.6)% (4.0)% — %
Tax legislation change impacts (5.7)% (1.6)% — %
Undistributed earnings 33.0 % 2.2 % — %
Tax on dividends, deemed dividends, and GILTI 16.2 % 0.7 % 0.1 %
Nondeductible expenses 20.0 % 0.2 % 0.4 %
Other items (none in excess of 5% of computed tax) (1.0)% (2.5)% 0.8 %
Effeff ctive tax rate 59.2 % 13.3 % 26.4 %

2024 Effeff ctive Tax Rate

In the year ended Dece bmber ,31, 2024 there were two items impacting the effeff ctive tax rate: 1) items attributable to ordinary
business operations during the year, and 2) other items specific toff the period.

The tax impact of our ordinary brr usiness operations is affeff cted by the mix of earnings across jurisdictions in which we
operate, by a benefit associated with depletion, changes in valuation allowances and by the impact of certain entities being
taxed in both their foreign jurisdiction and the U.S., including foreign tax credits for various taxes incurred.

For the year ended Dece bmber ,31, 2024 tax expense specific to the period included a net expense of $125.9 million. The net
expense relates to the folff lowing: $99.9 million related to the impact of accruingrr withholding tax expense on expected foreign
distributions associated with changes in management’s indefinite reinvestment assertion on select foreign earnings under
ASC 740-30 (forff merly APB 23), $7.1 million related to truer -up ou f estimates froff m our U.S. and non-U.S. tax returnt
provisions, $24.2 million related to changes to valuation allowances in Brazil, the Netherlands and the U.S., $4.0 million
related to share-based excess benefit, $2.5 million related to changes in tax rates and $6.2 million related to other
miscellaneous expenses. The tax expenses are partially offsff et by a net tax benefitff related to changes in U.S. state tax law of
$18.1 million.

2023 Effeff ctive Tax Rate

In the year ended December 31, 2023, there were two items impacting the effeff ctive tax rate: 1) items attributable to ordinary
business operations during the year, and 2) other items specific toff the period.

The tax impact of our ordinary brr usiness operations is affeff cted by the mix of earnings across jurisdictions in which we
operate, by a benefit associated with depletion, by a benefitff associated with non-U.S. incentives, changes in valuation
allowances, and by the impact of certain entities being taxed in both their foreign jurisdiction and the U.S., including foreign
tax credits for various taxes incurred.

Tax expense specific to the period included a net benefitff of $43.4 million. The net benefit relates to the folff lowing:
$38.1 million related to true-up of estimates primarily related to our U.S. tax return, $24.4t million related to changes to
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valuation allowances in Brazil, and $11.6 million related to an increase in a U.S. deferred tax asset. The tax benefits are
partially offsff et by a net tax cost of $29.3 million related to income tax expense on undistributed earnings and $1.4 million of
other miscellaneous costs.

2022 Effeff ctive Tax Rate

In the year ended December 31, 2022, there were two items impacting the effeff ctive tax rate: 1) items attributable to ordinary
business operations during the year, and 2) other items specific toff the period.

The tax impact of our ordinary brr usiness operations is affeff cted by the mix of earnings across jurisdictions in which we
operate, by a benefit associated with depletion, by a benefitff associated with non-U.S. incentives, changes in valuation
allowances and by the impact of certain entities being taxed in both their foreign jurisdiction and the U.S., including foreign
tax credits for various taxes incurred.

Tax expense specific to the period included a net expense of $26.2 million. The net expense relates to the folff lowing:
$29.0 million related to true-up of estimates primarily related to our U.S. tax return, $4.8t million related to changes to
valuation allowances in Brazil, $4.0 million related to interest of effeff ctively settled unrecognized tax benefitsff and
$1.2 million of other miscellaneous costs. The tax expenses are partially offsff et by a net tax benefitff related to $12.8 million of
RSUs vested in CY22 above grant price.
Defee rred TaxTT Liabiliii tiii es and Assets

Significant components of our deferred tax liabia lities and assets were as follows as of December 31:
cember 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023

Defee rred tax laa iabilities:
Depreciation and amortization $ 614.5 $ 490.2
Depletion 573.4 623.6
Partnership tax basis differeff nces 80.6 69.7
Undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsu idiaries 84.4 29.3
Other liabia lities 78.6 97.0
Total deferred tax liabia lities $ 1,431.5 $ 1,309.8

Defee rred tax assets:
Capia tal loss carryforwards 15.0 14.9
Foreign tax credit carryforwards 1,431.8 1,266.2
Net operating loss carryforwards 450.6 514.4
Pension plans and other benefits 13.9 17.8
Asset retirement obligations 547.4 452.1
Disallowed interest expense under §163(j)(( 20.3 11.5
Other assets 497.3 468.6

Subtotu al 2,976.3 2,745.5
Valuation allowance 1,529.3 1,421.9
Net deferred tax assets 1,447.0 1,323.6

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) $ 15.5 $ 13.8

We have certain non-U.S. entities that are taxed in both their local jurisdiction and the U.S. As a result, we have deferred tax
balances for both jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, these non-U.S. deferred taxes are offset by approximately
$199.6 million and $220.5 million, respectively, of anticipated foreign tax credits included within our depreciation and
depletion components of deferff red tax liabia lities aboa ve. We have recorded a valuation allowance against the anticipated
foreign tax credits of $199.6 million and $220.5 million forff December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Tax Caa arCC ryfoyy rwards

As of December 31, 2024, we had estimated carryforwards for tax purposes as follows: net operating losses of $1.7 billion,
capital losses of $63.4 million, foreign tax credits of $1.4 billion and $3.9 million of non-U.S. business credits. These
carryforward benefitff s may be subju ect to limitations imposed by the Internal Revenue Code, and in certain cases, provisions of
foreign law. Approximately $1.1 billion of our net operating loss carryforwards relate to Brazil and can be carried forward
indefinitely but are limited to 30 percent of taxable income each year. The majority of the remaining net operating loss
carryforwards relate to U.S. federal and certain U.S. states and can be carried forward indefinitely. Of the $1.4 billion of
foreign tax credits, approximately $222.1 million have an expiration date of 2026, approximately $18.5 million have an
expiration date of 2029, approximately $14.7 million have an expiration date of 2030 and approxia mately $52.2 million have
an expiration date of 2034. The realization of our foreign tax credit carryforwards is dependent on market conditions, tax law
changes and other business outcomes including our ability to generate certain types of taxable income in the futff urt e. Due to
current business operations and futurff e forff ecasts, the Company has determined that no valuation allowance is required on its
general basket forff eign tax credits. As a result of changes in U.S. tax law dued to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the Company
recorded valuation allowances against its branch basket foreign tax credits of $1.1 billion as of December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, we have not recognized a deferff red tax liabia lity for un-remitted earnings of approximately $873.7
million froff m certain foreign operations because we believe our subsu idiaries have invested the undistributed earnings
indefinitely, or the earnings will be remitted in a tax-neutral transaction. It is not practicable for us to determine the amount of
unrecognized deferred tax liability on these reinvested earnings. As part of the accounting forff the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, we
recorded local country withholding taxes related to certain entities from which we began repatriating undistributed earnings
and will continue to record local country withholding taxes, including foreign exchange impacts, on all futurff e earnings.

Valuatiott n Allowanll ce

In assessing the need forff a valuation allowance, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax assets will not be realized. We evaluate our ability to realize the tax benefitsff associated with deferred tax assets
by analyzing the relative impact of all the availabla e positive and negative evidence regarding our forecasted taxable income
using both historical and projeo cted future operating results, the reversal of existing taxable temporary drr iffereff nces, taxable
income in prior carry-back years (if permitted) and the availabia lity of tax planning strategies. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of certain types of futurff e taxable income during the periods in which
those temporary drr iffereff nces become deductible. In making this assessment, we consider the scheduld ed reversal of deferred
tax liabia lities, our ability to carry back the deferred tax asset, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies. A
valuation allowance will be recorded in each jurisdiction in which a deferred income tax asset is recorded when it is more
likely than not that the deferff red income tax asset will not be realized. Changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances
typically impact income tax expense.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the valuation allowance increased by $107.4 million, of which a $105.4 million
increase related to changes in the valuation allowance to U.S. branch forff eign tax credits, $11.3 million related to changes in
the valuation allowance to U.S. state net operating losses and tax credits and a $2.8 million increase related to changes in
valuation allowances in Canada. These increases to the valuation allowance were partially offsff et by a decrease of $9.0 million
related to changes in valuation allowances and currency translation in Brazil and $3.1 million changes in valuation
allowances in other forff eign jurisdictions.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the valuation allowance increased by $512.0 million, of which a $531.0 million
increase related to changes in the valuation allowance to U.S. branch forff eign tax credits, and a $0.2 million increase related to
changes in valuation allowances in other forff eign jurisdictions. These increases to the valuation allowance were partially
offsff et by a decrease of $12.7 million related to changes in valuation allowances and currency translation in Brazil and
$6.5 million changes in valuation allowances in other forff eign jurisdictions.

For the year ended December 31, 2022 the valuation allowance increased by $135.2 million, of which a $83.6 million
increase related to changes in the valuation allowance to U.S. branch forff eign tax credits, a $13.2 million increase related to
changes in valuation allowances and currency translation in Brazil and $46.8 million changes in valuation allowances in other
foreign jurisdictions. These increases to the valuation allowance were partially offsff et by a decrease of $1.5 million to net
operating losses forff certain U.S. states and $7.0 million changes in valuation allowances in other forff eign jurisdictions.
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Changes to our income tax valuation allowance were as folff lows:

Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Income tax valuation allowance, related to deferred income taxes

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,421.9 $ 909.9 $ 774.7
Charges or (reductions) to costs and expenses 107.4 512.0 135.2

Balance at end of period $ 1,529.3 $ 1,421.9 $ 909.9

Uncertain Tax Paa osPP itiott ns

Accounting for uncff ertain income tax positions is determined by prescribing a minimum probability threshold that a tax
position must meet before a finff ancial statement benefit isff recognized. This minimum threshold is that a tax position is more
likely than not to be sustained uponu examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related
appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as
the largest amount of benefit that is greater than a fifff tyff percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement.

As of December 31, 2024, we had $14.2 million of gross uncertain tax positions. If recognized, the benefit to our effeff ctive tax
rate in future periods would be approxia mately $11.5 million of that amount. During 2024 we recorded net decreases in our
uncertain tax positions of $11.6 million related to certain U.S. and non-U.S. tax matters, of which $11.1 million impacted the
effeff ctive tax rate. This decrease was offsff et by items not included in gross uncertain tax positions.

Based uponu the information available as of December 31, 2024, it is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax
benefits will change in the next twelve months; however, the change cannot reasonably be estimated.

A summary of gross unrecognized tax benefitff activity is as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Gross unrecognized tax benefitff s, beginning of period $ 25.8 $ 25.2 $ 124.6
Gross increases:

Prior period tax positions — 0.9 0.7
Current period tax positions 1.6 3.0 3.0

Gross decreases:
Prior period tax positions (11.5) (3.8) (99.7)

Currency translation (1.7) 0.5 (3.4)
Gross unrecognized tax benefitff s, end of period $ 14.2 $ 25.8 $ 25.2

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefitsff as a component of our income tax expense. Interest
and penalties accrued in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were $5.4 million and $6.4
million, respectively, and are included in other noncurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Open Tax Paa erPP iods

We operate in multiple tax jurisdictions, both within the U.S. and outside the U.S., and face auff dits from various tax
authorities regarding transferff pricing, deductibility of certain expenses and intercompany transactions, as well as other
matters. With few eff xceptions, we are no longer subject to examination forff tax years prior to 2017.

Mosaic is continually under audit by various tax authorities in the normal course of business. Such tax authorities may raise
issues contrary to positions taken by the Company. If such positions are ultimately not sustained by the Company, this could
result in material assessments to the Company. The costs related to defending, if needed, such positions on appeal or in court
may be material. The Company believes that any issues considered are properly accounted for.
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We are currently under audit by the Internal Revenue Service forff the tax years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2020. Based on the information availabla e, we do not anticipate significant changes to our unrecognized tax benefitsff as a result
of these examinations other than the amounts discussed above.a

We are currently under audit by the Canada Revenue Agency for the tax year ended December 31, 2020. Based on the
information available, we do not anticipate significant changes to our unrecognized tax benefitsff as a result of these
examinations other than the amounts discussed above.a

14. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

We recognize our estimated ARO s’ in the period in which we have an existing legal obligation associated with the retirement
of a tangible long-lived asset and the amount of the liabia lity can be reasonably estimated. The ARO is recognized at fair value
when the liabia lity is incurred with a corresponding increase in the carrying amount of the related long lived asset. We
depreciate the tangible asset over its estimated useful life.ff The liabia lity is adjud sted in subsu equent periods through accretion
expense which represents the increase in the present value of the liabia lity due to the passage of time. Such depreciation and
accretion expenses are included in cost of goods sold for operating facilities and other operating expense forff indefinitely
closed facilities.

Our legal obligations related to asset retirement require us to: (i) reclaim lands disturbet d by mining as a condition to receive
permits to mine phosphate ore reserves; (ii) treat low pH process water in Gypstacks to neutralize acidity; (iii) close and
monitor Gypstacks at our Florida and Louisiana facff ilities at the end of their usefulff lives; (iv) remediate certain other
conditional obligations; (v) remove all surface structurt es and equipment, plug and abandona mine shafts, contour and
revegetate, as necessary, and monitor forff five years after closing our Carlsbad, New Mexico facility; (vi) decommission
facilities, manage tailings and execute site reclamation at our Saskatchewan potash mines at the end of their useful lives;
(vii) decommission mines in Brazil and Peru; and (viii) decommission plant sites and closed Gypstacks in Brazil. The
estimated liabia lity for these legal obligations is based on the estimated cost to satisfy the above obla igations which is
discounted using a credit-adjud sted risk-free rate.

A reconciliation of our AROs is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2024 2023

AROs, beginning of period $ 2,213.4 $ 1,905.6
Liabilities incurred 29.8 22.9
Liabilities settled (253.8) (198.5)
Accretion expense 111.2 96.1
Revisions in estimated cash floff ws 541.4 365.1
Foreign currency translation (69.8) 22.2
AROs, end of period 2,572.2 2,213.4
Less current portion 352.8 377.4
Non-current portion of AROs $ 2,219.4 $ 1,836.0

North Att merica Gypsyy tack Closure CosCC ts

A majority of our ARO relates to Gypstack Closure Costs in Florida and Louisiana. For finff ancial reporting purposes, we
recognize our estimated Gypstack Closure Costs at their present value. This present value determined for finff ancial reporting
purposes is reflected on our Consolidated Balance Sheets in accruer d liabia lities and other noncurrent liabia lities. As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the present value of our North American Gypstack Closure Costs ARO refleff cted in our
Consolidated Balance Sheet was approxia mately $1.5 billion and $1.2 billion, respectively.

As discussed below, we have arrangements to provide financial assurance forff the estimated Gypstack Closure Costs
associated with our facilities in Florida and Louisiana.

EPA RCRA Initiative. On September 30, 2015, we and our subsu idiary, Mosaic Fertilizer, LLC (“Mo“ saic Fertilitt zerii ”), reached
agreements with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA“ ”), the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ“ ”)JJ , the Florida
Department of Environmental Protection (“FDEPDD ”)PP and the Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality on the terms of
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two consent decrees (collectively, the “2015 Consent Decrees”) to resolve claims relating to our management of certain
waste materials onsite at our Riverview, New Wales, Green Bay, South Pierce and Bartow fertilizer manufactff urt ing facff ilities
in Florida and our Faustina and Uncle Sam faciff lities in Louisiana. This followed a 2003 announcement by the EPA Office of
Enforcement and Compliance Assurance that it would be targeting facilities in mineral processing industries, including
phosphoric acid producers, for a thorough review under the U.S. Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“RCRA“ ”) and
related state laws. As discussed below, a separate consent decree was previously entered into with the EPA and the FDEP
with respect to RCRA compliance at the Plant City Facility that we acquired as part of our acquisition of the Florida
phosphate assets and assumption of certain related liabia lities of CF Industries, Inc. (“CF”).FF

The remaining monetary obligations under the 2015 Consent Decrees include a provision of additional finff ancial assurance forff
the estimated Gypstack Closure Costs for Gypstacks at the covered faciff lities. The RCRA Trusr ts are discussed in Note 12 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements. In addition, we have agreed to guarantee the differeff nce between the amounts held in
each RCRA Trusrr t (including any earnings) and the estimated closure and long-term care costs.

As of December 31, 2024 the undiscounted amount of our Gypstack Closure Costs ARO associated with the faciff lities
covered by the 2015 Consent Decrees, determined using the assumptions used for finff ancial reporting purposes, was
approximately $2.3 billion, and the present value of our Gypstack Closure Costs ARO refleff cted in our Consolidated Balance
Sheet for those facff ilities was approxia mately $1.1 billion.

Plant City and Bonnie FacFF ilities. As part of the CF Phosphate Assets Acquisition, we assumed certain AROs related to
Gypstack Closure Costs at both the Plant City Facility and a closed Florida phosphate concentrates facility in Bartow, Florida
(the “Bonnie FacFF ility”) that we acquired. Associated with these assets are two related finff ancial assurance arrangements forff
which we became responsible and that provided sources of fundsff for the estimated Gypstack Closure Costs for these
facilities. Pursuant to federal or state laws, the applicable government entities are permitted to draw against such amounts in
the event we cannot perform such closure activities. One of the finff ancial assurance arrangements was initially a trust (the
“Pl“ anll t CitCC y Ttt rustTT ”)t establa ished to meet the requirements under a consent decree with the EPA and the FDEP with respect to
RCRA compliance at the Plant City Facility. The Plant City Trusrr t also satisfied Florida finff ancial assurance requirements at
that site. Beginning in September 2016, as a substitute for the financial assurance provided through the Plant City Trusr t, we
have provided finff ancial assurance forff the Plant City Facility in the form of a surety bond (the “Pl“ anll t CityCC Bond”)dd . The
amount of the Plant City Bond is $327.1 million, which refleff cts our closure cost estimates as of December 31, 2024. The
other finff ancial assurance arrangement was also a trusr t fundff (the “Bonnie FacFF ility Trust”)t establa ished to meet the
requirements under Florida financial assurance regulations that apply to the Bonnie Facility. In July 2018, we received $21.0
million froff m the Bonnie Facility Trust by subsu titutt ing forff the trust fund a finff ancial test mechanism (“Bonnie FinFF ancial
Test”)t supporu ted by a corporate guarantee as allowed by state regulations. Both finff ancial assurance funding oblff igations
require estimates of futurff e expenditures that could be impacted by refinff ements in scope, technological developments, new
information, cost inflation, changes in regulations, discount rates and the timing of activities. Under our current approach to
satisfyingff applicable requirements, additional finff ancial assurance would be required in the future if increases in cost estimates
exceed the face aff mount of the Plant City Bond or the amount supporu ted by the Bonnie Financial Test.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the aggregate amounts of AROs associated with the combined Plant City Facility and
Bonnie Facility Gypstack Closure Costs included in our consolidated balance sheet were $368.7 million and $361.8 million,
respectively. The aggregate amount represented by the Plant City Bond exceeds the present value of the aggregate amount of
ARO associated with that facility. This is because the amount of financial assurance we are required to provide represents the
aggregate undiscounted estimated amount to be paid by us in the normal course of our Phosphates business over a period that
may not end until three decades or more after the Gypstack has been closed, whereas the ARO included in our Consolidated
Balance Sheet refleff cts the discounted present value of those estimated amounts.

15. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

We periodically enter into derivatives to mitigate our exposure to forff eign currency risks, interest rate movements and the
effeff cts of changing commodity prices. We record all derivatives on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at faiff r value. The fair
value of these instruments is determined by using quoted market prices, third-party comparables or internal estimates. We net
our derivative asset and liabia lity positions when we have a master netting arrangement in place. Changes in the fair value of
the forff eign currency, commodity and freff ight derivatives are immediately recognized in earnings. As of December 31, 2024
and 2023, the gross asset position of our derivative instrumr ents was $3.1 million and $36.4 million, respectively, and the
gross liabia lity position of our liabia lity instruments was $87.8 million and $17.2 million, respectively.
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We do not apply hedge accounting treatments to our foreign currency exchange contracts, commodities contracts or freff ight
contracts. Unrealized gains and (losses) on foreign currency exchange contracts used to hedge cash floff ws related to the
production of our products are included in cost of goods sold in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Unrealized gains
and (losses) on commodities contracts and certain forward freff ight agreements are also recorded in cost of goods sold in the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Unrealized gains or (losses) on foreign currency exchange contracts used to hedge cash
flows that are not related to the production of our products are included in the foreign currency transaction gain/(loss) capta ion
in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

From time to time, we enter into fixed-to-floating interest rate contracts. We apply faiff r value hedge accounting treatment to
these contracts. Under these arrangements we agree to exchange, at specified intervals, the differeff nce between fixed and
floating interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notu ional principal amount. The mark-to-market of these
fair value hedges is recorded as gains or (losses) in interest expense. We had no fixff ed-to-floating interest rate swap
agreements in effeff ct as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The folff lowing is the total absolute notional volume associated with our outstanding derivative instrumrr ents:
(in millions of Units)

Instrument Derivative Category Unit of Measure
December 31,

2024
December 31,

2023

Foreign currency derivatives Foreign Currency U.S. Dollars 1,377.3 2,418.7
Natural gas derivatives Commodity MM BTU 2.5 17.1

Credit-dd Ri- skii -Rkk elatll edtt Contintt gent Features

Certain of our derivative instrumrr ents contain provisions that are governed by International Swap aa nd Derivatives Association
agreements with the counterparr rties. These agreements contain provisions that allow us to settle for the net amount between
payments and receipts, and also state that if our debt were to be rated below investment grade, certain counterparr rties to the
derivative instruments could request full collateralization on derivative instrumrr ents in net liabia lity positions. The aggregate
fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent featurt es that were in a liabia lity position as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $58.1 million and $15.6 million, respectively. We have no cash collateral posted in
association with these contracts. If the credit-risk-related contingent featurt es underlying these agreements were triggered on
December 31, 2024 we would have been required to post an additional $54.9 million of collateral assets, which are either
cash or U.S. Treasury irr nstrumrr ents, to the counterpar rties.

Countertt parrr ty Creditdd Riskii

Financial instrumrr ents that may subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of derivatives, cash and cash
equivalents and accounts receivable. We enter into forff eign exchange, certain commodity and interest rate derivatives, and
place our cash and cash equivalents with a diversified group of highly rated counterpar rties. We have a diverse base of
customers to which we grant credit terms in the normal course of business which are designed to mitigate concentrations of
credit risk. We continually monitor our positions and the credit ratings of the counterpar rties involved and limit the amount of
credit exposure to any one party. We manage our exposure to counterpar rty credit risk through specific minimum credit
standards, establa ishing credit limits, diversification of counterparr rties, monitoring procedurd es and utilization of credit
insurance or cash collateral in certain circumstances. While we may be exposed to potential losses dued to the credit risk of
non-perforff mance by these counterpar rties, material losses are not anticipated. We closely monitor the credit risk associated
with our counterpar rties and customers and to date have not experienced material losses.

16. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Following is a summary of the valuation techniques forff assets and liabia lities recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Foreign Cgg urCC rency Dc erivatives–The forff eign currency derivative instrumrr ents that we currently use are forward contracts and
zero-cost collars, which typically expire within 18 months. Most of the valuations are adjusted by a forward yield curve or
interest rates. In such cases, these derivative contracts are classified within Level 2. Some valuations are based on exchange-
quoted prices, which are classified as Level 1. As of December 31, 2024, our foreign currency contracts were Level 2.
Changes in the fair market values of these contracts are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements as a component
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of cost of goods sold in our Corporate, Eliminations and Other segment or forff eign currency transaction gain (loss). As of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the gross asset position of our foreign currency derivative instrumr ents was $3.1 million and
$36.4 million, respectively, and the gross liabia lity position of our foreign currency derivative instrumr ents was $86.1 million
and $8.0 million, respectively and is included in Accrued Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Commodity Derivatives–The commodity contracts primarily relate to natural gas. The commodity derivative instrumr ents that
we currently use are forward purchase contracts, swaps and three-way collars. The natural gas contracts settle using NYMEX
futures or AECO price indexes, which represent fair value at any given time. The contracts’ maturities and settlements are
scheduled for futurff e months and settlements are scheduled to coincide with anticipated gas purchases during those futff uret
periods. Quoted market prices from NYMEX and AECO are used to determine the fair value of these instruments. These
market prices are adjusted by a forward yield curve and are classified within Level 2. Changes in the fair market values of
these contracts are recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements as a component of cost of goods sold in our
Corporate, Eliminations and Other segment. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the gross asset position of our commodity
derivative instruments was zero, and the gross liabia lity position of our commodity derivative instrumrr ents was $1.7 million
and $9.2 million, respectively.

Interest Rate Derivatives–We manage interest expense through interest rate contracts to convert a portion of our fixed-rate
debt into floating-rate debt. From time to time, we also enter into interest rate swap agreements to hedge our exposure to
changes in futurff e interest rates related to anticipated debt issuances. Valuations are based on external pricing sources and are
classified as Level 2. Changes in the fair market values of these contracts are recognized in the Consolidated Financial
Statements as a component of interest expense. We did not hold any interest rate derivative positions as of December 31,
2024 or 2023.

Financii ial InsII truments

The carrying amounts and estimated faiff r values of our financial instrumr ents are as folff lows:
December 31,

2024 2023
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(in millions) Amount Value Amount Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 272.8 $ 272.8 $ 348.8 $ 348.8
Accounts receivable 1,113.3 1,113.3 1,269.2 1,269.2
Equity securities 1,486.8 1,486.8 — —
Accounts payable 1,156.5 1,156.5 1,166.9 1,166.9
Structurt ed accounts payable arrangements 402.3 402.3 399.9 399.9
Short-term debt 847.1 847.1 399.7 399.7
Long-term debt, including current portion 3,377.6 3,324.1 3,361.7 3,364.1

For cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, net, accounts payable, strucr tured accounts payable arrangements and
short-term debt, the carrying amount approximates faiff r value because of the short-term maturity of those instrumrr ents. E iqui yty
secu iri ities represent our ’Ma daden hshares andd are ca irri ded at faiir vallu be b dased on hthe unadjusnadjustedd quot ded priice on thhe Sa diudi
Ex hchangge ((T dadaw lul)), hwhiichh res lul its in a L level 1 clla issififica ition. For mor ie infor imation on thhe ’Ma daden hshares, see No 9te of
our Notes to C lonsolididat ded iFinanciiall Statements. In lcl duded i ld in l gong-term d bdebt iis flfloa itingg rat de d bebt of $$570 illimillion. Our flfloa iti gng
rate d bdebt iis blnon-publiic and bd bears a va iri bablle SOFR bbasedd rate a dnd consiists f bof our borro iwings undengs under our term lloan fa icilili yty. Theh
fair value of our floating rate debt approxia mates the carrying value and is estimated based on market-based inputs including
interest rates and credit spreads, which results in a Level 2 classification. The faiff r value of fixed rate long-term debt,
including the current portion, is estimated using quoted market prices for the publicly registered notes and debentures,
classified as Level 1 and Level 2, respectively, within the faiff r value hierarchy, depending on the market liquidity of the debt.
For information regarding the faiff r value of our marketable securities held in trusts, see Note 12 of our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.
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17. GUARANTEES AND INDEMNITIES

We enter into various contracts that include indemnificff ation and guarantee provisions as a routine part of our business
activities. Examples of these contracts include asset purchase and sale agreements, surety bonds, finff ancial assurances to
regulatory arr gencies in connection with reclamation and closure obligations, commodity sale and purchase agreements and
other types of contractuat l agreements with vendors and other third parties. These agreements indemnify cff ounterpar rties forff
matters such as reclamation and closure obligations, tax liabia lities, environmental liabia lities, litigation and other matters, as
well as breaches by Mosaic of representations, warranties and covenants set forth in these agreements. In many cases, we are
essentially guaranteeing our own performance, in which case the guarantees do not fall within the scope of the accounting
and disclosures requirements under U.S. GAAP. Our maximum potential exposure under our indemnification arrangements
can range from a specified dollar amount to an unlimited amount, depending on the naturt e of the transaction. Many of the
guarantees and indemnities we issue to third parties do not limit the amount or duration of our obligations to perform under
them. For these guarantees and indemnities, we may not be able to estimate what our liabia lity would be until a claim is made
for payment or performance due to the contingent nature of these arrangements. Based on our current understanding of the
relevant facts, we do not believe that we will be required to make any material payments under these indemnity provisions.

18. PENSION PLANS AND OTHER BENEFITS

We sponsor pension and postretirement benefitsff through a variety of plans, including defined benefitff plans, defined
contribution plans and postretirement benefitff plans in North America and certain of our international locations. We reserve
the right to amend, modify or terminate the Mosaic sponsored plans at any time, subject to provisions of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERI“ SAII ”), prior agreements and our collective bargaining agreements.

Defie neii d Benefitff

During fiscal 2022, we terminated the definff ed benefit pension plan in the U.S, which was froff zen at the time of termination. In
connection with the plan termination, we settled all future obligations under the terminated plan through a combination of
lump-sum payments to eligible participants who elected to receive them through a lump-sum window, and the transfer of any
remaining benefitff obligations under the terminated plans to a third-party insurance company under a group annuity contract.
As a result of these actions, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax pension settlement charge of $41.9 million in our 2022
Consolidated Statements of Earnings in Other income (expense).

We sponsor various defined benefitff pension plans in Canada, which are closed to new participants. Benefitsff are based on
differenff t combinations of years of service and compensation levels, depending on the plan. Generally, contributions to
Canadian plans are made in accordance with the Pension Benefits Act instituted by the province of Saskatchewan. Certain
employees in Canada, whose pension benefits exceed Canada Revenue Agency limitations, are covered by supplementary
non-qualified, unfunded pension plans. During 2023, we terminated certain defined pension plans in Canada by transferring
remaining benefitff obligations for participants to a third-party insurance company under a group annuity contract. As a result
of these actions, we recognized a non-cash pre-tax settlement charge of $42.4 million in our 2023 Consolidated Statements of
Earnings in Other income (expense).

We sponsor various defined benefitff pension plans in Brazil, and we acquired multi-employer pension plans forff certain of our
Brazil associates. All our pension plans are governed by the Brazilian pension plans regulatory arr gency, National
Supeu rintendence of Supplementary Pensions. Our Brazil plans are not individually significant to the Company’s consolidated
financial statements after factoring in the multi-employer pension plan indemnification that we acquired through an
acquisition. We made contributions to these plans, net of indemnification, of $0.4 million and $0.1 million forff the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Accountintt g forff Pension PlaPP ns

The year-end statust of the North American pension plans was as folff lows:
Pension Plans

Years Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2024 2023

Change in projected benefitff obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of period $ 119.6 $ 294.3
Service cost 3.0 2.8
Interest cost 5.5 11.1
Actuarial loss 0.2 3.3
Currency fluff ctuat tions (9.4) 2.0
Benefits paid and transfers (4.3) (190.4)
Plan amendments — 5.8
Liability (gain)/loss due to curtailment/settlement — (9.3)
Projected benefitff obligation at end of period $ 114.6 $ 119.6

Change in plan assets:
Fair value at beginning of period $ 157.1 $ 329.0
Currency fluff ctuat tions (12.2) 2.9
Actual return 12.8 11.4
Company contribution (7.1) 4.2
Benefits paid and transfers (4.3) (190.4)
Fair value at end of period $ 146.3 $ 157.1

Funded status of the plans as of the end of period $ 31.7 $ 37.5
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

Noncurrent assets $ 37.4 $ 43.8
Current liabia lities (0.4) (0.5)
Noncurrent liabilities (5.3) (5.8)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (income) loss

Prior service cost $ 11.9 $ 15.1
Actuarial loss 14.8 20.0

The accumulated benefitff obligation forff the definff ed benefit pension plans was $114.6 million and $119.6 million as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In 2025, we expect the related plans to pay benefit payments of approxia mately
$3.4 million and to contribute cash of at least $0.8 million to the pension plans to meet minimum fundingff requirements.

Plan Assets and Investment Strategiesg

The Company’s overall investment strategy is to obtain suffiff cient returt n and provide adequate liquidity to meet the benefitff
obligations of our pension plans. The primary investment objective is to secure the promised pension benefits thff rough capia tal
preservation and appreciation to better manage the asset/liability gap aa nd interest rate risk. A secondary investment objective
is to most effeff ctively manage investment volatility to reduce the variability of the Company’s required contributions. A
significant amount of the assets are invested in funds that are managed by Mosaic’s investment advisor and reviewed by
Mosaic management. Plan assets are primarily valued based on external pricing sources and are classified as Level 2. We do
not have significant concentrations of credit risk or industry srr ectors within the plan assets. Fair value measurements of plan
assets was $146.3 million at December 31, 2024 and was invested approximately 75% in fixed income securities, 20% in
equity securities, and 5% in other investment funds and cash.
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Defie neii d ConCC tributiott n PlaPP ns

Eligible salaried and non-union hourly employees in the U.S. participate in a defined contribution investment plan which
permits employees to defer a portion of their compensation through payroll deducd tions and provides matching contributions.
We match 100% of the firff st 3% of the participant’s contributed pay plus 50% of the next 3% of the participant’s contributed
pay, subju ect to Internal Revenue Service limits. Participant contributions, matching contributions and the related earnings
immediately vest. Mosaic also provides an annual non-elective employer contribution featff urt e forff eligible salaried and non-
union hourly employees based on the employee’s age and eligible pay. Participants are generally vested in the non-elective
employer contributions afteff r three years of service. In addition, a discretionary featurt e of the plan allows the Company to
make additional contributions to employees. Certain union employees participate in a defined contribution retirement plan
based on collective bargaining agreements.

Canadian salaried and non-union hourly employees participate in an employer fundeff d plan with employer contributions
similar to the U.S. plan. The plan provides a profitff sharing component which is paid each year. We also sponsor one
mandatory union plan in Canada. Benefits in thff ese plans vest afteff r two years of consecutive service.

The expense attributable to defined contribution plans in the U.S. and Canada was $60.8 million, $61.7 million and $55.7
million for 2024, 2023ff and 2022, respectively.

Postretireii ment Medical Benefitff Plansll

We provide certain health care benefitff plans forff certain retired employees (“Re“ tireii e HeaHH lth Plansll ”) which may be either
contributory orr r non-contributory arr nd contain certain other cost-sharing featff urt es such as deductibles and coinsurance.

The North American Retiree Health Plans are unfunded and the projeo cted benefit obligation was $20.6 million and $22.8
million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. This liabia lity should continue to decrease dued to our limited
exposure. The related income statement effects of the Retiree Health Plans are not material to the Company. We anticipate
contributing cash of at least $1.9 million in 2025 to the postretirement medical benefit plans to fund anticipated benefit
payments.

The year-end statust of the Brazil postretirement medical benefit plans with a discount rate of 9.95% and 10.40% on each of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively was as follows:

stretirement Medical Benefits
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023
Change in accumulated postretirement benefitff obligation (“APBO“ ”):

APBO at beginning of year $ 74.4 $ 59.1
Service cost — 0.1
Interest cost 7.4 6.2
Actuarial (gain) loss (11.2) 4.8
Currency fluff ctuat tions (15.2) 5.4
Benefits paid (1.1) (1.2)
APBO at end of year $ 54.3 $ 74.4

Change in plan assets:
Company contribution $ 1.1 $ 1.2
Benefits paid (1.1) (1.2)

Unfunded status of the plans as of the end of the year $ (54.3) $ (74.4)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

Current liabia lities $ (1.4) $ (1.1)
Noncurrent liabilities (52.9) (73.3)

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income
Prior service credit $ (8.8) $ (13.2)
Actuarial (gain) loss $ (0.6) $ 11.9
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19. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (“AOCI“ ”II )

The folff lowing tabla e sets forff th the changes in AOCI by component during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022:

(in millions)

Foreign
Currency
Translation
Gain (Loss)

Net
Actuarial
Gain and

Prior Service
Cost

Amortization
of Gain on
Interest Rate

Swap

Net Gain
(Loss) on
Marketable
Securities Held
in Trust Total

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ (1,825.5) $ (72.8) $ 5.2 $ 1.3 (1,891.8)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (261.1) 28.6 2.0 (32.4) (262.9)
Tax (expense) or benefit 6.1 (8.9) (0.5) 7.6 4.3
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (255.0) 19.7 1.5 (24.8) (258.6)
Less: (Gain) Loss attributable to noncontrolling
interest (1.8) — — — (1.8)
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ (2,082.3) $ (53.1) $ 6.7 $ (23.5) $ (2,152.2)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 152.0 31.1 1.8 30.6 215.5
Tax (expense) or benefit 2.1 (11.0) (0.4) (6.9) (16.2)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 154.1 20.1 1.4 23.7 199.3
Less: (Gain) Loss attributable to noncontrolling
interest (2.0) — — — (2.0)
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ (1,930.2) $ (33.0) $ 8.1 $ 0.2 $ (1,954.9)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (478.6) 16.8 (0.1) (19.6) (481.5)
Tax (expense) or benefit (17.0) (5.9) — 4.8 (18.1)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (495.6) 10.9 (0.1) (14.8) (499.6)
Less: (Gain) Loss attributable to noncontrolling
interest 5.5 — — — 5.5
Balance at December 31, 2024 $ (2,420.3) $ (22.1) $ 8.0 $ (14.6) $ (2,449.0)
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20. SHARE REPURCHASES

In 2022, our Board of Directors approved two share repurchase programs forff a total of $3.0 billion. Our repurchase programs
allow the Company to repurchase shares of our Common Stock through open market purchases, accelerated share repurchase
arrangements, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise and have no set expiration date.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 7,944,507 shares of Common Stock in the open market forff
approximately $235.4 million at an average purchase price per share of $29.63.

On February 24, 2023, pursuant to existing stock repurchase authorizations, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase
agreement (the “2023 ASR ASS greement”)t with a third-party financial institution to repurchase $300 million of our Common
Stock. At inception, we paid the finff ancial institution $300 million and took initial delivery orr f 4,659,290 shares of our
Common Stock, representing an estimated 80% of the total shares expected to be delivered under the 2023 ASR Agreement.
In March 2023, the transaction was completed and we received an additional 965,284 shares of Common Stock. In total,
5,624,574 shares were delivered under the 2023 ASR Agreement, at an average purchase price of $53.34 per share.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we repurchased 16,879,059 shares of Common Stock in the open market forff
approximately $748.0 million, at an average purchase price per share of $44.31. This includes the 5,624,574 shares purchased
under the 2023 ASR Agreement.

The extent to which we repurchase our shares and the timing of any such repurchases depend on a number of factff ors,
including market and business conditions, the price of our shares, our ability to access capital resources, our liquidity and
corporate, regulatory arr nd other considerations.

21. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Mosaic Company 2023 Stock and Incentive Plan (the “2023 Stoctt k and Incentive PlanPP ”) was approvea d by our
stockholders and became effective on May 25, 2023. It permits up to 18 mu illion shares of common stock to be issued under
share-based awards granted under this plan. The 2023 Stock and Incentive Plan provides for grff ants of stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, performance units and a variety of other share-based and non-share-based awards. Our
employees, officff ers, directors, consultants, agents, advisors and independent contractors, as well as other designated
individuals, are eligible to participate in the 2023 Stock and Incentive Plan.

The Mosaic Company 2014 Stock and Incentive Plan (the “2014 Stoctt k and Incentive PlanPP ”) was approvea d by our
stockholders and became effective on May 15, 2014. It permits up tu o 25 million shares of common stock to be issued under
share-based awards granted under this plan. The 2014 Stock and Incentive Plan provides for grff ants of stock options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, performance units and a variety of other share-based and non-share-based awards. Our
employees, officff ers, directors, consultants, agents, advisors and independent contractors, as well as other designated
individuals, are eligible to participate in the 2014 Stock and Incentive Plan.

The Mosaic Company 2004 Omnibus Stock and Incentive Plan (the “Omnibui s PlanPP ”), which was approvea d by our
stockholders and became effective in 2004 and subsequently amended, provided forff the grant of shares and share options to
employees for up to 25 mu illion shares of common stock. While awards may no longer be made under the Omnibus Plan, it
will remain in effeff ct with respect to the awards that had been granted thereunder prior to its termination.

Mosaic settles stock option exercises, restricted stock units and certain performance units and performance shares with newly
issued common shares. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors administers these plans subju ect to their
respective provisions and appla icable law.

Stoctt k OptOO iott ns

Stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant and have a ten-year
contractuat l term. The faiff r value of each option award is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model. Stock options generally vest in equal annual installments in the first three years folff lowing the date of grant
(graded vesting). Stock options are expensed on a straight-line basis over the required service period, based on the estimated
fair value of the award on the date of grant, net of estimated forff feitures.

70



Valuation Assumptionsp

Assumptions used to calculate the fair value of stock options awarded in 2017 are noted in the folff lowing tabla e. There were no
stock options granted or issued in 2024, 2023 or 2022. Expected volatility is based on the simple average of implied and
historical volatility using the daily closing prices of the Company’s stock for a period equal to the expected term of the
option. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rrr ate at the time of the grant for instrumr ents of comparable life.ff

Year Ended
December 31, 2017

Weighted average assumptions used in option valuations:
Expected volatility 35.35 %
Expected dividend yield 1.97 %
Expected term (in years) 7
Risk-free interest rate 2.34 %

A summary of the status of our stock options as of December 31, 2024, and activity during 2024, is as follows:

Shares
(in millions)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 0.6 $ 34.46
Granted — —
Exercised — $ —
Cancelled or forff feited (0.1) $ 49.73

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 0.5 $ 32.68 1.44 $ —
Exercisabla e as of December 31, 2024 0.5 $ 32.68 1.44 $ —

Restricted Stoctt k UniUU tsii

Restricted stock units are issued to various employees, officff ers and directors at a value equal to the market price of our stock
at the date of grant. The fair value of restricted stock units is equal to the market price of our stock at the date of grant.
Restricted stock units generally cliff vff est after three years of continuous service and are expensed on a straight-line basis over
the required service period, based on the estimated grant date fair value, net of estimated forff feitures.

A summary of the status of our restricted stock units as of December 31, 2024, and activity during 2024, is as follows:

Shares
(in millions)

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value Per Share

Restricted stock units as of December 31, 2023 1.5 $ 42.70
Granted 0.8 30.99
Issued and cancelled or forff feited (0.7) $ 31.63

Restricted stock units as of December 31, 2024 1.6 $ 41.61

Perforff marr nce UniUU tsii

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, 496,367, 1,206,263 and 540,915 total stockholder returnt
(“TSR”) performance units were granted, respectively. Final performance units are awarded based on the increase or
decrease, subju ect to certain limitations, in Mosaic’s share price froff m the grant date to the third anniversary orr f the award, plus
dividends (a measure of total stockholder returt n or TSR). The beginning and ending stock prices are based on a 30 trading-
day average stock price. Holders of the awards must be employed at the end of the performance period in order forff any units
to vest, except in the event of death, disabia lity or retirement at or afteff r age 60, certain changes in control or the exercise of
Committee or Board discretion as provided in the related award agreements.
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The faiff r value of each TSR performance unit is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. This valuation methodology
utilizes assumptions consistent with those of our other share-based awards and a range of ending stock prices; however, the
expected term of the awards is three years, which impacts the assumptions used to calculate the faiff r value of performance
units as shown in the tabla e below. 241,189, 354,500 and 195,755 of the TSR performance awards issued in 2024, 2023 and
2022, respectively, are to be settled in cash, and are thereforff e accounted for as a liabia lity with changes in value recorded
through earnings during the service period. The remaining TSR performance units issued in 2024, 2023 and 2022 are
considered equity-classified fixed awards measured at grant-date fair value and not subsu equently re-measured. All of the TSR
performance units cliff vff est after three years of continuous service and are expensed on a straight-line basis over the required
service period, based on the estimated grant date fair value of the award net of estimated forff feitures.

A summary of the assumptions used to estimate the faiff r value of TSR performance units is as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Performance units granted 1,206,283496,367 540,915
Average faiff r value of performance units on grant date $ 31.02 $ 50.56 $ 55.08
Weighted average assumptions used in performance unit valuations:

Expected volatility 40.95 % 48.33 % 54.77 %
Expected dividend yield 2.59 % 1.52 % 0.81 %
Expected term (in years) 3 3 3
Risk-free interest rate 4.48 4% .52 1% .68 %

A summary of our performance unit activity during 2024 is as follows:

Shares
(in millions)

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value Per Share

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 1.3 $ 39.86
Granted 0.5 31.02
Issued and cancelled or forff feited (0.7) $ 27.35

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 1.1 $ 44.15

The outstanding performance units as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 include 463,410 and 500,393 cash-settled performance
units, respectively.

Share-Based Compensation Expexx nse

We recorded share-based compensation expense of $20.2 million, $37.8 million and $61.1 million for 2024, 2023ff and 2022,
respectively. The tax benefit related to share exercises and lapses in the year was $1.0 million, $9.0 million and $7.5 million
for 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, there was $15.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to options, restricted stock
units and performance units and shares granted under the 2014 Stock and Incentive Plan and the Omnibus Plan. The
unrecognized compensation cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of one year. No options vested
in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

We received $16.0 million froff m exercises of share-based payment arrangements for 2022.ff There was no cash received fromff
exercises of share-based payment arrangements forff 2024 and 2023. We incurred a tax benefitff for tax deductions from options
of $4.1 million, $7.9 million and $13.4 million in 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

22. COMMITMENTS

We lease certain plants, warehouses, terminals, offiff ce facilities, railcars and various types of equipment under operating
leases, some of which include rent payment escalation clauses, with lease terms ranging from one to 43 years. In addition to
minimum lease payments, some of our offiff ce facility leases require payment of our proportionate share of real estate taxes
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and building operating expenses. Our future obligations under these leases are included in Note 4 of our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We also have purchase obligations to purchase goods and services, primarily for raw materials used in products sold to
customers. In 2013, we entered into an ammonia supply agreement with CF that commenced in 2017, under which Mosaic
agreed to purchase approxia mately 545,000 to 725,000 tonnes of ammonia per year at a price tied to the prevailing price of
U.S. natural gas. This agreement ended effective January 1, 2025.

We have long-term agreements for the purchase of sulfur, which is used in the production of phosphoric acid, and naturt al gas,
which is a significant raw material used primarily in the solution mining process in our Potash segment as well as in our
phosphate concentrates plants.

A scheduld e of futurff e minimum long-term purchase commitments, based on expected market prices as of December 31, 2024
is as follows:

(in millions)
Purchase

Commitments

2025 $ 2,842.1
2026 1,955.6
2027 1,570.1
2028 357.9
2029 167.8
Subsu equent years 37.1

$ 6,930.6

Purchases made under long-term commitments were $2.1 billion in 2024, $3.0 billion in 2023 and $4.6 billion in 2022.

Most of our export sales of potash crop nutrients are marketed through a North American export association, Canpotex,
which may fund its operations in part through third-party finff ancing facilities. As a member, Mosaic or our subsu idiaries are
contractuat lly obligated to reimburse Canpotex for their pro rata share of any operating expenses or other liabia lities incurred.
The reimbursements are made through reductions to members’ cash receipts froff m Canpotex.

We incur liabia lities for reclamation activities and Gypstack closures in our Florida and Louisiana operations where, in order
to obtain necessary permits, we must either pass a test of finff ancial strength or provide credit supporu t, typically in the forff m of
cash deposits, surety bonds or letters of credit. The surety bonds generally expire within one year or less but a substantial
portion of these instruments provide financial assurance forff continuing obligations and therefore, in most cases, must be
renewed on an annual basis. As of December 31, 2024 we had $793.7 million in surety bonds outstanding, of which $411.8
million is forff reclamation obligations primarily related to mining in Florida. In addition, included in the total amount is
$327.1 million, reflecting our updated closure cost estimates, delivered to the EPA as a substitute for the financial assurance
provided through the Plant City Trusrr t. The remaining balance in surety bonds outstanding of $54.8 million is for otherff
matters.

23. CONTINGENCIES

We have described below the material judicial and administrative proceedings to which we are subju ect.

Enviroii nmental MatMM tett rs

We have contingent environmental liabia lities that arise principally from three sources: (i) facilities currently or formerly
owned by our subsu idiaries or their predecessors; (ii) faciff lities adjad cent to currently or formerly owned faciff lities; and
(iii) third-party Supeu rfund or state equivalent sites. At facilities currently or formerly owned by our subsu idiaries or their
predecessors, the historical use and handling of regulated chemical subsu tances, crop and animal nutrients and additives and
by-product or process tailings have resulted in soil, surfacff e water and/or groundwater contamination. Spills or other releases
of regulated subsu tances, subsidence from mining operations and other incidents arising out of operations, including accidents,
have occurred previously at these faciff lities and potentially could occur in the future, possibly requiring us to undertake or
fund cleanup or result in monetary damage awards, finff es, penalties, other liabia lities, injunctions or other court or
administrative rulr ings. In some instances, pursuant to consent orders or agreements with governmental agencies, we are
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undertaking certain remedial actions or investigations to determine whether remedial action may be required to address
contamination. At other locations, we have entered into consent orders or agreements with appropriate governmental agencies
to perform required remedial activities that will address identifieff d site conditions. Taking into consideration established
reserves of approximately $197.5 million and $203.2 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, of which
$90.8 million and $148.9 million are included in Accrued Liabilities and $106.7 million and $54.3 million in Other Non
Current Liabia lities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, expenditures forff
these known conditions currently are not expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on our business
or financial condition. However, material expenditures could be required in the future to remediate the contamination at
known sites or at other current or former sites or as a result of other environmental, health and safety matters. Below is a
discussion of certain environmental matters.

New WalWW es Phase II EII ast StaSS ck. In April 2022 we confirff med the presence of a cavity in and liner tear beneath the southern
part of the active phosphogypsum stack at the Company’s New Wales faciff lity in Florida. This resulted in process water
draining beneath the stack. The circumstances were reported to the FDEP and the EPA. Phase I of the repairs, consisting of
stabilizing the cavity by depositing low pressure grout into it, began in July 2022 and now is complete. Phase II work, which
consists of injecting high pressure grout beneath the stack to restore the geological confininff g layer beneath it, began in early
in 2023 and the work is now complete.

As of December 31, 2024 we have a reserve of $14.7 million, included in the above amount, forff the estimated repairs. We are
unable to estimate at this time potential futurff e additional finff ancial impacts or a range of loss, if any, due to the ongoing
evaluation.

New WalWW es Phase II WII esWW t StaSS ck. In October 2023 we observed a series of seismic acoustic emissions and changes to
piezometric water levels in a part of the Phase II West phosphogypsum stack at the New Wales, Florida facility. These
observations may be an indication of a breach in the stack liner system and were reported to the FDEP and EPA. We have
begun repairs: stabilization grouting is now complete and high-pressure grouting began in October 2024. The area of the
stack is not in use forff either process water storage or additional gypsum placement. It lies within a zone of capture of a
recovery groundwater well which is operating as intended. No offsff ite impacts are known or expected.

As of December 31, 2024 we have a reserve of $81.5 million, included in the above establa ished reserves, for estimated
repairs. We are unable to estimate at this time potential future additional finff ancial impacts or a range of loss, if any, due to the
ongoing evaluation.

EPA RCRACC Initiative.We have certain finff ancial assurance and other obligations under consent decrees and a separate
financial assurance arrangement relating to our facilities in Florida and Louisiana. These obligations are discussed in Note 14
of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Othett r EnvEE ironmental MatMM ters. Supeu rfund and equivalent state statutes impose liabia lity without regard to fault or to the
legality of a party’s conduct on certain categories of persons who are considered to have contributed to the release of
“hazardous subsu tances” into the environment. Under Superfund, or its various state analogues, one party may, under certain
circumstances, be required to bear more than its proportionate share of cleanup costs at a site where it has liabia lity if
payments cannot be obtained froff m other responsible parties. Currently, certain of our subsu idiaries are involved or concluding
involvement at several Superfund or equivalent state sites. Our remedial liabia lity from these sites, alone or in the aggregate,
currently is not expected to have a material effect on our business or finff ancial condition. As more information is obtained
regarding these sites and the potentially responsible parties involved, this expectation could change.

We believe that, pursuant to several indemnification agreements, our subsu idiaries are entitled to at least partial, and in many
instances complete, indemnificff ation forff the costs that may be expended by us or our subsu idiaries to remedy environmental
issues at certain facff ilities. These agreements address issues that resulted froff m activities occurring prior to our acquisition of
facilities or businesses froff m parties including, but not limited to: ARCO (BP); Beatrice Fund for Environmental Liabia lities;
Conoco; Conserv; Estech, Inc.; Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corporation; Kerr-McGee Inc.; PPG Industries, Inc.; The
Williams Companies; CF; and certain other private parties. Our subsidiaries have already received and anticipate receiving
amounts pursuant to the indemnification agreements for certain of their expenses incurred to date as well as futurff e anticipated
expenditures. We record potential indemnifications as an offsff et to the established accruar ls when they are realizable or
realized. The failure of an indemnitor to fulff fill its obligations could result in futurff e costs that could be material.
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Brazil Legale Contintt gencies

Our Brazilian subsidiaries are engaged in a number of judicial and administrative proceedings regarding labor,
environmental, mining and civil claims that allege aggregate damages and/or fines of approxia mately $559.2 million. We
estimate that our probable aggregate loss with respect to these claims is approximately $79.3 million, which is included in our
accruer d liabia lities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024. Approximately $377.1 million of the maximum
potential loss abovea relates to labor claims, of which approximately $62.0 million is included in accruerr d liabia lities in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024.

Based on Brazil legislation and the current status oft similar labora cases involving unrelated companies, we believe we have
recorded adequate loss contingency reserves suffiff cient to cover our estimate of probable losses. If the status of similar cases
involving unrelated companies were to adversely change in the futurff e, our maximum exposure could increase and additional
accruar ls could be required.

Brazil Tax Caa onCC tingii encies

Our Brazilian subsidiaries are engaged in a number of judicial and administrative proceedings relating to various non-income
tax matters. We estimate that our maximum potential liability with respect to these matters is approximately $601.8 million,
of which $204.0 million is subject to an indemnificff ation agreement entered into with Vale S.A in connection with an
acquisition.

Approximately $311.9 million of the maximum potential liability relates to a Brazilian federalff value added tax, PIS and
COFINS, and tax credit cases, while the majority of the remaining amount relates to various other non-income tax cases. The
maximum potential liabia lity can increase with new audits from Brazilian tax authorities. Based on Brazil tax legislation and
the current status oft similar tax cases involving unrelated taxpayers, we believe we have recorded adequate loss contingency
reserves sufficieff nt to cover our estimate of probable losses, which are immaterial. If the status oft similar tax cases involving
unrelated taxpayer changes in the future, additional accruar ls could be required.

Othett r ClaimsCC

We also have certain other contingent liabia lities with respect to judicial, administrative and arbir tration proceedings and claims
of third parties, including tax matters, arising in the ordinary crr ourse of business. We do not believe that any of these
contingent liabilities will have a material adverse impact on our business or finff ancial condition, results of operations, and
cash floff ws.

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We enter into transactions and agreements with certain of our non-consolidated companies and other related parties froff m time
to time. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had amounts included in Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable on our
Consolidated Balances due to our non-consolidated companies of which the net amount totaled $46.5 million and $0.8
million, respectively.

The Consolidated Statements of Earnings included the following transactions with our non-consolidated companies:
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Transactions with non-consolidated companies included in net sales $ 931.0 $ 1,321.0 $ 3,015.3
Transactions with non-consolidated companies included in cost of goods sold $ 1,082.7 $ 1,465.2 $ 3,245.2

As part of the MWSPC joint venture which was in place through December 24, 2024, we marketed approximately 25% of the
MWSPC production for which approximately $18.4 million, $17.5 million and $23.1 million is included in revenue for the
years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

25. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The reportabla e segments are determined by management based uponu factors such as products and services, production
processes, technologies, market dynamics and for which segment finff ancial information is availabla e for ourff chief operating
decision maker. Our chief operating decision maker is our chief executive officer.
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For a description of our business segments, see Note 1 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The accounting
policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. We evaluate
performance based on the gross margin and operating earnings of the respective business segments, which includes certain
allocations of corporate selling, general and administrative expenses. The segment results may not represent the actual results
that would be expected if they were independent, stand-alone businesses. Intersegment eliminations, including profitff on
intersegment sales, mark-to-market gains/losses on derivatives, debt expenses and the results of the China and India
distribution business are included within Corporate, Eliminations and Other. Certain selling, general and administrative costs
that are not controllabla e by the business segments are included within Corporate, Eliminations and Other.

For the Phosphates, Potash and Mosaic Fertilizantes segments, the chief operating decision maker uses both segment gross
margin and operating earnings to allocate resources to each segment, predominantly in the annual budget and forecasting
process. The chief operating decision maker considers forff ecast-to-actuat l variances on a monthly basis for both profit
measures when making decisions about allocating capital and personnel to the segments. The chief operating decision maker
also uses segment gross margin for evaluating product pricing and segment profitff or loss from operations to assess the
performance for each segment by comparing the results and return on assets of each segment with one another.

Segment information for the years 2024, 2023 and 2022 is as follows:

(in millions) Phosphates Potash
Mosaic

Fertilizantes

Corporate,
Eliminations
and Other (a) Total

Year Ended December 31, 2024
Net sales to external customers $ 3,793.3 $ 2,371.0 $ 4,422.3 $ 536.2 $ 11,122.8
Intersegment net sales 725.5 17.7 — (743.2) —
Net sales 4,518.8 2,388.7 4,422.3 (207.0) 11,122.8
Cost of goods sold(b) 3,924.8 1,745.5 4,015.7 (75.1) 9,610.9
Gross margin 594.0 643.2 406.6 (131.9) 1,511.9
Canadian resource taxes — 232.2 — — 232.2
Gross margin (excluding Canadian resource taxes) 594.0 875.4 406.6 (131.9) 1,744.1
Selling, general and administrative(c) 45.3 31.1 134.7 285.8 496.9
Other operating expenses(d) 323.7 7.7 34.2 27.9 393.5
Operating earnings 225.1 604.5 237.6 (445.7) 621.5
Gain on sale of equity method investment 522.2 — — — 522.2
Capia tal expenditures 660.7 297.5 242.8 50.8 1,251.8
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense 505.6 336.5 159.3 24.1 1,025.5
Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies 70.9 — — 2.4 73.3
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Net sales to external customers $ 3,894.5 $ 3,203.1 $ 5,684.7 $ 913.8 $ 13,696.1
Intersegment net sales 829.8 30.5 — (860.3) —
Net sales 4,724.3 3,233.6 5,684.7 53.5 13,696.1
Cost of goods sold(b) 4,022.2 2,018.6 5,473.1 (28.4) 11,485.5
Gross margin 702.1 1,215.0 211.6 81.9 2,210.6
Canadian resource taxes — 403.4 — — 403.4
Gross margin (excluding Canadian resource taxes) 702.1 1,618.4 211.6 81.9 2,614.0
Selling, general and administrative(c) 42.0 30.0 110.1 318.4 500.5
Other operating expenses(d) 284.3 33.5 27.0 27.2 372.0
Operating earnings 375.7 1,151.5 74.5 (263.6) 1,338.1
Capia tal expenditures 625.9 357.4 336.3 82.8 1,402.4
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense 485.7 299.0 165.5 10.4 960.6
Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies 56.4 — — 3.9 60.3
Year Ended December 31, 2022
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Net sales to external customers $ 4,546.4 $ 5,122.8 $ 8,287.2 $ 1,168.8 $ 19,125.2
Intersegment net sales 1,637.8 85.7 — (1,723.5) —
Net sales 6,184.2 5,208.5 8,287.2 (554.7) 19,125.2
Cost of goods sold(b) 4,425.2 2,365.5 7,241.6 (662.9) 13,369.4
Gross margin 1,759.0 2,843.0 1,045.6 108.2 5,755.8
Canadian resource taxes — 927.9 — — 927.9
Gross margin (excluding Canadian resource taxes) 1,759.0 3,770.9 1,045.6 108.2 6,683.7
Selling, general and administrative(c) 40.7 30.3 101.9 325.1 498.0
Other operating expenses(d) 371.1 45.1 33.3 23.0 472.5
Operating earnings 1,347.2 2,767.7 910.4 (240.0) 4,785.3
Capia tal expenditures 631.8 281.6 306.4 27.5 1,247.3
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense 485.1 307.3 125.5 16.0 933.9
Equity in net earnings of nonconsolidated companies 192.4 — — 3.6 196.0
Total assets as of December 31, 2024 $ 12,806.2 $ 7,762.8 $ 4,266.9 $ (1,911.9) $ 22,924.0
Total assets as of December 31, 2023 10,295.9 8,971.9 5,256.3 (1,491.3) 23,032.8
Total assets as of December 31, 2022 9,570.5 9,582.2 5,562.7 (1,329.4) 23,386.0

______________________________
(a) The “Corporate, Eliminations and Other” category irr ncludes the results of our ancillary distribution operations in India and China. For

the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, distribution operations in India and China had revenues of $519.6 million, $898.9
million and $1.1 billion, respectively, and gross margins of $39.7 million, $(16.8) million and $130.9 million, respectively. These
operations do not meet the quantitative thresholds for determining reportable segments.

(b) The primary components of cost of goods sold are raw material purchases, including sulfurff and ammonia, conversion costs and
transportation costs.

(c) Selling, general and administrative expenses include nonmanufactff urt ing payroll expense and profesff sional services expense.
(d) Other operating expenses typically relate to five major categories: (1) AROs, (2) environmental and legal reserves, (3) idle facff ility

costs, (4) insurance reimbursements, and (5) gain/loss on sale or disposal of fixed assets.
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Financial information relating to our operations by geographic area is as folff lows:
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022

Net sales(a):
Brazil $ 4,296.2 $ 5,480.9 $ 8,045.5
Canpotex(b) 884.3 1,275.7 2,961.6
China 536.9 556.1 648.2
Canada 520.1 411.6 966.0
Paraguay 178.5 222.8 227.1
Argentina 141.8 75.2 224.6
Japana 130.8 157.7 162.0
Colombia 118.7 103.2 125.9
India 72.8 350.8 512.5
Australia 57.9 69.0 101.6
Peru 49.2 77.5 70.2
Mexico 42.2 125.5 165.5
Honduras 25.7 30.0 31.2
Dominican Republic 14.7 16.7 34.1
Thailand 6.0 8.4 6.3
Other 76.3 55.9 100.8

Total international countries 7,152.1 9,017.0 14,383.1
United States 3,970.7 4,679.1 4,742.1
Consolidated $ 11,122.8 $ 13,696.1 $ 19,125.2

______________________________
(a) Revenues are attributed to countries based on location of customer.
(b) Canpotex sales to the ultimate third-party customers are made to customers in various countries. The countries with the largest portion

of third-party customer sales are Brazil, China, India, and Indonesia.

December 31,
(in millions) 2024 2023

Long-lived assets:
Canada $ 5,390.5 $ 4,876.1
Brazil 2,012.8 2,467.8
Other 545.8 1,521.3

Total international countries 7,949.1 8,865.2
United States 8,457.2 7,204.8
Consolidated $ 16,406.3 $ 16,070.0

Excluded froff m the tabla e abovea as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, are goodwill of $1,061.1 million and $1,138.6 million and
deferred income tax assets of $958.3 million and $1,079.2 million, respectively.
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Net sales by product type for the years 2024, 2023 and 2022 are as folff lows:
Years Ended December 31,

(in millions) 2024 2023 2022
Sales by product type:tt

Phosphate Crop Nutrients $ 2,978.7 $ 3,277.5 $ 4,465.0
Potash Crop Nutrients 2,808.6 4,107.7 6,484.1
Crop Nutrient Blends 1,253.4 2,107.4 2,970.0
Performance Products(a) 2,264.2 2,453.3 3,025.8
Phosphate Rock 217.2 125.9 125.9
Other(b) 1,600.7 1,624.3 2,054.4

$ 11,122.8 $ 13,696.1 $ 19,125.2

______________________________
(a) Includes sales of MicroEssentials®, K-Mag® and Aspire®.
(b) Includes sales of industrial potash, feed products, nitrogen and other products.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effeff ctive internal control over finff ancial
reporting, as defined in RulRR e 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control system is
a process designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management, Board of Directors and stockholders regarding the
reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of our consolidated financial statements forff external
reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and includes those policies and procedurd es that:

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faiff rly refleff ct the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finff ancial
statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with authorizations from our management and Board of Directors; and

• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effeff ct on the finff ancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over finff ancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to futurff e periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effeff ctiveness of the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024.
In assessing the effectiveness of our internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024 management used the
control criteria fraff mework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission published in
its report entitled Internal Controt l—In— tegrate ed Framework (rr 2013).(( Based on their evaluation, management concluded that the
Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024. KPMG LLP, the independent
registered public accounting firff m that audited the financial statements included in this Form 10-K, has issued an auditors'
report on the Company’s internal control over finff ancial reporting as of December 31, 2024.
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Safe Harbor
Certain statements in this report that are neither reported financials nor other
historical inforff mation are forff ward-looking statements. Such forff ward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results and Mosaic’s plans and objeb ctives to
differffff materially from those expressed in the forff ward-looking statements. Additional
inforff mation about such risks and uncertainties is set forff th in our reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Shareholder Return Inforff mation
The folff lowing perforff mance graph compares the cumulative total return on our
common stock for a period beginning December 31, 2019, with the cumulative
total return of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, the Standard & Poor’s
Materials Index and a peer group of companies selected by us. Our 2024 peer
group is comprised of Nutrien Ltd., CF Industries Holdings Inc., ICL Group, Ltd., K+S
Aktiengesellschaft aff nd Yara International ASA. Our stock price perforff mance differffff s
from that of our peer group during some periods due to differffff ences in the market
segments in which we compete or in the level of our participation in such segments
compared to other members of the peer group. In accordance with Standard & Poor’s
policies, companies with less than a majority of their stock publicly traded are not
included in the S&P 500 Index. The comparisons set forff th below assume an initial
investment of $100 and reinvestment of dividends or distributions.

Shareholder Information

COMPARPP ISONOF 5-YE- AR CUMULATIAA VE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG THEMOSAIC COMPANPP Y, S&P 500 AND PEER GROUP INDEX
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*$100 invested on 12/31/18 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.
© 2024 Standard & Poor’s, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved.
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Mosaic’s 10-K Report, filed
in March 2025 with the
Securities and Exchange
Commission, is available to
shareholders and interested
parties without charge by
contacting Joan Tong.
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